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(1) 

SOLYNDRA AND THE DOE LOAN GUARANTEE 
PROGRAM 

WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2011 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, 
SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT AND INVESTIGATIONS, 

COMMITTEE ON ENERGY AND COMMERCE, 
Washington, DC. 

The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 9:35 a.m., in room 
2123 of the Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Cliff Stearns 
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding. 

Members present: Representatives Stearns, Terry, Sullivan, Mur-
phy, Burgess, Blackburn, Myrick, Bilbray, Gingrey, Scalise, Gard-
ner, Griffith, Barton, Upton (ex officio), Pompeo, DeGette, 
Schakowsky, Markey, Green, Christensen, Dingell, and Waxman 
(ex officio). 

Staff present: Carl Anderson, Counsel, Oversight; Gary Andres, 
Staff Director; Sean Bonyun, Deputy Communications Director; 
Karen Christian, Deputy Chief Counsel, Oversight/Investigations; 
Todd Harrison, Chief Counsel, Oversight/Investigations; Carly 
McWilliams, Legislative Clerk; Andrew Powaleny, Deputy Press 
Secretary; Krista Rosenthall, Counsel to Chairman Emeritus; Alan 
Slobodin, Deputy Chief Counsel, Oversight; John Stone, Counsel, 
Oversight/Investigations; Kristen Amerling, Minority Chief Counsel 
and Staff Director, Oversight; Phil Barnett, Minority Staff Director; 
Brian Cohen, Minority Senior Policy and Staff Director, Investiga-
tions; Karen Lightfoot, Minority Communications Director; Eliza-
beth Letter, Minority Press Assistant; Alvin Banks, Minority Inves-
tigator; Matthew Siegler, Minority Counsel; Stacia Cardille, Minor-
ity Counsel; and Anne Tindall, Minority Counsel. 

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. CLIFF STEARNS, A REP-
RESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

Mr. STEARNS. Good morning, everybody. We convene this impor-
tant hearing of the Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations 
to examine the involvement of the Department of Energy and the 
White House Office of Management and Budget in the review, ap-
proval, and subsequent restructuring of the $535 million loan guar-
antee to Solyndra. 

The Obama administration has repeatedly touted its green en-
ergy plan as the savior for our faltering economy. Solyndra was the 
first loan guarantee issued by the Obama administration using 
stimulus dollars. Administration officials held out the company as 
a shining example of how the stimulus was creating jobs and invig-
orating the economy. However, just after 2 years of receiving this 
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half-of-a-billion-dollar loan guarantee, and 6 months after DOE re-
structured the terms of the deal, Solyndra has closed its door, laid 
off over a thousand employees, and filed for bankruptcy. Last week, 
the FBI agents raided the facility. 

One of our witnesses today, Mr. Silver, attempts to claim in his 
written testimony that the Bush administration is equally at fault 
for approving Solyndra’s deal and that Solyndra was a train ready 
to leave the station when President Obama took office. But in re-
ality, on January 9, 2009—at the end of the Bush administration— 
the DOE Credit Committee voted against offering a conditional 
commitment to Solyndra, saying that the real deal was premature 
and questioning its underlying financial support. Only after the 
Obama administration took control, and the stimulus passed, was 
the Solyndra deal pushed through. 

We have been asking questions for almost 7 months about this 
deal. We have gathered documents from the Department of Energy. 
In a party-line vote, the committee was forced to subpoena OMB 
in July in order to get even basic information showing their role 
in the Solyndra deal. Now, committee Democrats have questioned 
the basis of our investigation and actually have accused the com-
mittee of engaging in a fishing expedition and abusing our sub-
poena power. But what the committee’s review of these documents 
clearly show is that we were right all along to ask questions about 
this loan. It should not take a financial restructuring, bankruptcy, 
and FBI raid for my colleagues on the other side of the aisle to put 
politics aside and join us in our efforts. 

The documents demonstrate that when DOE was reviewing the 
Solyndra guarantee in 2009, it was well aware of the financial 
problems the deal posed. What the documents also show is that the 
rush to push out stimulus dollars may have impacted the depth 
and quality of DOE and OMB’s review. In fact, the White House 
had scheduled Vice President Biden’s and Secretary Chu’s appear-
ing at Solyndra’s groundbreaking event prior to DOE even making 
its final presentation to OMB on the terms of the Solyndra deal. 
An email from a senior OMB staff member to the Office of the Vice 
President sums up this disturbing revelation. In it, he states, ‘‘We 
have ended up with a situation of having to do rushed approvals 
on a couple of occasions. We would prefer to have sufficient time 
to do our due diligent reviews and have the approval set the date 
for the announcement rather than the other way around.’’ 

Only 6 months after the loan closed, Solyndra’s financial troubles 
became increasingly severe. In March 2010, an independent auditor 
issued a report stating, ‘‘the Company has suffered recurring losses 
from operations, negative cash flows since inception and has a net 
stockholders’ deficit that, among other factors, raises substantial 
doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern.’’ Nonethe-
less, President Obama visited Solyndra in May and proclaimed, 
‘‘the true engine of economic growth will always be companies like 
Solyndra.’’ 

Just one year after the loan closed, Solyndra was almost out of 
cash. In late fall of 2010, DOE began negotiations with Solyndra 
and two of its main investors about restructuring the loan in order 
to keep the company afloat. Under the restructuring agreement, 
Solyndra’s private investors were given priority over the govern-
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ment with regard to the first $75 million recovered in the event of 
liquidation. Documents reviewed by the committee staff raise seri-
ous concerns about whether this deal was better for the taxpayers. 
These concerns are spelled out in an email between OMB staff in 
late January 2011, which notes that, ‘‘while the company may 
avoid default with a restructuring, there is also a good chance it 
will not. At that point, additional funds would have been put at 
risk, recoveries may be lower, and questions will be asked.’’ 

So my colleagues, we are here today to ask those very questions. 
If Solyndra really is the ‘‘litmus test for the Loan Guarantee Pro-
gram’s ability to fund good projects quickly,’’ as DOE’s stimulus ad-
visor called it in an email to DOE officials, I am very concerned 
about where the $10 billion DOE that they have left to spend be-
fore the September 30 deadline is gone, taxpayers would be better 
served by not risking even more of their money, instead using it 
to reduce our mounting national deficit. 

Thank you, and with that I recognize the distinguished colleague 
from Colorado, Ms. DeGette. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Stearns follows:] 
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OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DIANA DEGETTE, A REP-
RESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF COLO-
RADO 
Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 
While China’s initiatives continue to threaten our Nation’s re-

newable energy industry and while we continue to try to revive our 
economy, it should be clear to everybody in this room that solar en-
ergy development is not a Democratic or a Republican issue; it is 
an issue of securing American energy innovation for decades to 
come. And so we should have a larger discussion about how govern-
ment can appropriately support the development of domestic clean 
energy technologies. As we all know, and as we can tell from the 
chairman’s opening statement, there has been a great deal written 
in the media about today’s hearing, and unfortunately, the issue 
has become very politicized. 

The narrow purpose of today’s hearing is to thoroughly examine 
the process and decisions surrounding the Solyndra loan guar-
antee, but we can’t help but look at the issue through the larger 
lens of what our national energy policy should be going forward. 
And as we think about the broader issues, it is important to see 
just what happened with the Solyndra loan. 

Now, the chairman said that the minority opposed this investiga-
tion, and that couldn’t be farther from the truth. We believe this 
investigation into Solyndra is important to understand both what 
happened here and also what our appropriate energy policy is. And 
furthermore, we never oppose production of any documents. We op-
pose the subpoena because we believe that the documents were 
being produced in good time. But having said that, I am happy that 
we now have the documents, and I think those documents should 
be made available to everybody. 

The documents and briefings that I have reviewed show that the 
Department of Energy in both the Bush and Obama administra-
tions supported Solyndra’s loan guarantee application. In 2007, the 
Bush administration DOE invited Solyndra to submit a full appli-
cation, and by the end of the Bush administration, DOE had sub-
mitted the application to its Critical Committee for review. After 
President Obama took office, DOE continued to work on the appli-
cation and ultimately approved the loan guarantee in September 
2009. 

In spring of 2010, a pre-IPO audit of Solyndra raised concerns 
about Solyndra’s viability, and by late 2010, DOE had determined 
that the company was headed towards default. DOE was faced with 
a choice at this point: restructure the loan to increase the chances 
that Solyndra could repay the taxpayers’ funds or cut their losses 
and accept the high possibility of default. Ultimately, DOE deter-
mined restructuring was the course of action most likely to pre-
serve the full recovery of the loan value. Under terms approved in 
February 2011, Solyndra was given more time to repay the loan, 
the government obtained additional collateral, and Solyndra was 
required to raise an additional $75 million from private investors 
that would have primacy over the government’s interest in the 
event of liquidation before 2013. 

Now, this July, Solyndra’s CEO visited my office as well as other 
members’ and talked about the strong demand for the company’s 
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product and how 2011 revenues were projected to double from 
2010. Now, as we all know, less than 2 months later, the company 
announced it would file for bankruptcy. And now, the Federal Gov-
ernment’s recovery of over $500 million loaned to Solyndra is at 
grave risk. It is always easier to assess decisions in hindsight, but 
particularly with a loan this big, it is critical that we get answers 
to several key questions. 

First, did the Bush and Obama administrations conduct appro-
priate due diligence before September 2009 guarantee approval? 
Second, did the Department of Energy sufficiently monitor the fi-
nancial status of Solyndra after loan disbursements began, particu-
larly as the market forces seemed to be against them? Third, did 
Solyndra make accurate representations to the government about 
its financial prospects both before and after approval of its loan 
guarantee? And when Solyndra’s financial situation deteriorated, 
did the government make the correct decisions about restructuring 
the loan? 

In examining these issues, I want to underscore that we not only 
lose sight of the policy context for the Loan Guarantee Program 
that supported Solyndra. This program was designed to help U.S. 
companies to grow and compete in a global clean energy market in 
which countries like China and others are providing a wide range 
of incentives and support for domestic industry. Even if we con-
clude that bad judgments were made on the Solyndra loan, we 
have got to continue to work hard to develop and implement appro-
priate policies that give American clean energy investors the sup-
port they need to make the U.S. a market leader in the future and 
also that protect the U.S. taxpayer. 

These are critical decisions. Ranking Member Waxman and I 
have asked that the Solyndra CEO and CFO be called, and I be-
lieve that is going to be happening in short order. Because I am 
perplexed at how they can be in my office in July telling me things 
were looking better and filing for bankruptcy 2 months later. 

With that, Mr. Chairman, I yield back. 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentlelady mentioned in her opening state-

ment about the documents we have been reviewing. Would she con-
sider a unanimous consent request that all those documents be 
made part of the record? 

Ms. DEGETTE. Yes. 
Mr. STEARNS. So ordered. 
[The information follows:] 
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Mr. STEARNS. With that, we recognize the distinguished full 
chairman of the Energy and Commerce Committee, the gentleman 
from Michigan, Mr. Upton. 

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. FRED UPTON, A REPRESENTA-
TIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF MICHIGAN 

Mr. UPTON. Well, thank you, Mr. Chairman. In 2009, Solyndra 
was the first company to receive a DOE energy loan funded with 
stimulus dollars. Just 2 years after getting $535 million in tax-
payer money, and being touted by President Obama as a model for 
how the government’s venture capital program in green technology 
should work, the company has filed for bankruptcy and been raided 
by the FBI. 

We are starting to look at the DOE Loan Guarantee Program 
and Solyndra’s deal in February. Some questioned the basis for this 
investigation. And after 4 months of wrangling with the adminis-
tration to produce relevant documents, the committee was forced to 
issue a subpoena to OMB. I think Solyndra’s recent bankruptcy fil-
ing and last week’s FBI raid clearly show that the committee was 
more than justified in its scrutiny of the deal. Pursuant to our 
oversight functions, we have an important responsibility to pursue 
answers regarding the use of taxpayers’ money. 

Our investigation raises several questions about whether the ad-
ministration did everything that it could to protect taxpayer dol-
lars. Why did the administration think Solyndra was such a good 
bet? Why did the administration push ahead with restructuring the 
Solyndra guarantee this year, when some in the government voiced 
serious concerns about the commercial viability of the company? 
Why did DOE and OMB allow the government to be subordinated 
to the private investors in apparent violation of the law? 

I look forward to the testimony of Mr. Zients from OMB and Mr. 
Silver, Executive Director of DOE’s Loan Program Office. I want to 
know what the Solyndra failure means for the Loan Guarantee 
Program. Was Solyndra just one bad bet by an administration 
rushing to claim credit for the first loan guarantee, or is it the tip 
of the iceberg? DOE has closed over $8 billion in loan guarantees 
to other ‘‘green tech’’ companies, and it has about $10 billion left 
to spend in the next few weeks before the September 30 deadline. 
If the administration was so wrong about Solyndra after 9 months 
of due diligence, how can it possibly exercise the proper controls 
when doling out another $10 billion in the next couple of weeks? 
In this time of record debt, I question whether the government is 
qualified to act as a venture capitalist, picking winners and losers 
in speculative ventures and shelling out billions of taxpayer dollars 
to keep them afloat. 

We began this investigation to shine a bright light on a program 
shrouded in secrecy and uncertainty. New details are coming to the 
forefront today about who decided to allocate billions in taxpayer 
dollars, and where, and why. This is important information, and 
the public has a right to know how their hard-earned dollars are 
being spent. But it is not the end of our inquiry. The answers we 
have turned up so far spark additional questions, and I am com-
mitted to pursuing this investigation and conducting rigorous over-
sight of the Loan Guarantee Program and its recipients. I hope the 
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administration and our friends on both sides of the aisle will share 
our commitment to getting answers. 

I yield to the gentleman from Texas, Mr. Barton. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Upton follows:] 
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OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. JOE BARTON, A 
REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF TEXAS 

Mr. BARTON. Thank you, Chairman Upton. 
I think this is a litmus test of how this subcommittee is going 

to work together to investigate something that obviously needs to 
be investigated. I was very gratified to hear Ranking Member 
DeGette’s request that the record include all the documents that 
have been discovered so far because at the beginning of this inves-
tigation, my friends on the minority side did not support the sub-
poena to get those documents. 

Mr. Chairman, I support Loan Guarantee Programs for alter-
native energy. Having said that, I do not support the process by 
which this particular loan guarantee was announced. It is curious 
to me that in January of 2009, the Credit Committee unanimously 
recommended against this loan guarantee, but 2 months later after 
President Obama had been sworn in, the Credit Committee ap-
proved, as far as I can tell, the identical loan commitment with no 
intervening improvement in the process. A DOE staff member at 
the time said this project is going to run out of cash in September 
of 2011. And how prescient was that, Mr. Chairman? As we all 
know, they declared bankruptcy last week. 

I look forward to the testimony of these officials and I look for-
ward next week to the testimony of the members of the company. 
And Mr. Chairman and subcommittee chairman and Ranking 
Member DeGette and Ranking Member Waxman, I strongly sup-
port you all working together to pursue this investigation on a bi-
partisan basis. And I yield back to the chairman. 

Mr. UPTON. I thank the gentleman and I yield the balance of the 
time to Dr. Burgess. 

Mr. BURGESS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. MICHAEL C. BURGESS, A 
REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF TEXAS 

Ranking Member DeGette referenced the fact that going back to 
the Bush administration this discussion was going on in the De-
partment of Energy. I just do want to take a moment to point out 
that the Credit Committee at the Department of Energy January 
12, 2009, the last dates of the Bush administration, the day after 
their meeting it was a unanimous decision not to engage in further 
discussions with Solyndra at this time. 

Now, we all know the stimulus bill was about shovel-ready 
projects. It appeared that the shovel that this project was ready for 
was to bury it somewhere. And yet it was resurrected. Now, I be-
lieve in redemption, I believe in the afterlife, but I don’t believe 
this was this wisest and best use. I do want to convey the message 
to members of the administration that when this committee calls, 
you respond. When we ask for documents, you produce them. When 
we schedule a hearing, you show up. We are a coequal branch of 
government. We have a responsibility to protect the people’s money 
as well, and it does not appear that those interests were followed. 
And unfortunately, now the taxpayer is going to suffer. 

I yield back the balance of my time. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Burgess follows:] 
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Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman yields back. The distinguished 
ranking member, the gentleman from California, Mr. Waxman, is 
recognized. 

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. HENRY A. WAXMAN, A REP-
RESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF CALI-
FORNIA 

Mr. WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Today, we are holding a hearing on the loan guarantee provided 

by the Department of Energy in 2009 to Solyndra, a U.S. solar 
panel manufacturer. And this is an important hearing. Taxpayers 
have over $500 million at risk as a result of Solyndra’s bankruptcy. 
We need to understand what happened, who should be held ac-
countable, and how we can avoid future losses. We also need to ask 
whether Solyndra misled federal officials. 

In July, the company’s CEO met with me in my office. He as-
sured me that the company was in a strong financial condition and 
in no danger of failing. In fact, he said the company was going to 
double its revenues in 2011. I have a hard time reconciling those 
representations with the company’s decision to file for bankruptcy 
1 month later. Committee staff have now reviewed thousands of 
pages of internal documents from the Department of Energy and 
the Office of Management and Budget. And they raise a number 
of questions. The documents show that under both the Bush ad-
ministration and the Obama administration DOE officials strongly 
backed Solyndra. They believed its silicon-free solar panels—Mr. 
Chairman, may I have an opportunity to speak? 

Mr. STEARNS. Absolutely. Committee will be in order to listen to 
the gentleman’s statement. 

Mr. WAXMAN. They believe that silicon-free solar panels offered 
cost savings and its tubular shape reduced installation costs. And 
they thought the internal reviews they conducted and the external 
studies they commissions showed Solyndra could compete success-
fully in the global marketplace. Well, these rosy scenarios were not 
realized. Today, we will ask why. Is the reason unforeseen develop-
ments in the global marketplace as Solyndra and DOE argue? Or 
is the reason sloppy or inadequate vetting, or worse yet, corporate 
malfeasance? 

By late 2010, both DOE and OMB knew Solyndra was facing dif-
ficulty in meeting its loan obligation. This triggered a vigorous in-
ternal debate about what the government should do to protect the 
taxpayers. DOE projected that an immediate liquidation would re-
turn less than 20 cents on the dollar, so they favored restructuring 
because of the potential for recovering more of the taxpayers’ in-
vestment. Some OMB officials warned against restructuring on the 
grounds that it might not be enough to avoid bankruptcy and de-
fault. Well, that was not an easy decision and we need to ask 
whether the right choice was made. 

Given the bankruptcy of Solyndra and the dollars now at risk, 
we have an obligation to the taxpayer to investigate the transaction 
thoroughly. That is why I welcome this hearing and why Ranking 
Member DeGette and I have urged Chairman Stearns to hold an-
other hearing where we can question Solyndra’s CEO. 
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I disagree vehemently, however, with the policy conclusions my 
Republican colleagues have already drawn. They say the collapse 
of Solyndra shows the folly of federal investments in solar and 
other clean energy technologies, and they argue the government 
should not pick winners and losers in the energy marketplace. This 
sounds superficially appealing but there is a fundamental flaw in 
their logic. The majority of Republicans on this committee deny 
that climate change is real. If you are a science-denier, there is no 
reason for government to invest in clean energy. 

It is ironic that at this very moment in Washington, CEOs of a 
number of corporations, including Bill Gates from Microsoft; Mr. 
Immelt from GE; Norm Augustine, former Lockheed-Martin chair-
man; Chad Holliday, Bank of America; Tim Solso, CEO of 
Cummins, are all here representing American Energy Innovation 
Council, and they are calling for major new investments in alter-
native energy and renewable energy so that we don’t fall behind 
the Chinese and others who are competing in this area and 
outcompeting us. 

If you live in reality, you know the world cannot continue its de-
pendence on fossil fuels, that we are in danger of losing this indus-
try to our competitors, especially China. And last month alone, 3 
U.S. solar manufacturers have declared bankruptcy because they 
couldn’t compete with Chinese companies. 

This weekend, the business columnist Steve Pearlstein wrote in 
the Washington Post, ‘‘listening to the Republicans talk about the 
economy and economic policy is like entering into an alternative 
universe.’’ He is right. Republicans on this committee oppose put-
ting a market price on carbon emissions. They oppose EPA regula-
tion of carbon pollution, and now they oppose government invest-
ment that promote clean energy alternatives. That is an economic 
dissonance for fledgling clean energy companies that have to com-
pete against both an entrenched fossil fuel industry and heavily 
subsidized foreign firms. And it is a grievous blow to our future 
prosperity. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. STEARNS. I thank the gentleman. And with that, the opening 

statements are concluded. And I ask unanimous consent that the 
written opening statements of the members be introduced into the 
record, anyone who wishes to do it. Without objection, the docu-
ments will be so entered. 

To our witnesses, you are aware that the committee is holding 
an investigative hearing, and when doing so has had the practice 
of taking testimony under oath. Do you have any objection to tak-
ing testimony under oath? 

The chair then advises you that under the rules of the House and 
the rules of the committee, you are entitled to be advised by coun-
sel. Do you desire to be advised by counsel during your testimony 
today? No. In that case, if you would please rise and raise your 
right hand, I will swear you in. 

[Witnesses sworn.] 
Mr. STEARNS. You are now under oath and subject to the pen-

alties set forth in Title XVIII, Section 1001, of the United States 
Code. 
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We welcome you to give a 5-minute summary of your written 
statement. So with that, Mr. Silver, we welcome you with your 
opening statement. 

TESTIMONY OF JONATHAN SILVER, DIRECTOR, LOAN PRO-
GRAMS OFFICE, DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY; AND JEFFREY D. 
ZIENTS, DEPUTY DIRECTOR FOR MANAGEMENT, OFFICE OF 
MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET 

TESTIMONY OF JONATHAN SILVER 

Mr. SILVER. Thank you, Chairman Stearns, Ranking Member 
DeGette, and members of the subcommittee. My name is Jonathan 
Silver, and I am the executive director of the Loan Programs Of-
fice. I joined with the Department of Energy and took this position 
in November of 2009. 

In 2005, recognizing that there was a systemic shortage of pri-
vate debt financing for innovative clean energy projects from re-
newable to clean coal to nuclear power, President Bush signed bi-
partisan legislation that established the Title XVII Loan Program. 
The program was specifically designed to support next-generation 
energy projects, which involved technology and market risks that 
private sector lenders often cannot or will not underwrite. 

Other governments have recognized the value of such programs 
as well. Germany and Canada already operate government-backed 
clean energy lending programs. The U.K., Australia, and India 
have announced the intent to do the same. But none have been as 
aggressive as the Chinese Government, which last year alone pro-
vided more than $30 billion in credit to its country’s largest solar 
manufacturers. That is roughly 20 times larger than America’s in-
vestment in the same period. Why is China making this invest-
ment? Because the race for solar manufacturing jobs is a race 
worth winning. Over the next few decades, this will become a glob-
al market worth trillions of dollars. 

In 1995, the United States manufactured more than 40 percent 
of the solar cells and modules sold worldwide. Today, it is 6 per-
cent. Meanwhile, China’s share has grown from 6 percent in 2005 
to 54 percent today. China is now home to 5 of the 10 largest solar 
panel manufacturers in the world. Seven of the 10 largest are in 
Asia. Only 2 are in the United States. It is in this context that we 
should discuss the Solyndra transaction. 

Solyndra submitted its initial application in 2006. By late 2008, 
the Loan Program staff considered Solyndra the most advanced of 
the projects it had reviewed and the likely recipient of the pro-
gram’s first loan guarantee. In fact, by the time the Obama admin-
istration took office, the career staff had already established a 
timeline for issuing the company a conditional loan commitment in 
March of 2009. In March, on the exact schedule that had been de-
veloped during the Bush administration, the program issued 
Solyndra a conditional commitment. In September, after several 
more months of additional due diligence and documentation, DOE 
finalized the loan guarantee. Although I was not at the Depart-
ment at that time, it is my understanding that the transaction 
went through nearly 3 years of rigorous internal and external due 
diligence, including reviews by a leading independent engineering 
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firm, the Department’s own solar experts, and a blue chip law firm 
all before any taxpayer funds were put at risk. 

The Federal Government was not alone in its assessment of 
Solyndra’s potential. Some of America’s most sophisticated profes-
sional investors collectively invested nearly $1 billion in the com-
pany after conducting extensive due diligence of their own, and 
again, before any taxpayer dollars were deployed. 

In 2009, Solyndra appeared to be well positioned to compete and 
succeed in the global marketplace. Solyndra manufactures cylin-
drical thin-film solar cells, which avoided both the high cost of 
polysilicon—a critical component in making conventional solar pan-
els—and certain costs associated with installing flat panels. But 
polysilicon prices subsequently dropped significantly taking 
Solyndra and many industry analysts by surprise and by providing 
a significant benefit to several of the company’s Chinese competi-
tors. 

These developments made Solyndra’s business model more chal-
lenging. The company took steps to respond, cutting costs even as 
revenues increased 40 percent between 2009 and 2010 from $100 
million to $140 million. Despite increasing revenue, the company 
ran short of cash and faced imminent bankruptcy without an emer-
gency influx of new capital from its investors. The Department of 
Energy faced a difficult choice: whether a) to refuse the proposed 
terms of that financing ensuring that the company would close and 
the government would recover only a small amount of its loan; or 
b) to allow the company to take the financing, giving it and its al-
most 1,000 workers a fighting chance at success and the govern-
ment the possibility of a higher recovery on that loan. 

After extensive analysis both internally and from independent 
market and financial advisors and using the same tools and ap-
proaches that private lenders use in such circumstances, the De-
partment concluded that restructuring the loan gave the U.S. tax-
payer the best chance of being repaid. Unfortunately, the changes 
in the solar market have only accelerated. Chinese companies have 
flooded the market with inexpensive panels, and Europe, histori-
cally the largest purchaser of solar panels, is in the midst of an 
economic crisis that has significantly reduced demand. The result 
has been a further and unprecedented 42 percent drop in solar cell 
prices in the first 8 months of 2011 alone. 

These changes were particularly damaging to Solyndra, and as 
you know, the company declared bankruptcy earlier this month. 
While we are all disappointed in the outcome, Solyndra’s situation 
should not overshadow the professional work that the Depart-
ment’s loan programs have done to date or the need to continue to 
find ways to support clean energy in this country. 

Developing a robust clean energy manufacturing sector in the 
United States is critical to our long-term national interests and one 
of the most important tools as our global competitors have already 
learned is low-cost financing effectively targeted and deployed. This 
isn’t picking winners and losers; it is helping ensure that we have 
winners here at all. We invented this technology and we should 
produce it here. The question is whether we are willing to take on 
this challenge or whether we will simple cede leadership in this 
vital sector to other nations and watch as tens of thousands of jobs 
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are created overseas. The administration believes this is a battle 
we must fight and win. 

Mr. Chairman, I thank the members of the committee and I look 
forward to answering your questions. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Silver follows:] 
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Mr. STEARNS. Thank you. Mr. Zients? 

TESTIMONY OF JEFFREY D. ZIENTS 
Mr. ZIENTS. Chairman Stearns, Ranking Member DeGette, mem-

bers of the subcommittee, thank you for inviting me here today to 
testify on OMB’s role in the implementation of the Department of 
Energy’s Loan Guarantee Program. 

The DOE Loan Guarantee Program authorized by Congress in 
Title XVII of the Energy Policy Act of 2005 is a key part of the ad-
ministration’s efforts to promote economic growth and create jobs 
across the country and to jumpstart the clean energy economy. As 
you know, OMB engages in general oversight of the programs being 
executed by federal agencies. Therefore, OMB has been an active 
participant in interagency discussions about major milestones and 
DOE’s implementation of Title XVII helping to ensure they are con-
sistent with the statutory framework and administration policy. 

These interagency discussions are an important forum for asking 
tough questions and pressure-testing assumptions, respectful of 
DOE’s statutory authority to make final programmatic decisions on 
Title XVII loan guarantees. 

OMB also has a particular statutory role in the Title XVII pro-
gram under the Federal Credit Reform Act of 1990, known as 
FCRA. Pursuant to FCRA, OMB reviews and must approve credit 
subsidy cost estimates for all loan and loan guarantee programs, 
including the credit subsidy cost estimates generated by DOE for 
the Title XVII program. OMB ensures that costs are accounted for 
appropriately. In performing its statutory role under FCRA, OMB 
works closely with agencies’ credit subsidy cost models. Based on 
these models, OMB reviews and exercises final approval authority 
over credit subsidy costs to ensure that the costs of direct loans and 
loan guarantees are presented, and reflect estimated risks, consist-
ently across federal agencies so that taxpayer funds are invested in 
a prudent and effective fashion. By contrast, the final decision on 
whether to issue the loan or guarantee rests with the agency imple-
menting the applicable program—DOE in the case of Title XVII. 

In the Solyndra loan guarantee, OMB’s approval of DOE’s pro-
posed credit subsidy cost was conducted in August and September 
of 2009. While I was not directly involved in this aspect of the 
transaction, what I have learned since indicates that the approval 
process reflected a thorough examination and analysis of DOE’s 
calculation of this estimated cost. OMB staff addressed with DOE 
a series of specific questions about its analysis. Based on these dis-
cussions, OMB and DOE ultimately agreed on the credit subsidy 
cost, and OMB ensured it was budgeted and accounted for appro-
priately. The loan guarantee was then issued in September 2009. 

In February 2011, DOE undertook a restructuring of Solyndra’s 
debt in light of the acute financial troubles the company was expe-
riencing. OMB’s statutory role in the restructuring transaction was 
the same as its role in the original transaction—to ensure that the 
credit subsidy cost was appropriately accounted for, consistent with 
OMB’s responsibilities under FCRA. OMB worked closely with 
DOE to understand the specifics of the proposal before making a 
cost determination. DOE ultimately provided information and anal-
ysis to OMB to show that the loan was in imminent default and 
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that the restructuring proposal was expected to be less costly to 
taxpayers than other options, including liquidation. OMB deter-
mined that DOE’s analysis was reasonable and reflected the infor-
mation as it was understood at that time. 

Since then, a challenging global solar market has continued to 
affect a number of solar manufacturers, including Solyndra. The 
company’s recent announcement that it was suspending operations 
and filing for bankruptcy is without a doubt a very unfortunate 
outcome and one that will limit the government’s recovery of funds 
loaned to the company. 

Congress designed the Title XVII Loan Guarantee Program to 
fund innovative clean energy projects that might not otherwise re-
ceive the necessary capital for deployment. The program envisions 
that while some of these projects might not succeed, others will 
contribute to the country’s ability to achieve its clean energy goals. 
OMB will continue to work diligently with DOE to help make the 
Title XVII program a success and to ensure that the costs associ-
ated with the inherent risks in the program are budgeted and ac-
counted for to protect taxpayers’ interests. 

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, I would be 
pleased to answer any questions you have. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Zients follows:] 
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Mr. STEARNS. I thank the gentleman, and I will start with open-
ing questions. And they are directed to you, Mr. Silver, and if you 
could possibly just answer yes or no. 

In your testimony, you claim that some of Solyndra’s due dili-
gence was done by the end of the Bush administration. Is that cor-
rect? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, the application was received—— 
Mr. STEARNS. Yes, that is all I need. Isn’t it true, though, that 

at the end of the Bush administration a DOE Credit Committee 
met on January 9, 2009, to consider the Solyndra guarantee? Were 
you aware of that? 

Mr. SILVER. The Credit Committee is made up of—— 
Mr. STEARNS. No, I am not asking you—just answer the question. 
Mr. SILVER. Which met in early 2009—— 
Mr. STEARNS. Right. OK, so you agree. That Credit Committee 

recommended that the Solyndra loan guarantee be remanded to the 
Loan Programs Office stating, ‘‘The number of issues unresolved 
make a recommendation for approval premature at this time.’’ 
Were you aware of the Credit Committee’s meeting when you sub-
mitted your testimony to the committee this morning? 

Mr. SILVER. I was. And, as I said, Congressman, I was not there 
at the time, but it is my understanding that it was not—it was re-
manded back for additional data—— 

Mr. STEARNS. No, I am asking the questions. I just need a yes 
or no. 

Mr. WAXMAN. Let him give the answer. 
Mr. STEARNS. Well, I think he has given an answer. In an email 

sent a few days after the January Credit Committee meeting, a 
member of that Credit Committee sent an email to his fellow mem-
bers. In that January 13, 2009, email he states, ‘‘After canvassing 
the committee, it was a unanimous decision not to engage in fur-
ther discussions with Solyndra at this time.’’ Do you understand 
that the Credit Committee in the Bush administration essentially 
decided that the due diligence was not complete at this point? 

Mr. SILVER. No, Mr. Chairman. In fact, the Credit Committee 
that you are referring to, as I said, made up of a group of career 
professionals is also exactly the same Credit Committee that then 
approved—— 

Mr. STEARNS. I understand that, but the point is what I just 
quoted to you is the truth, isn’t that correct? That quote is accu-
rate? 

Mr. SILVER. I don’t—haven’t seen that email, sir. 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. 
Mr. SILVER. I wasn’t there at the time. 
Mr. STEARNS. Well, you can assure it is. And the DOE should 

quit talking with Solyndra. That was the recommendation. Now, 
Mr. Silver, in your testimony, you stated that regarding Solyndra, 
‘‘Much of the extensive due diligence on the transaction was con-
ducted between 2006 and the end of 2008.’’ I would like to bring 
this information to your attention. Isn’t it true that the Loan Pro-
grams Office didn’t hire its first federal employee until August 1, 
2007? 

Mr. SILVER. I am not aware of that but it sounds about right. 
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Mr. STEARNS. OK. If you don’t know, we can provide this infor-
mation. We provided it to the committee staff through a 
PowerPoint presentation. Now, by the end of 2007, isn’t it true that 
the office had only 8 federal employees? 

Mr. SILVER. Again, I don’t know the exact numbers. 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. So who was doing all this extensive due dili-

gence that you keep talking about in 2006 and 7 at the loan pro-
gram? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, sir, the Department—if you would like an an-
swer to that question—— 

Mr. STEARNS. Sure. 
Mr. SILVER [continuing]. The Department is made up of 115,000 

working professionals, including about 70,000 scientists a number 
of whom are solar experts—— 

Mr. STEARNS. But the DOE Credit Committee was the respon-
sible authority for approving the credit of Solyndra. Isn’t it—— 

Mr. SILVER. No, actually—— 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. 
Mr. SILVER [continuing]. Technically, sir, the Credit Committee 

actually simply reviews a transaction and recommends it—— 
Mr. STEARNS. Right. 
Mr. SILVER [continuing]. For approval. 
Mr. STEARNS. I think we have established they did not think 

they should go ahead. Isn’t it also true that during that time pe-
riod, DOE was reviewing the 140 or so applications that it received 
in response to its first solicitation, how did DOE have time to do 
extensive due diligence on Solyndra from 2006 to 2007 like you in-
dicated? That baffles us. 

Mr. SILVER. If you will give me a moment to explain, I think I 
can. The 2006 solicitation resulted in 143 submissions. The loan 
program staff and others at the Department reviewed those for eli-
gibility, which is a thinner review than the full due diligence, and 
recommended 16 applications to file a full application. 

Mr. STEARNS. But—— 
Mr. SILVER. Eleven did so. Solyndra was one of those and the De-

partment conducted due diligence on all of those 11. 
Mr. STEARNS. But Mr. Silver, isn’t it true the first draft of the 

independent marking report wasn’t even submitted until March 
2009? You were there. Isn’t that correct? 

Mr. SILVER. No, I was not there at that time, sir. It is my under-
standing, though, from reviewing the record that there were sev-
eral market research reports that were directly relevant that were 
used as the basis for assessment, and there was subsequently a di-
rect marketing report done for the project, which was produced in 
the time frame—— 

Mr. STEARNS. Our records show an independent engineer report 
that you cited in your testimony was submitted in early January 
2009. Is that correct? 

Mr. SILVER. I think that is the case, yes, sir. 
Mr. STEARNS. The due diligent legal memorandum submitted by 

the Morrison and Forester, which you have also cited in your writ-
ten testimony, that also was submitted in early 2009, correct? 

Mr. SILVER. I believe that is the case. 
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Mr. STEARNS. Given this, how do you explain the statement in 
your testimony that the extensive due diligence was conducted in 
2006 and 2008? 

Mr. SILVER. Actually, I didn’t say it was conducted in 2006. I 
said the application was receive in 2006 and due diligence began 
and continued from late 2007 through 2008. It would be logical for 
the reports that you are making reference to here to be completed 
after that work was done during that period. 

Mr. STEARNS. Well, Mr. Silver, I think my time has expired, but 
I think what we have established is that the Credit Committee 
during the Bush administration found the Solyndra deal to be pre-
mature and remanded it for further work. And we have all the evi-
dence and all the clear evidence, so we are a little puzzled with 
your opening statement. With that, my time has expired and I rec-
ognize the ranking member, Ms. DeGette. 

Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 
I would like to start my questions by asking unanimous consent 

to put the Credit Committee Recommendation that the chairman 
referred to into the record so that we can know what we are talk-
ing about. 

Mr. STEARNS. By unanimous consent, so ordered. 
[The information follows:] 
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Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you very much. 
Mr. Silver, I had staff hand you a copy of this Credit Committee 

Recommendation. Have you seen this document before? 
Mr. SILVER. No, ma’am, I have not. 
Ms. DEGETTE. OK. This is the document that the chairman was 

referring to where the Credit Committee remanded the project to 
LGPO that they denied the application and they remanded it for 
more information. That is the thing the chairman was referring to. 
And it was also the information that he had up on the screen. It 
was from this memo. Now, as I read this document, it says, ‘‘While 
the project appears to have merit, there are several areas where 
the information presented did not thoroughly support a finding, but 
the project is ready to be approved at this time.’’ And then it lists 
4 areas that it says need to be supplemented. Do you see that? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, ma’am. 
Ms. DEGETTE. And then at the bottom is said, ‘‘the Credit Com-

mittee is appreciative of the hard work done by the origination 
staff but believes the number of issues unresolved makes the rec-
ommendation for approval premature at this time.’’ Do you see 
that? 

Mr. SILVER. I do. 
Ms. DEGETTE. And then it concludes, ‘‘Therefore, the committee, 

without prejudice, remands the project to the LGPO for further de-
velopment of information addressing the issues outlined above. 
Correct? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, ma’am. 
Ms. DEGETTE. So this document is not a complete denial of the 

application; it is remanding it for more information, correct? 
Mr. SILVER. Not only is it not a complete denial, it would be typ-

ical of a credit committee in both the public and the private sector 
to perform its function in exactly this way. If they believed addi-
tional data was—— 

Ms. DEGETTE. And was that data eventually developed and sub-
mitted to the DOE? No? 

Mr. SILVER. The—— 
Ms. DEGETTE. The data that was requested—— 
Mr. SILVER. The data was additionally developed and the sum-

mary of that data was represented to the Credit Committee. 
Ms. DEGETTE. And subsequently, in March of 2009, the applica-

tion was approved, correct? 
Mr. SILVER. Yes, ma’am. 
Ms. DEGETTE. And was that data submitted as part of that appli-

cation, this data that was requested? 
Mr. SILVER. Again, I wasn’t there, but it is my understanding 

that that was the case. 
Ms. DEGETTE. OK, thank you. Now, I wanted to ask you a couple 

of questions about what kind of policies and incentives that we 
need to have in the United States to promote competitiveness in 
the clean energy market? This is what you talked about in your 
testimony. In your written testimony, what you said was in be-
tween 1995 and 2010, the share photovoltaic cells and panels man-
ufactured in the U.S. dropped from over 40 percent to just 6 per-
cent. We have seen this with some Colorado companies that are 
trying to develop solar but they can’t actually find cells that are 
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manufactured in this country. Since 2005, China’s market share 
has actually increased from 6 percent to 54 percent, and half of the 
world’s 10 largest solar panel manufacturers are now Chinese. So 
the question I have is what does that tell us about the state of play 
in the solar manufacturing industry? 

Mr. SILVER. Congresswoman, I think it tells us that the rest of 
the world takes this industry and this industry opportunity enor-
mously seriously, has a multi-decade perspective on its importance, 
believes, as we do, that it will be a multi-trillion-dollar market that 
will generate tens of thousands of jobs and is deeply committed to 
it. 

Ms. DEGETTE. Now, what is the Chinese Government doing that 
you know of to provide support to its solar industry? 

Mr. SILVER. The Chinese Government has already committed up 
to $30 billion of credit to its 4 or 5 largest solar panel manufactur-
ers. It generally and frequently provides both zero-cost financing, 
occasionally free land, and other kinds of incentives and subsidies 
to that sector. 

Ms. DEGETTE. And does cheap labor play a part in China’s abil-
ity to dominate the world market on this solar development? 

Mr. SILVER. It certainly has in the past and cheap labor does 
play a material role in other parts of the world in their competi-
tiveness. Increasingly, however, the challenge is becoming one re-
lated to government support for the industry itself, financially. 

Ms. DEGETTE. So it is not as much cheap labor as capital that 
the Chinese Government is providing in your view? 

Mr. SILVER. Correct. Access to inexpensive debt capital, yes, 
ma’am. 

Ms. DEGETTE. OK. So based on your experiences at DOE and the 
private sector and your understanding of initiatives of other gov-
ernments like China, do you really think it is worth us having poli-
cies like this Title XVII Loan Program and other policies to support 
solar or should we just walk away from it altogether as a govern-
ment? 

Mr. SILVER. I can’t imagine a scenario in which we would will-
ingly as a country walk away from what will be undoubtedly one 
of the largest if not the largest industries in the world over the 
next several decades. 

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, do you think though that there is any way 
we can actually compete? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, we have an incredibly strong and innovative 
workforce, but what we have got to be able to support not only in-
novation at the R&D level, we also have to be able to support com-
mercial deployment. Without commercial deployment, we cannot 
continue to recognize the benefits that come from innovation. 

Ms. DEGETTE. So irrespective of the details of the Solyndra case 
which are still unfolding to this day, you think that these kinds of 
loan-support programs are important to development of the U.S. 
solar energy and jobs. Is that right? 

Mr. SILVER. I think they are critical. They are only part of the 
fabric of what is necessary but they are critical. 

Ms. DEGETTE. Now, Mr.—pronounce your name for me. 
Mr. ZIENTS. Zients. 
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Ms. DEGETTE. Zients. Mr. Zients, I wanted to ask you because 
you talked about this Title XVII funding and there are a number 
of other projects that are receiving—and I believe over 40. Has that 
worked in other projects? Is it working in other loan situations? 

Mr. ZIENTS. Well, the program is, as you know, relatively new, 
so loans have recently closed for the most part. And we have every 
reason to be optimistic that the portfolio as a whole will perform. 

Ms. DEGETTE. And how large is the portfolio as a whole? 
Mr. ZIENTS. I defer to Jonathan on specific numbers. I think you 

have a good estimate in what you said. 
Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr. Chair. 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman from Texas, Mr. Barton, is recog-

nized for 5 minutes. 
Mr. BARTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Just for the record, are you two gentlemen career civil service 

employees or are you political appointees? 
Mr. SILVER. Political appointees, sir. 
Mr. ZIENTS. Political appointee. 
Mr. BARTON. Both, OK. Chairman Stearns alluded to this but I 

want to follow up a little bit. While President Bush was still in of-
fice on January the 9th of 2009, the Credit Committee, which is a 
part of the Department of Energy I believe did recommend against 
going forward with the Solyndra loan. Less than 2 months later, 
on March the 12th of 2009, the Credit Committee conditionally ap-
proved the loan. First of all, is that factually correct? 

Mr. SILVER. The timeline is correct, sir. The Credit Committee— 
the first Credit Committee that met did not reject the loan. They 
remanded it back for further analysis. But your timeline with re-
spect to the 2 Credit Committees is correct. 

Mr. BARTON. The individuals that are on the Credit Committee, 
are those political appointees or civil service? 

Mr. SILVER. Civil service. 
Mr. BARTON. OK. Were the 2 Credit Committees identical in 

their makeup? 
Mr. SILVER. I believe that to be true. 
Mr. BARTON. So the same people in the same agency—to use 

your terminology—needed additional information—or anyway, they 
did not approve it in January but in March, the same committee 
made up of the same people did approve or conditionally approve. 
That is correct, right? 

Mr. SILVER. No, sir. Technically, the Credit Committee does not 
approve a conditional commitment. The Credit Committee rec-
ommends a transaction for approval, which is then further re-
viewed by a group called the Credit Review Board, the CRB, and 
they—— 

Mr. BARTON. Well, instead of putting up a red light, they put up 
a green light or at least a yellow light? 

Mr. SILVER. They indicated that the initial questions that had 
been—they had raised in the first meeting had been addressed. 
And they—— 

Mr. BARTON. All right. Now, what changed in the intervening pe-
riod? 

Mr. SILVER. Additional due diligence was conducted—— 
Mr. BARTON. Specifically, what changed? 
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Mr. SILVER. Well, as I say, additional due diligence was con-
ducted—— 

Mr. BARTON. Well, specifically, what additional due diligence? 
Mr. SILVER. Market—additional market research was developed 

and—— 
Mr. BARTON. Is that available and does the committee staff have 

it? 
Mr. SILVER. I believe the committee staff has it. We have turned 

over over 35,000 pages of materials. 
Mr. BARTON. But for purposes of this hearing under oath you are 

saying that what changed is additional information that wasn’t 
available in January became available in the intervening period, is 
that correct? 

Mr. SILVER. Additional due diligence was done—— 
Mr. BARTON. But additional due diligence doesn’t cut it, OK? We 

need, you know, half a billion dollars was not supported in January 
under the Bush administration was supported, conditionally rec-
ommended in March. We know the one thing changed is that the 
President changed. We know that changed. 

Mr. SILVER. I will be happy to get back to you, sir, with the addi-
tional information—— 

Mr. BARTON. But due diligence is a generic term. 
Mr. SILVER. Well, it is a generic term but it covers very specific 

things, particularly research on market conditions, financial condi-
tions, technical—— 

Mr. BARTON. Is it possible that one of the things that changed 
was political influence? 

Mr. SILVER. I don’t believe so, sir. I wasn’t there but there is no 
indication in the record—— 

Mr. BARTON. Nobody commented to the White House that this 
project should go forward? There were no supporters of the Presi-
dent that stepped forward and had meetings and there were no 
White House officials that encouraged people at the Department of 
Energy to just—this was all done under a bubble top and purely 
on merit? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, sir, I can’t speak to that because I wasn’t 
there, but what I will say to you is that the loan program career 
staff that was doing—did the work in 2008 under a Republican-ap-
pointed CFO continued to do that work under the same individual 
who was a—— 

Mr. BARTON. Well, let me ask one final question because my time 
is about to expire. Is it typical of a loan guarantee that a project 
1) gets a half a billion dollars, and 2) that half a billion is 2/3 of 
the cost of the project, and 3) that the federal obligation is subordi-
nated to private sector capital, which is a direct violation of federal 
law? 

Mr. SILVER. There is no typical, sir, in answering that because 
every project financing is different and depends on the size, struc-
ture, and the technology that is being—— 

Mr. BARTON. So if myself and Mr. Scalise and Mr. Gardner and 
maybe for good measure Mr. Markey and Mr. Dingell put together 
a deal and asked for a half a billion dollars, it is acceptable under 
this program for it to be approved? 
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Mr. SILVER. Well, sir, if you had a legitimate project that went 
through—— 

Mr. BARTON. I think we could have a legitimate project that 
wouldn’t go bankrupt within 2 years. 

Mr. SILVER. If you had a project that met the criteria of the solic-
itation and was deemed to be eligible and went through technical, 
legal, financial regulatory and other kinds of due diligence and was 
deemed to be a potential process, then perhaps yes. 

Mr. BARTON. OK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. STEARNS. I thank the gentleman. The distinguished ranking 

member, Mr. Waxman, is recognized for 5 minutes. 
Mr. WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
As I understand it, in 2005, the Congress passed the Loan Guar-

antee Program. We did this on a bipartisan basis because we want-
ed to move forward with these enterprises that would give us re-
newable and alternative energy rather than continue our reliance 
on fossil fuels. The idea of a loan guarantee is that we want them 
to borrow the money but we know there is an inherent risk in a 
new startup. Isn’t that correct, Mr. Silver? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, sir. When Congress set up the program, it set 
it up specifically to compensate for the lack of debt financing for 
innovative energy and recognized the inherent risks in that by pro-
viding credit subsidy, which is essentially loan loss reserve. 

Mr. WAXMAN. No one wants to go and invest in the market in 
a solar energy, wind power, anything else, unless they know it is 
really going to return the investment and give them a profit. So the 
government has decided we will help these groups get started be-
cause it is important for our Nation to move to alternative energy. 

Mr. SILVER. I agree with that and I would only add one caveat. 
We don’t actually start these companies. They—the private sector 
does. In the case of Solyndra, almost a billion dollars of private eq-
uity had gone into this company before the government made its 
loan. And all the transactions that we work on have very, very sig-
nificant private capital behind them. 

Mr. WAXMAN. I was taken aback by the figure that between 1995 
and 2010 the share of photovoltaic cells and panels manufactured 
in the United States dropped from 40 percent to just 6 percent. At 
the same time just since 2005, China’s market has increased from 
6 percent to 54 percent. So half of the world’s largest 10 solar panel 
manufacturers are now Chinese. And we would like to be able to 
compete as well. And I gather your answer to Ms. DeGette is one 
of the reasons that China is outmaneuvering us is that the govern-
ment is putting a lot more money behind their solar industry than 
we are doing. Is that right? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, sir. As I said, China has committed at a min-
imum $30 billion from the China Development Bank and another 
several billion—— 

Mr. WAXMAN. And that is 20 times more than we are providing 
by way of any subsidies or loan guarantees. 

Mr. SILVER. At least because there are other subsidies and incen-
tives that the Chinese Government provides as well. 

Mr. WAXMAN. Well, who would be against such a thing? Well, I 
will tell you who would be. Entrenched fossil fuel industry wouldn’t 
like this. This is competition for them. And I think that is playing 
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a part in some of the reactions that I am hearing. But one of the 
key issues of this investigation, as identified by Chairman Stearns, 
has been whether DOE issued the Solyndra loan guarantee as a 
favor to George Kaiser, a major donor to President Obama’s cam-
paign. These are serious allegations. Mr. Stearns said the adminis-
tration gives ‘‘some of this money out to people who are either con-
tributors or strong supporters.’’ And he implied that the Solyndra 
loan decision was based on political favoritism. 

Before I ask you about these allegations, I would like to get a bit 
of background on this loan guarantee. My understanding is 
Solyndra applied to this loan in 2006 when Bush was president. 

Mr. SILVER. That is correct, sir. 
Mr. WAXMAN. And the DOE invited the company to submit a full 

application to the program in October 2007. 
Mr. SILVER. Yes, sir. 
Mr. WAXMAN. And December 4, 2008, DOE documents outline 

the Solyndra loan as one of the three highest priorities of the next 
45 days. And all of this took place during the Bush administration. 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, sir. 
Mr. WAXMAN. Now, in fact, January 5, 2009, email to a DOE offi-

cial, John Scott of Solyndra, said, ‘‘We think that a public an-
nouncement would acknowledge the hard work of the existing ad-
ministration and the appointees in DOE and the LGPO as well as 
benefit Solyndra’s fundraising efforts for the equity contribution.’’ 
And in this email Mr. Scott was talking about the Bush adminis-
tration. But the fact that the loan didn’t close until President 
Obama took office seems to have given rise to allegations of polit-
ical favoritism. Well, this Kaiser Group wasn’t the only private in-
vestment. A lot of the investment came from another group that is 
called Madrone, and that is a Walton family. They give to Repub-
licans. But they were looking to make an investment in a loan that 
was being guaranteed by the Federal Government. 

I would like to you ask you, Mr. Silver and Mr. Zients, about 
your interactions with Mr. Kaiser and his impact on this loan. Did 
you or your staff have any interaction with Mr. Kaiser relating to 
the Solyndra loan guarantee? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, sir, as I said before, I was not here at that 
time. But no, I have never met or spoken to the man. And as I un-
derstand from my staff, neither have they. 

Mr. WAXMAN. And the staff of civil servants? 
Mr. SILVER. Yes, sir. 
Mr. WAXMAN. Who have been around—— 
Mr. SILVER. Yes. 
Mr. WAXMAN [continuing]. Even to the time of the Bush adminis-

tration. Mr. Zients, is that the same answer for you? 
Mr. ZIENTS. Same for me, both personally and my knowledge of 

the OMB staff interaction. 
Mr. WAXMAN. Did either of you instruct anyone to give the loan 

guarantee to Solyndra or restructure the loan because of the dona-
tions to the President by Mr. Kaiser? 

Mr. SILVER. No, sir. 
Mr. ZIENTS. No. 
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Mr. WAXMAN. Did anyone in the administration instruct you or 
your staff to grant or restructure the loan guarantee because of the 
donations to the President by Mr. Kaiser? 

Mr. SILVER. No, sir. 
Mr. ZIENTS. No. 
Mr. WAXMAN. Are you aware of anything that would suggest that 

Mr. Kaiser’s donations to the President were a factor in deter-
mining whether to grant the Solyndra loan guarantee? 

Mr. SILVER. No, sir. Again, I wasn’t there but I have no reason 
to believe that. 

Mr. ZIENTS. I was not actively involved but have no reason to be-
lieve that. 

Mr. WAXMAN. Can you assure us if the Solyndra decisions were 
made on the merits and that there was no favoritism shown to-
wards Solyndra for any reason? 

Mr. SILVER. It is my understanding that that is correct. 
Mr. ZIENTS. My understanding is the same. 
Mr. WAXMAN. Our chairman has made some serious allegations. 

I think the real question before us is whether the vetting was done 
appropriately and whether it was done based on full representation 
by Solyndra about their economic viability. And I don’t think we 
ought to use this failure of this particular guarantee to discredit 
was it an important loan guarantee in order to move to be able to 
compete in this area with China and to move our country away 
from dependence on fossil fuel. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. STEARNS. I thank the gentleman. Dr. Burgess, the gentleman 

from Texas, recognized for 5 minutes. 
Mr. BURGESS. And I thank the chairman. And I will agree with 

Ranking Member Waxman. We do want the availability of solar at 
the retail level of this country. I look forward to the day where I 
can reduce my electricity bill by putting some type of solar panel 
on my roof or in my yard, but have we advanced that vision of the 
future with the activities that have occurred in regards to this case, 
and in particular, the jurisdictions for which you two are respon-
sible for, the Department of Energy and the Office of Management 
and Budget, which does have the responsibility for direct oversight? 

Now, Mr. Zients, in your testimony to us today, you talk about 
pressure testing I believe when you were talking about the inter-
agency discussions, an important forum for asking the tough ques-
tions and pressure-testing assumptions. Well, let us think about 
that for a moment. A lot of emails that have now been produced 
to the committee, to the committee staff, and in going through 
those, we keep coming up against the notion that there was pres-
sure all right but this is a pressure cooker. This wasn’t a pressure 
test. This was we got to get this thing out the door because we 
have got a groundbreaking. And it might involve a trip by the 
President or a satellite appearance by the Vice President. So yes, 
there was pressure but it was pressure applied in pushing this 
thing out the door. In retrospect, was that the wrong kind of pres-
sure to apply? 

Mr. ZIENTS. Are there specific emails that you are referring to? 
Mr. BURGESS. Yes, I would be happy to do that. 
Mr. ZIENTS. Can I get a copy? 
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Mr. BURGESS. Were we providing him a copy of those emails? I 
think we are. I don’t want to reference anyone’s name because that 
is not appropriate. 

Ms. DEGETTE. Mr. Chairman, if I could be provided a copy of 
those emails, that would be helpful. 

Mr. BURGESS. Will do it. We will be glad to do it. 
Mr. ZIENTS. I am just looking at the top line at the dates 

here—— 
Mr. BURGESS. These are all available. 
Mr. ZIENTS [continuing]. They appear to be in the August time 

frame where I am not, best of my knowledge, and the author of any 
of these emails are actually even on any of these emails as I was 
not actively involved. So I will comment but I don’t know the inten-
tion of any specific email. 

At that period of time, OMB was playing its statutory role under 
FCRA to ensure that an appropriate credit subsidy score was given 
to the project. So this is not about whether the loan should go for-
ward or not. This is about the accounting for the loan. And there 
was some scheduling requests from the VP’s office and the VP’s of-
fice was interested in potentially being part of an announcement of 
the closing of the very first loan. But I want to be crystal clear as 
to my understanding from my interactions with the staff in prepa-
ration for this hearing that those scheduling requests had no im-
pact whatsoever on the credit subsidy score that was given to this 
project. OMB staff, based on its analysis, decided to increase the 
credit subsidy score to make it more conservative and DOE agreed 
with that, so the closing occurred after OMB staff had done a thor-
ough analysis of the credit subsidy score and decided to increase 
the credit subsidy score to make it more conservative. 

Mr. BURGESS. Well, let us—— 
Mr. ZIENTS. But the scheduling logistics had not been—— 
Mr. BURGESS. I am running out of time. Let me just reference 

August 27, 2009, 4:40 p.m., and this is an email from someone in 
OMB—‘‘as long as we make it crystal clear to the Department of 
Energy that this is only in the interest of time, there is no prece-
dent set that I am OK with it, but we also need to make sure that 
they don’t jam us on later details so there isn’t time to negotiate 
those, too,’’ implying that there was pressure placed upon—— 

Mr. ZIENTS. Well, again, not being involved and not being on this 
email chain, I think what is clear is that OMB staff was—to the 
best of my understanding based on my discussions with OMB staff 
because I was not actively involved—comfortable with the credit 
subsidy score, which is the statutory responsibility of OMB, and in 
fact, the credit subsidy score was increased during the period of 
time—— 

Mr. BURGESS. Yes, and with all due respect, sir—— 
Mr. ZIENTS [continuing]. And DOE agreed with that—— 
Mr. BURGESS [continuing]. It doesn’t sound like they were com-

fortable. They say it is in the interest of time. This time we will 
let it go, but tell those guys over at DOE that they are not going 
to jam us on this also. 

Mr. ZIENTS. In preparation for this hearing, I talked to the OMB 
career staff and no one hesitated in my discussions with them as 
to whether they were comfortable with the final determination of 
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the credit subsidy score for this project. And as I said, the credit 
subsidy score was increased—i.e., made more conservative—as a 
result of the OMB analysis and DOE agreed with that. 

Mr. BURGESS. Let me just in the remaining time, Mr. Silver, ask 
you, this is the filing with the SEC on the S–1 report from March 
2010 on the planned initial public offering, and Solyndra’s auditor, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, stated the company’s S–1 amended, 
‘‘though the company has suffered recurring losses from operations, 
negative cash flow since inception, it has a net stockholder deficit, 
and it raised substantial doubt about its ability to continue as 
going concern,’’ did this prompt any curiosity on your part or did 
it change anything about the Department of Energy’s behavior 
about this application? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, let me respond first, Congressman, as a former 
venture capitalist and tell you that frequently companies, particu-
larly high-growth companies like Solyndra, will make filings for 
companies that, while they are growing rapidly, still are continuing 
to burn case. A going concern review by an independent auditor 
is—accompanies that kind of scenario. I should also point out that 
in the time frame—— 

Mr. BURGESS. Sir, I am going to run out of time, but with all due 
respect, venture capital is different from a government investment, 
a taxpayer subsidy—— 

Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. BURGESS. This is a different universe and your response as 

a venture capitalist is likely not consistent with being a good stew-
ard of the taxpayers’ money. And I will yield back to the chairman. 
Thank you. 

Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman yields back. We recognize the chair-
man emeritus of the Energy and Commerce Committee, the gen-
tleman from Michigan, Mr. Dingell, for 5 minutes. 

Mr. DINGELL. You are most kind. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I 
am very pleased to see that we are having proper oversight and it 
is my hope as we move forward that if the majority has evidence 
of wrongdoing, they will present it to us so we can take proper ac-
tion. 

Mr. Silver, you say in your testimony that Solyndra first applied 
for a guaranteed loan in 2006 when President Bush was still in of-
fice, is that correct? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DINGELL. I understand you had people who worked within 

the Loan Program Office and who do the due diligence on deter-
mining the quality and feasibility of loan applications. Are these 
people political appointees? 

Mr. SILVER. No, sir, career—— 
Mr. DINGELL. They are career? 
Mr. SILVER. And analysts and advisors. 
Mr. DINGELL. Good. So the staff reviewing application for a guar-

anteed loan over the past 5 years are not political appointees but 
instead are rather career, nonpolitical employees who serve from 
administration to administration, is that right? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DINGELL. All right. Now, although I understand that you 

haven’t yet been at the loan office, is it your assessment that the 
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guaranteed loan was awarded based on the project proposal and 
the strength of the application and not on any political influence? 
Remember, you are under oath. 

Mr. SILVER. To the best of my knowledge—and as you point out 
I wasn’t there—but to the best of my knowledge, yes. 

Mr. DINGELL. OK. So nonpolitical career Department of Energy 
employees while serving under the Bush administration rec-
ommended a timetable to award Solyndra a guaranteed loan. Was 
this the timetable against which the loan was eventually com-
mitted? 

Mr. SILVER. The career staff identified the timeframes after hav-
ing brought it forward in the first Credit Committee as marked for 
a second Credit Committee and produced it at that time, yes. 

Mr. DINGELL. All right. Let us go fast-forward a year to 2010 
when Solyndra approached the Department of Energy for further 
assistance. Was this due to low-cost competition from Chinese man-
ufacturers, Solyndra needed help? If your office had not agreed to 
restructure the loan, would Solyndra have gone bankrupt in 2010? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DINGELL. Now, without the structured loan or restructured 

loan, would Solyndra have had any chance of success? 
Mr. SILVER. It is hard to imagine how since they had a liquidity 

crisis. They were out of operating capital. 
Mr. DINGELL. Now, would the company’s 1,100 workers been laid 

off in 2010, then? 
Mr. SILVER. I would assume so, yes. 
Mr. DINGELL. Solyndra secured an additional $75 million from 

investors as part of a loan restructuring. Is it a standard in loan 
restructuring for new investment to have priority in the case of a 
liquidation? 

Mr. SILVER. It is very typical. 
Mr. DINGELL. Now, Mr. Chairman, I have been waiting anxiously 

to hear what we have to show that there is wrongdoing here, and 
I am still waiting to see something that makes me be concerned 
that we have here some wrongdoing. And I don’t want us to pro-
ceed just on suspicions or doubtful questions or misinterpretations 
of emails or finding emails where none exist. Now, let us try and 
see what took place. 

First, during the Bush administration, Solyndra submitted a pre- 
application for a loan guarantee. Second, that then a financial and 
technical review were conducted. In October 2007 the Department 
of Energy invited Solyndra and 15 other applications to submit full 
applications. Solyndra submitted their full application in 2008. 
Later, in 2008, the Department of Energy indicated that Solyndra 
was in the best position to receive the first loan guarantee. You re-
member this was under the Bush administration. In January 2009, 
during the final days of the Bush administration, the Department 
set forth a timeline to complete due diligence on the Solyndra ap-
plication that would lead to approval by the spring of 2009. Next 
came in the administration of President Obama. Now, during that 
spring of 2009, the Department continued to do its due diligence 
and completed its work in August. The loan guarantee was issued 
in September 2009, 3 years after the pre-application was originally 
submitted. 
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I am looking forward to hearing from the committee leadership 
and from the committee staff is there anything in the record to 
suggest this proposal was rushed through or that improper consid-
eration was given or that there was any improper or illegal pres-
sure or political activity which might have led to us being where 
we are today? I would urge my colleagues to look hard for the facts 
and take all the facts into consideration and to see to it that as we 
go about our business, we are careful in finding the truth and not 
just having a splendid time making unjust accusations regarding 
the program and the administration. Thank you. 

Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman’s time has expired. I recognize the 
gentleman from Nebraska, Mr. Terry. 

Mr. TERRY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And I would agree with 
the chairman emeritus that we do need to do our due diligence and 
find out on behalf of the taxpayers what went wrong here. And 
that does need to be our ultimate mission. 

There is a theme that I am picking up in the questioning, and 
that is I think everyone must agree that there is some scandal in-
volved in this. And I am reaching this conclusion by the amount 
of time spent to ensure that people believe that this was somehow 
approved and all of the work done under the Bush administration. 
That seems to be the MO is if there is a crisis that occurs today, 
blame it on the past administration. 

And so just to set some facts straight because even you, Mr. Sil-
ver, mentioned in your written testimony provided to us that 
Solyndra submitted its initial application in 2006 and much of the 
‘‘extensive due diligence on the transaction was conducted between 
2006 and 2008,’’ but the irrefutable fact is that on January 9, 2011, 
the Bush administration DOE Credit Committee remands the 
Solyndra application calling it premature and citing unresolved 
issues. So it seems to me that not all of the ‘‘extensive due dili-
gence’’ on the transaction was conducted between 2006 and 2008 
but that the Bush administration said very specifically that the ap-
plication required much more due diligence. 

Then you said, Mr. Silver, if I am correct that you said in 2011 
more due diligence was done that led to the approval. Is that a cor-
rect statement? 

Mr. SILVER. I believe you mean 2009, Congressman? 
Mr. TERRY. Well, yes. 
Mr. SILVER. Yes, additional due diligence—it is my under-

standing that additional due diligence was done from the time the 
initial Credit Committee remanded it back to the loan program ef-
fort through to the next Credit Committee, which met subsequently 
in March. And during that time, additional work on market re-
search and legal and technical matters and other kinds of things 
that would normally make up the responses to the questions that 
the Credit Committee had asked were developed and answered. 

Mr. TERRY. Then after the president was inaugurated, an email 
from a DOE staffer states that we are approaching the beginning 
of the approval process for Solyndra again. So the work continued 
on the application, correct? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, that is my understanding. 
Mr. TERRY. Now, what we would like to know is—Mr. Waxman 

was going down this path so I am going to follow up on his ques-
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tions—he asked in a way that made you responsible for assuming 
motives of other people. I am just going to ask you point-blank. 
After you started your role at DOE or in your role, did you receive 
any communications from a White House employee, personnel, 
Carol Browner, Rahm Emanuel, anybody regarding the Solyndra 
loan? 

Mr. SILVER. You mean in—— 
Mr. TERRY. Yes or no. Did you—— 
Mr. SILVER. When I joined? 
Mr. TERRY. Yes. 
Mr. SILVER. No, when I joined—— 
Mr. TERRY. You had no communications from anyone—— 
Mr. SILVER. The Solyndra loan, it was closed in September, sir, 

and I arrived in November. 
Mr. TERRY. What about the restructuring time period? 
Mr. SILVER. Well, the restructuring occurred approximately a 

year later, was largely conducted on a staff-to-staff basis. There 
were interactions—— 

Mr. TERRY. Were there interactions then—if you are denying 
that you received any communications directly from the White 
House to you—— 

Mr. SILVER. No, what I am trying to describe to you—— 
Mr. TERRY. That is my question, so please answer my question. 

Did you receive during your time there any communications from 
anyone from the White House regarding the Solyndra loan? That 
is an easy question. It is either yes or no. 

Mr. SILVER. And it actually has an easy answer. We work regu-
larly on this transaction and every other transaction with our 
interagency colleagues at OMB and at the—— 

Mr. TERRY. I said White House. 
Mr. SILVER. I am not sure what distinction that is. We work with 

the OMB—— 
Mr. TERRY. Oh, really? 
Mr. SILVER [continuing]. And any—— 
Mr. TERRY. How about—you want me to start naming individ-

uals. Carol Browner and her staff, did you receive any communica-
tions? I think the question is very clear and you are—— 

Mr. SILVER. It is and what—the answer to this—— 
Mr. STEARNS. Mr. Silver, you are under oath and you need to an-

swer the question yes or no. 
Mr. SILVER. The question is do we interact with elements—with 

different agencies and the answer to that question is yes, exten-
sively. 

Mr. TERRY. I did not say different agencies. I said White House. 
Mr. SILVER. Well, individuals in those agencies, we work—— 
Mr. TERRY. OK. So you did receive communications directly to 

you from somebody in the White House? 
Mr. SILVER. I don’t recall who would have been involved directly. 

What I can tell you is the discussions around these transactions as 
Mr. Zients referred to are conducted on a staff-to-staff—career 
staff-to-career staff basis working to develop the transaction. 

Mr. TERRY. So once again, have you received—you received any 
communications regarding the Solyndra loan from anyone from the 
White House? 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 12:35 Jun 10, 2013 Jkt 037690 PO 00000 Frm 00066 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 C:\PROGRA~1\WS_FTP\74404.TXT WAYNE



63 

Mr. SILVER. Well, I mean Mr. Zients and I have talked about it. 
Mr. TERRY. OK. Mr. Zients, have you? It is fairly clear obviously 

Mr. Silver is not going to answer the question. 
Mr. ZIENTS. Well, again, as to the loan itself, I wasn’t involved 

when the loan was closed. As to the restructuring, yes, I do interact 
with components of the White House. I would make a distinction 
between OMB and the White House to get—to tap into their exper-
tise on energy and on financial markets. 

Mr. TERRY. OK. And who was the person that you were commu-
nicating with in the White House? 

Mr. ZIENTS. The primary expertise resided at the time what was 
then the Office of Energy and Climate Control. 

Mr. TERRY. That was Carol Browner’s office? 
Mr. ZIENTS. Carol Browner led that office, yes. 
Mr. TERRY. Did they suggest to you—my time is up. 
Mr. STEARNS. Thank you, gentleman. And the gentleman from 

Massachusetts, Mr. Markey, is recognized for 5 minutes. 
Mr. MARKEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, very much. I will just 

note, first of all, that if you want to waste American taxpayers’ dol-
lars, let us talk about the oil industry at record high profits getting 
$41 billion worth of tax money from taxpayers. And secondly, if you 
want to talk about loan guarantees, the Southern Company has re-
ceived a loan guarantee 15 times larger than Solyndra, and if we 
are going to reexamine whether or not that is a good investment 
after Fukushima, after the earthquake near the North Anna Plant, 
let us have that hearing, because I think that money is in jeopardy 
if you are really concerned. That is 15 times larger. We know we 
will never have a hearing on the oil industry or the nuclear indus-
try in this committee. This is all part of an agenda here that deals 
with the solar industry, the wind industry. 

So let us go back in time here, Mr. Silver, and it is back in 2009. 
You are looking at this loan guarantee. What does the market look 
like for solar? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, although I wasn’t at the Department in 2009, 
I do have a point of view on the solar industry then. Polysilicon 
prices were extraordinarily high and the cost—what they call bal-
ance-of-systems costs of putting conventional solar paneling on 
roofs, which involved penetrating the roofs as well, was very, very 
expensive. So the Solyndra technology, which had received a lot of 
attention during that period, was particularly innovative because it 
addressed both of those key problems. 

Mr. MARKEY. In general you are not providing this financing to 
Fortune 500 companies. You are providing them to companies that 
are largely startups with innovative technologies to ensure that we 
are in this marketplace. Is that not correct? 

Mr. SILVER. That is, Congressman, and with the added addition 
that the companies themselves are required to raise substantial 
amounts of capital and Solyndra had already raised many, many 
hundreds of millions of dollars. 

Mr. MARKEY. Now, when these loan guarantees were being pro-
vided, at any time did your agency or any part of the Federal Gov-
ernment project a 42 percent drop in the price of solar panel prices 
in an 8-month period? 
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Mr. SILVER. Well, not only did they not project the 42 percent 
drop this year, but between 2008 and now, that price had dropped 
about 80 percent. And most analysts were surprised by that. 

Mr. MARKEY. So just so we can have an honest discussion here, 
there is a Moore’s Law for solar, and I hold up the chart, and that 
is that every time there is a doubling of solar panels worldwide in 
deployment, the cost of producing them goes down by 18 percent. 
And that phenomenon has become very predictable. Now, in 2011, 
so we can see the forest for the trees, the Chinese funded $20 bil-
lion for 4 solar companies in 2010. And we have seen in the first 
8 months of this year a 42 percent collapse in the price of these 
solar panels. Was that foreseeable in 2009? 

Mr. SILVER. It was not, although China’s commitment to this was 
increasingly clear. And actually, I believe, Congressman, that num-
ber is closer to $30 billion. 

Mr. MARKEY. Did anyone in the marketplace predict a 42 percent 
drop in the price of these solar panels in 2011? 

Mr. SILVER. I can’t speak for every analyst out there but cer-
tainly many, many professionals following the industry were sur-
prised. 

Mr. MARKEY. Were surprised. Now, let us go to the marketplace 
at large. Evergreen went bankrupt this year in the United States. 
SpectraWatt went bankrupt. German Solar SE shut down their Ar-
izona solar facility. BP Solar shut down their facility in Frederick, 
Maryland. Emerging Conversion and Daystar Technologies lost 80 
percent of their market value this year. This 42 percent drop this 
year is as a result of the Chinese intervention in this marketplace. 
This was not knowable in 2009. This was not knowable in 2010. 
This was a market intervention. 

Now, if the Republicans think that like Johnny Carson’s Carnac 
that there is an envelope, you know, with the answer in it that was 
available in 2009, they are kidding themselves. We are in a race. 
We are in a global race here and we are doing our best to make 
this case to the Republicans on this committee. While they keep 
the loan guarantees for nuclear intact as they pass their budget, 
while they continue to protect those oil company tax breaks up to 
$41 billion, they are turning on a pin on a collapsing market here 
in the United States on something that really is related to the fact 
that we are not focusing upon the Chinese intervention into this 
marketplace. 

So I just hope that the administration and their policy of financ-
ing these kinds of programs—and I think for the most part it has 
been a big success story and I think we have to keep that in mind 
as well—is something that this committee keeps in their mind as 
we move forward. 

I thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. STEARNS. Mr. Sullivan is recognized for 5 minutes. 
Mr. SULLIVAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate you hold-

ing this. 
Mr. Silver, on January 9, 2009, the Credit Committee during the 

Bush administration found the Solyndra deal to be premature and 
stopped all further work. An email sent by DOE Credit Committee 
a few days later stated that it was a unanimous decision not to en-
gage in further discussions with Solyndra at this time, and yet on 
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January 26, 2009, after the Obama administration came in, a DOE 
staffer notes in an email that ‘‘DOE has decided to restart the ap-
proval process for Solyndra.’’ What prompted this decision? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, Congressman, again, since I wasn’t there I can 
only give you my review of the record, but it appears to me when 
the first Credit Committee remanded it back, what they specifically 
did was to say we have specific questions which we need answered 
before we can take this application up again. The career staff in 
the loan programs office then went to work answering those ques-
tions, and when they had been resolved, brought the transaction 
forward again. 

Mr. SULLIVAN. This was about 2 weeks before the stimulus was 
signed into law. Didn’t that have something to do with it? 

Mr. SILVER. Not to my knowledge, no. 
Mr. SULLIVAN. Secretary Chu directed DOE to accelerate the 

process and deliver the first loan in a matter of months. Is that 
right? 

Mr. SILVER. I don’t know what the Secretary said specifically, but 
the Recovery Act certainly had a focus on bringing projects forward 
quickly. In fact, as you know, Congressman, there is a sunset date 
of September 30 of this year to get the 1705 projects done. And you 
know, a lot of work has gone into this and other programs to move 
monies as efficiently, effectively, and yet as prudently as possible. 

Mr. SULLIVAN. Solyndra’s application was part of Secretary Chu’s 
acceleration process. You know that is right, don’t you? 

Mr. SILVER. I assume that to be true, but again, I wasn’t there. 
Mr. SULLIVAN. So you say yes? 
Mr. SILVER. I assume that to be the case. 
Mr. SULLIVAN. OK. What did DOE do to accelerate this process? 

At this time, the DOE loan programs office was very thinly staffed, 
is that right? 

Mr. SILVER. It depends on your definition of thinly, but yes, there 
were not very many people there. 

Mr. SULLIVAN. How many employees did it have? 
Mr. SILVER. I don’t know at the time, sir, but I believe it was be-

tween 10 and 20. 
Mr. SULLIVAN. Did it even have the resources to do the review 

under the Secretary’s accelerated time frame? 
Mr. SILVER. Yes. Remember, the loan program’s professionals 

make use of outside advisors as well. 
Mr. SULLIVAN. Well, I want to resolve a discrepancy here. You 

stated that Solyndra was accelerated per Secretary Chu’s policy 
and yet in your testimony you state that Solyndra proceed, ‘‘on the 
exact timeline that had been developed under the Bush administra-
tion.’’ Which is it and can you clarify this? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, I don’t think those 2 statements are incompat-
ible. The career staff in the loan programs office identified the 
March time frame as when they would come back to the Credit 
Committee when the proposal was originally sent back to them. 

Mr. SULLIVAN. You mentioned earlier when I just came in that 
you are a private equity or you worked on Wall Street or what did 
you—— 

Mr. SILVER. A bit of everything. 
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Mr. SULLIVAN. OK. So you have looked at businesses and you 
have seen if they are worthy or not. In that capacity, would you 
lend a half a billion dollars to this company in the information—— 

Mr. SILVER. Well, I am by training and background both a ven-
ture capitalist and a hedge fund investor, but I am in position real-
ly to second-guess having not been there what the transaction that 
occurred. What I can tell you is this. Extensive due diligence was 
done across multiple years on all of the relevant characteristics 
that would go into a typical project financing. 

Mr. SULLIVAN. OK. If we could look at Slide 10, could someone 
pull that up? 

[The information appears at the conclusion of the hearing.] 
I would like to ask you about this, OMB. ‘‘Given the time pres-

sures we were under to sign off on Solyndra, we don’t have time 
to change this model.’’ This is what they are saying between each 
other. ‘‘As long as we make it crystal clear to DOE that this was 
only in the interest of time and that there was no precedent set, 
then I am OK with it. But we also need to make sure they don’t 
jam us on later deals so there isn’t time to negotiate those, too.’’ 
This was on August 27. Biden wants to do an appearance very soon 
after that. The stimulus was done on September 4. What do you 
have to say about this? 

Mr. ZIENTS. I wasn’t involved in this but based on what is on the 
screen here, I think this has to do with the closing of the trans-
action and OMB’s role at that point is to make sure that the credit 
subsidy score is correct from a budgeting-cost perspective. It is not 
about the loan overall at that stage; it is about the credit subsidy 
score. And my understanding, having talked to staff in preparation 
for this hearing, is that staff was very comfortable and had no hesi-
tation as to its final determination of the credit subsidy score, 
which as I mentioned earlier, the credit subsidy score has actually 
increased as a result of OMB’s analysis and DOE concurred with 
that. So the credit subsidy score was made more conservative in 
that period of time as it was signed off in preparation for closing 
of the loan. 

Mr. SULLIVAN. Well, she said there was a problem with the 
model. Do you think that is a problem—— 

Mr. ZIENTS. Again, not having been there, not knowing the au-
thor’s intent, what I can tell you that in preparation for this hear-
ing, I have talked to OMB career staff and there was no hesitation 
that they expressed to me as to whether the final credit subsidy 
score was indeed one that they were comfortable with. And it was 
increased as a result of the OMB analysis and DOE agreed with 
that increase. 

Mr. SULLIVAN. Well, the Solyndra—— 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. SULLIVAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. STEARNS. Ms. Christensen is recognized for 5 minutes. 
Mrs. CHRISTENSEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to also 

just thank our ranking members for insisting that we hear from 
the Solyndra officials. It is important that we get the fullest pic-
ture, especially since my reading of the testimony suggests that 
DOE and OMB appear to have done adequate due diligence and 
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that part of the collapse of Solyndra at least appears to be due to 
forces beyond their control. 

Nevertheless, this subcommittee has the responsibility to deter-
mine all the facts and apply relevant lessons learned going for-
ward. But I also think it is important that we accept that innova-
tion always carries some degree of risk, and it is also important 
that we not use the failure in this instance or even others as an 
excuse to turn away from the pursuit of green energy, a green 
economy, and the U.S. leadership in this area. 

So my questions, then, are to Mr. Silver. I would like to ask you 
to take me through the DOE’s monitoring system for loans as it ex-
isted in 2009, 2010, and how it exists now. I do want to point out 
that a series of GAO and DOE Inspector General reports dating to 
the Bush administration have identified problems with manage-
ment and controls in the DOE Loan Guarantee Program. So it is 
fair to point out that these programs did not begin with you. Still, 
it is important to ensure accountability for how this program is 
run. 

So the first question, after the Solyndra loan guarantee was first 
closed in 2009, what mechanisms did DOE use to monitor 
Solyndra’s cash flow? 

Mr. SILVER. In addition to our origination teams, our credit 
teams, our legal teams, our technical teams, and our regulatory 
teams, we also have a portfolio management group, and their re-
sponsibility is to monitor transactions post-closing against the cov-
enants in each individual transaction. 

Mrs. CHRISTENSEN. Were there site visits to California or—— 
Mr. SILVER. There are regular site visits. 
Mrs. CHRISTENSEN. How did DOE’s practices change when the 

loan was restricted in 2011? 
Mr. SILVER. Well, the principle difference was that in addition to 

picking up certain additional collateral for the loan, we negotiated 
and took an observer’s seat in this particular transaction. Now, I 
should say, Congresswoman, that that is an unusual thing to do 
and to have. Typically lenders, including lenders in the private sec-
tor, do not have board seats or even generally board observe seats, 
but we thought it was important to do that in order to be able to 
continue to monitor it. 

Mrs. CHRISTENSEN. So despite this ongoing monitoring, it does 
not appear that DOE anticipated Solyndra’s deep financial troubles 
this summer. So Mr. Silver, how would you explain this, that you 
were not able to anticipate the deep financial troubles? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, as several members have mentioned and as I 
mentioned in my opening remarks, the precipitous price drop of the 
silicon and panel prices has deeply contributed to that. I should 
note that we, too, anticipated there would need to be, you know, 
additional support for this company in the out years as it continued 
to grow, and that was built into the restructuring transaction as 
well. 

Mrs. CHRISTENSEN. Mr. Silver, I know that Solyndra was raided 
by the FBI and the DOE Inspector General following the bank-
ruptcy announcement. Do you know why this raid occurred? 

Mr. SILVER. No, ma’am, I have no idea. I am not part of that in-
vestigation or privy to it. 
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Mrs. CHRISTENSEN. Did Solyndra ever mislead DOE that you 
know of? Do you have any reason to think that the company was 
not providing you with all appropriate information? 

Mr. SILVER. I have no reason sitting here today to believe that 
we were misled. 

Mrs. CHRISTENSEN. So what lessons have you learned? Have 
DOE’s loan monitoring practices changed since you began as direc-
tor of the Loan Guarantee Program in the fall of 2009? Do you an-
ticipate making further changes in response to the loss of taxpayer 
funds as a result of the Solyndra bankruptcy? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, the entire program has changed, Congress-
woman. When I got there, there were about 35 people. We know 
have between 180 and 200 people, deep bench strength in each of 
the areas that I identified. We built out, among other things, an 
electronic portal which permits applicants to submit electronically, 
thereby capturing all their data and shrinking the intake time. I 
might mention as an aside that we won a national award for that 
software. We built out a complete records management piece which 
had not existed heretofore and we will continue to make additional 
improvements as can. 

Mrs. CHRISTENSEN. Thank you for this information. One of the 
key roles for the committee moving forward will be to understand 
why DOE did not foresee the Solyndra bankruptcy earlier-you have 
helped us at least some information regarding that—and whether 
there are ways to improve the system from monitoring projects that 
better fit the program. Thank you for your responses. 

Mr. SILVER. Thank you, ma’am. 
Mrs. CHRISTENSEN. I yield. 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentlelady yields back. The gentlelady from 

Tennessee is recognized for 5 minutes, Ms. Blackburn. 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And thank you 

both for being here with us. Just a couple of questions and I know 
you have been here for quite a while. 

I have got a couple of emails I want to put up here. Mr. Silver, 
you said you had worked on Wall Street and—— 

Mr. SILVER. No, I didn’t work specifically on Wall Street. 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. OK. 
Mr. SILVER. Midtown but for a hedge fund, yes. 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. For a hedge fund. OK. So you are pretty used 

to reviewing companies and looking at the history of companies 
and deciding if something is going to be a good investment or not, 
correct? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, ma’am. 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. OK. And I would imagine that DOE had a file 

that was passed onto you when you came into your position. Did 
they have a file that contained the different loans that had been 
approved and the tracking on those, the accountabilities to the tax-
payer? Because, you know, we are about fairness for the taxpayer. 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, as are we, and yes, there were files. 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. OK. So you did have files. OK. Mr. Zients, did 

you get a file at OMB on Solyndra and the due diligence that was 
done and then the process that was followed? 

Mr. ZIENTS. I became involved with Solyndra around the period 
of the restructuring. 
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Mrs. BLACKBURN. Not the question. Did you receive a file that 
goes back to day one? 

Mr. ZIENTS. No. 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. So you had no knowledge of the history? 
Mr. ZIENTS. Well, OMB’s role here, as I have talked about before 

is specifically on FCRA around—— 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. Sir, not my question. Did you get a file? Was 

there some history of the process? 
Mr. ZIENTS. I was briefed by our staff on the history of the proc-

ess. 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. But nothing in writing? 
Mr. ZIENTS. I reviewed documents that the staff produced but 

there is not one comprehensive—— 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. Sir—— 
Mr. ZIENTS [continuing]. File that I had been exposed to. 
Mrs. BLACKBURN [continuing]. There is no Solyndra loan guar-

antee file at OMB is what you are saying? 
Mr. ZIENTS. My assumption would be, although I don’t—I have 

not seen it—that the career staff, yes, maintains a file on Solyndra. 
That is not something—— 

Mrs. BLACKBURN. But you have not seen that? 
Mr. ZIENTS. No. 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. OK. All right. Now, there are 2 emails here 

and let us talk about these for a minute. The first one, August 19, 
an email between the DOE staff—dated the 19th—stated that ‘‘We 
still have a major outstanding issue, the issue of working capital 
assumptions.’’ Mr. Silver, I assume you know a little bit about 
that—‘‘has been a major issue repeatedly raised since December 
’08. You want to pay attention to those dates. Now, let us look at 
the next day there is an email. Now, Mr. Markey was concerned 
that no one seemed to be Carnac and have a silver ball. Well, it 
looks like we might have somebody that was doing a little bit of 
looking ahead. So let us talk about this. That email says, ‘‘The 
issue of working capital remains unresolved. The issue is cash bal-
ances not cost. Solyndra seems to agree that the model runs out 
of cash in September 2011 even in the base case without any 
stress. This is a liquidity issue.’’ Mr. Silver, what do you say to 
that? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, that would not be surprising in a modeling sce-
nario. That is, in fact, exactly what you use modeling to do, to iden-
tify where there are holes in the project. It also does—— 

Mrs. BLACKBURN. Have you ever seen this email? 
Mr. SILVER. I have not seen this specific—— 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. This is the first time you have seen this email. 

Were you aware that the liquidity issue had arisen? 
Mr. SILVER. I was aware that the liquidity—— 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. Was that in the file? 
Mr. SILVER. I don’t honestly remember if that was in the file or 

not. Again, I arrived in November—— 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. Just remember you are under oath. 
Mr. SILVER. I am deeply aware of that, Congresswoman. 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. OK. Let us go on to the rest of this. 
Mr. SILVER. Just to be clear, though, I arrived in November of 

2009 and since the loan was already issued at that point, we essen-
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tially move into the role that a bank managing a mortgage would. 
We manage the loan. 

Mrs. BLACKBURN. Yes, sir. And I appreciate that. That is why I 
asked if you were passed a file. My assumption would be—and you 
know, Mr. Chairman, my goodness, I would think if we have got 
loan guarantee programs going in different agencies and there is 
not a comprehensive file that will give the history of that that 
would show the due diligence that would document this, that would 
show the orderly process that was followed, or as Mr. Waxman was 
so concerned about the vetting process, my goodness, we should be 
reviewing every one of these loan programs. Is OMB not looking at 
this on a comprehensive basis to make certain that individuals are 
meeting their timelines, that someone is following this. Are they 
just sending this money out in droves and nobody is doing the fol-
low-up? So we will want to do that. Let us look at the rest of this 
email. And I am quoting—— 

Ms. DEGETTE. Chairman, with all due respect, I believe she is 
badgering the witness and I would—— 

Mr. STEARNS. Let the gentlelady finish her testimony. 
Mrs. BLACKBURN. ‘‘How we can advance a project that 

hasn’t’’—— 
Ms. DEGETTE. Time has expired. 
Mrs. BLACKBURN [continuing]. ‘‘Funded working capital require-

ments if it generates a working capital shortfall of $50 million 
when working capital assumptions are entered into this model?’’ 
Now, that was the question that was asked. And to all of my col-
leagues, I just think that, you know, when you look at this and you 
see that someone at DOE was asking those questions and was look-
ing at that modeling, it should cause us to seek to do a little bit 
more review and oversight. And I yield back. 

Mr. STEARNS. The gentlelady’s time has expired. Ms. Schakowsky 
is recognized for 5 minutes. 

Ms. SCHAKOWSKY. All right. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. You 
know, I agree that we should closely examine what went wrong 
and how the loan guarantee process can be improved if it needs im-
provement. But I am very concerned here that this is an attack on 
a program that, let us face it, when you invest in various innova-
tive and novel technologies that we need to do, it is not true, Mr. 
Silver, that there is some inherent risk associated with each of 
these deals, not with just Solyndra? 

Mr. SILVER. There is risk and almost by definition in the identi-
fication of the innovation itself, in building out that innovation at 
scale, there is an old adage that every bank wants to be the first 
bank to do your second loan. The program is intended to be the 
first bank to do the first loan. 

Ms. SCHAKOWSKY. You know, my colleagues certainly obviously 
want to make this a political issue, but they also talk about not 
wanting to pick winners and losers. And for heaven’s sake, as my 
colleague said, we are investing right now billions of dollars in oil 
and gas companies. We are investing, as my colleague Mr. Markey 
said, in a questionable technology, risky technology called nuclear. 
But I want to know that in selecting projects for loan guarantees, 
what efforts have you taken to ensure that you have appropriately 
diversified our portfolio? 
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Mr. SILVER. Well, thank you for that question. I want to be quite 
clear on this. The Loan Guarantee Program does not perceive itself 
to be in the business of picking winners or losers at all. In fact, the 
marketplace is the place to do that. And as someone who has come 
directly from that, I certainly support and attest to that. We don’t 
actually look at projects that have not already garnered or will, as 
part of the process, attract substantial private capital. In fact, pri-
vate capital is one of the bedrock requirements for the issuance of 
a loan guarantee. 

The question isn’t really so much are we picking winners and los-
ers because we not only, as you point out, invest across a diversi-
fied portfolio—we invest in wind, solar, geothermal, biofuels and 
the like—we also invest in directly competing technologies within 
those sectors because it is the program objective, the program man-
date to introduce a wide range of innovative technologies so that 
the marketplace, seeing these projects, can then replicate them on 
their own. And when the markets are in those areas, we exit. 

But the real issue is how are we going to pick—if we are not 
going to substantially—if we are not going to be significant partici-
pants in this, then how are we going to build these American com-
panies at all? Because China and the rest of the world are spend-
ing billions and billions of dollars to build out these industries. 

Ms. SCHAKOWSKY. Now, on September 2, 2011, a Forbes article 
noted that this program should be judged based on its entire port-
folio as opposed to one individual loan. I wonder if you could talk 
about that, just put this particular loan in context, either one of 
you. 

Mr. SILVER. Absolutely. I am happy to do so. We have invested, 
as I said, in a wide range of technologies. I do want to point out 
that the vast majority of our investments have been in generation 
projects rather than in manufacturing projects. And the reason 
that is important is because generation projects have what are 
called off-take agreements through PPAs, power purchase agree-
ments typically with utilities, which means that the power that is 
being created, the clean energy power that is being created is al-
ready contracted for. And it has—the generation projects which 
make up the vast majority of our portfolio have a vastly different 
risk profile than manufacturing projects do. We have actually only 
done 4 manufacturing projects in the 40-odd projects we have done 
across the program. 

Ms. SCHAKOWSKY. What would be the consequences do you think 
if this investigation ended up in a conclusion that making invest-
ments in companies that do alternative energy, solar in particular, 
what would the consequences for our country be if we were to di-
vest of those kinds of loans? 

Mr. SILVER. I think the consequences would be profound and 
they would be profoundly negative. We are competing with coun-
tries around the world who see this as one of the largest industrial 
sectors and industrial opportunities of the next generation, and if 
we cede the field, if we walk off of the field, there is no way that 
we can succeed because this—these industries are different in kind 
than perhaps the software industry. You need platform companies 
here in order to be able to succeed. 
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As I pointed out earlier in my testimony, five of the largest solar 
panel companies are in China. Seven are in Asia. The eighth is in 
Europe, and there are only two here. You need to build out at 
scale. You need to deploy commercially because that is how you 
build out the supply chains in these countries. You have to create 
what economists call demand pull. And if you don’t do that, you 
can’t keep those supply chains alive and they can’t, in turn, reduce 
their costs. So consequently, we have underinvested in the supply 
chains in this country in clean energy for decades and we are only 
now beginning to catch up. 

Ms. SCHAKOWSKY. Thank you. Thank you for your work. 
Mr. SILVER. Thank you. 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentlelady’s time has expired. The gentleman 

from Georgia, Mr. Gingrey, is recognized for 5 minutes. 
Mr. GINGREY. Mr. Chairman, thank you. 
I first off wanted to make a statement in regard to a couple of 

my colleagues on the other side of the aisle comparing Solyndra— 
this bankrupt company totally unproven technology—to the South-
ern Company. I take a little exception to that comparison. South-
ern Company owns Mississippi Power, Alabama Power, Georgia 
Power, among others, and employs literally thousands of people. It 
is closely regulated by the Georgia Public Service Commission, has 
3 nuclear power facilities, 2 in Georgia, 1 in Alabama with 5 reac-
tors that have been in production for years. So this loan guarantee 
to start up 2 additional reactors at Plant Vogtle by the Southern 
Company, comparing that loan guarantee to this loan guarantee for 
a company like Solyndra is a little disingenuous. 

But let me go ahead and start the questioning with you, Mr. Sil-
ver. When you met with committee staff in March of this year, you 
represented that the restructuring agreement your agency reached 
with Solyndra in 2011, I believe February, had positioned the DOT 
and the United States taxpayer for maximum recovery. But the 
company is now bankrupt and it turns out the government is now 
in a second position to Solyndra’s investors in the deal, those that 
put up an additional 75 million in that restructuring. Why did the 
DOT allow Solyndra’s investors to be first in line to recover rather 
than the taxpayer? Under the Energy Policy Act, isn’t your number 
one duty to protect the taxpayer funds? 

Mr. SILVER. It is absolutely one of our essential concerns to focus 
as much as we can on the security of the taxpayer monies, and that 
is why we reached the decision we did. A restructuring is always 
by definition a decision among a set of tough choices because it 
means by definition a company is struggling. The fundamental 
question that we were trying to answer—— 

Mr. GINGREY. Yes, but let me interrupt you. If you have the legal 
authority to make those tough choices, the Energy Policy Act of 
2005 expressly states ‘‘the obligation on loan guarantee shall be 
subject to the condition that it is not subordinate to other financ-
ing.’’ This language makes Congress’ intent seem pretty clear to 
me, to protect the taxpayers’ money. Isn’t this exactly what the 
Solyndra restructuring did, make the taxpayers’ interest subject to 
other financing? Doesn’t the Solyndra restructuring violate the 
law? 
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Mr. SILVER. Congressman, I am not a lawyer but I will tell you 
that the decision was reviewed by the Loan Guarantee counsel, by 
DOE counsel, and by OMB counsel, and the conclusion of that 
analysis was that projects needed to have—be in the senior-secured 
position at issuance, as indeed this loan was, as indeed every of our 
loans is. But I will tell you—while not a lawyer, I will tell you as 
a businessman that if you do not permit restructuring of trans-
actions and the tools required to do that, lenders will be—— 

Mr. GINGREY. Let me interrupt. I understand that. I understand 
that in the private sector, and of course, you came from the private 
sector. I think you mentioned earlier involved in hedge fund activ-
ity and that sort of thing and a lot of wheeling and dealing and 
that is permitted. But in this particular instance—now, you said 
you received a legal memorandum on DOE’s interpretation of the 
Energy Policy Act, correct? 

Mr. SILVER. As I said, counsel at—from the loan program at the 
general counsel of the DOE and at OMB all reviewed this matter. 

Mr. GINGREY. Who reviewed the memorandum? 
Mr. SILVER. Which lawyers? 
Mr. GINGREY. Yes. 
Mr. SILVER. I am not sure which. 
Mr. GINGREY. But it was approved by the general counsel. You 

just don’t know which lawyers? 
Mr. SILVER. I don’t know which staff lawyers did the work, no, 

sir. 
Mr. GINGREY. OK. But it was approved by the general counsel? 
Mr. SILVER. It was certainly reviewed. 
Mr. GINGREY. I want to discuss one part of the legal opinion. Will 

the committee clerk please put the language from the statute on 
the screen? I believe that is slide number 1. Yes. Just look at what 
it says and let me read it to you because I am kind of in the corner 
here and I can’t read the monitor. But number 3, subordination, 
‘‘The obligation shall be subject to the condition that the obliga-
tion’’—the loan—‘‘is not subordinate to other financing.’’ That is 
part of the Energy Policy Act of 2005. The DOE legal opinion seems 
to be based on the use of the word ‘‘is’’ in the statute. The legal 
opinion states, ‘‘The reading of the provision is reinforced by the 
use of the word ’is,’ which we viewed as confirming the intent that 
the condition be satisfied at a single point in time,’’ meaning you 
can’t subordinate when the guarantee is issued but you can at re-
structuring. Is DOE basing its opinion that taxpayers can be sec-
ond in line to investors based on what the meaning of ’is’ is? 
Wasn’t DOE’s tortured interpretation exactly the opposite of that 
plain language in the statute? 

Mr. SILVER. I am not a lawyer, sir. I relied on counsel’s judgment 
on that. 

Mr. GINGREY. You didn’t have a very good lawyer and I think 
you got bad advice. I yield back. 

Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman from Texas is recognized for 5 min-
utes, Mr. Green. 

Mr. GREEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And I have some ques-
tions but I am shocked that my Republican colleagues be concerned 
about somebody coming from a private sector to the government 
payroll. I thought that is what we needed more folks from the pri-
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vate sector. So, you know, I don’t like wheelie-dealie either but it 
sounds terrible when you hear it. 

But Mr. Silver and Mr. Zients, I want to ask some questions 
about that legal basis on restructuring the loan, and if you could 
put that section back up that my colleague from Georgia had be-
cause that is the series of questions I am going to ask about. 

The committee’s investigation revealed that there appears to 
have been 2 major legal questions under discussion as the Solyndra 
restructuring was going forward—the first to the extent which the 
DOE had authority to subordinate the U.S. creditor position to pri-
vate investors, and second was whether the restructure should be 
considered a modification of the loan. The first question, Mr. Silver, 
what does it mean to subordinate an interest? 

Mr. SILVER. It means that new capital coming in would be in a 
prime position on exit depending on the structure of the exit. I 
might point out here, Congressman, that typically in a restruc-
turing in which new capital comes in—and you have to ask yourself 
the very obvious question—why would any capital—new capital 
come into a troubled situation if they did not come in in a prime 
position? But here—and typically in the private sector and in loans 
in other federal agencies, the prime trumps other subordinated cap-
ital all the way through. In the transaction we structured, we actu-
ally were able to ensure that it was only in the event of liquidation 
that that would be a senior position. In the event that the company 
as a sold as a turnkey operation, which is still possible, it will not 
be in a senior position. 

Mr. GREEN. OK. There is language in Section 1702 that my col-
league pointed out in the Energy Policy Act that the senior position 
is designed to prevent the subordination of government’s interest 
in these loans. It reads, ‘‘the obligation shall be subject to the con-
dition that the obligation is not subordinate to other financing,’’ but 
your legal staff determined that there was a legitimate legal basis 
to subordinate the government’s interest in Solyndra in this case. 
Can you describe for us your staff’s legal rationale? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, as best I can not being a lawyer, and that is 
that the judgment was made that the law required that the loans 
at issuance be in a senior secured position as I said, indeed, as 
Solyndra was and in fact I want to assure the committee as all the 
transactions that we have closed to date are. But that in the event 
that a project struggled and there is no surprise as to the fact that 
projects struggle from time to time, we had the authority to figure 
out other solutions. I should remind the committee that absent the 
ability to do this, this company would have closed then with the 
1,100 jobs lost then and the likelihood of any real recovery to the 
taxpayer being relatively de minimis because at the time the loan 
was restructured, although the physical building has been built, 
the plant had not been fitting out. It is also an adage of project fi-
nance and particularly restructuring work in project finance that 
the value of a completed project is infinitely greater than an incom-
plete project. 

Mr. GREEN. The documents provided to the committee by the 
OMB suggest that your staff may have had some concerns about 
this approach. However, ultimately, you did not step in and stop 
DOE from subordinating the interest. Why not? 
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Mr. ZIENTS. OMB’s role here is in oversight of the program and 
OMB’s career staff and lawyers—and again I am not a lawyer—de-
termined that—— 

Mr. GREEN. You know, I keep hearing that but I don’t know 
if—— 

Mr. ZIENTS. General counsel—— 
Mr. GREEN [continuing]. A law license shows anything on com-

mon sense. 
Mr. ZIENTS. General counsel’s determination was that this was— 

was that the DOE approach was reasonable. 
Mr. SILVER. Congressman, if I could just add one thing to that. 

You have asked—people have asked about the subordination. I 
want to make it clear that the billion dollars of equity—of private 
equity that went into this company originally is wiped out in that 
scenario. We are not talking about all of that private capital com-
ing forward, just the newest piece of money that came in in order 
to provide the company with a fighting chance to restructure its op-
erations. 

Mr. GREEN. The second legal issue raised by the restructuring 
was whether it was a modification of the loan agreement. My un-
derstanding is that the Federal Credit Reporting Act generally pro-
hibits loan modifications that increase taxpayer cost but the defini-
tion of modification does not include a restructuring to work out a 
troubled loan or a loan that is in imminent default. Is my under-
standing correct? 

Mr. ZIENTS. This situation was ultimately deemed a workout for 
2 reasons: first, that the company was in imminent default, which 
it clearly—DOE had determined it was; and secondly, that it was 
in the best interest of taxpayers to restructure the loan as opposed 
to liquidation. So when those 2 conditions are met, a loan is consid-
ered a workout in that scenario. 

Mr. GREEN. OK. So it was a workout and not a modification? 
Mr. ZIENTS. Yes. 
Mr. GREEN. OK. Mr. Silver, what was the DOE’s rationale for de-

termining that restructuring did not constitute a modification? 
Mr. SILVER. Exactly as Mr. Zients has indicated. 
Mr. GREEN. Mr. Zients, your staff has also expressed concern 

over whether the restructuring constituted modification. What 
analysis did your staff go through making the determination that 
the change is not a legal modification of the loan? 

Mr. ZIENTS. At the beginning of the process when we first heard 
about the financial troubles, the staff’s orientation is going to be 
that there could be a modification. As the staff worked with DOE 
to understand the dire financial situation and the fact that the 
company was in imminent default and that DOE’s analysis was 
reasonable, that the taxpayers were better served through a re-
structuring rather than a liquidation, OMB career staff determined 
that it was indeed a workout. 

Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. GREEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman from Pennsylvania, Mr. Murphy, is 

recognized for 5 minutes. 
Mr. MURPHY. Thank you. 
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Mr. Silver, I just want to get a couple things on this in terms 
of your expertise. When you were managing director of Core Cap-
ital Partners, had you ever managed something—a loan of this size 
before? 

Mr. SILVER. Core Capital Partners was a venture fund, sir, so we 
didn’t provide that. We provided equity. 

Mr. MURPHY. You provided equity. Have you ever provided eq-
uity of this size? 

Mr. SILVER. Not individually in a loan at Core Capital but in 
other configurations, yes. 

Mr. MURPHY. At Tiger Management had you ever—— 
Mr. SILVER. Yes, sir. 
Mr. MURPHY. So you are used to that. You are used to reviewing 

these things. And I go back to this on Slide 5 if somebody could 
up Slide 5. In this when they had in August of 2009, someone 
wrote this. I can’t quite read that up there—but wrote this in 
terms of saying that some issues with regard to the concerns about 
the health of the company there, major outstanding issues at the 
point in 2008, but it says an email the following day states, ‘‘the 
issue of working capital remains unresolved. The issue is cash bal-
ances, not cost. Solyndra seems to agree that the model runs out 
of cash September 2011 even in the base case without any stress. 
There is a liquidity issue.’’ When did you become aware of that 
email? 

Mr. SILVER. I have not seen this specific email. That email was 
written in August of 2009. I arrived in November of 2009. There 
would have been no reason for me to know of its existence while 
we worked on the company but—— 

Mr. MURPHY. So you would not have known of anybody’s concern 
that there wasn’t enough capital to keep the company going? 

Mr. SILVER. Certainly. The career staff monitoring this was deep-
ly aware of the issues and—— 

Mr. MURPHY. And your job is to have oversight over this staff? 
Mr. SILVER. My job is to have oversight over the staff. 
Mr. MURPHY. So you are saying you had oversight but you were 

not aware of a memo saying this company didn’t have the money 
to keep going? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, I am not aware of this particular email, but 
certainly I was aware of the company’s status and situation. 

Mr. MURPHY. At that time? And yet things were still going 
through? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, the loan had already gone through, sir. We—— 
Mr. MURPHY. But what I am concerned about here is as we are 

looking at this—and next we can move forward to the restruc-
turing. Now, the restructuring—— 

Mr. SILVER. Maybe I should clarify exactly what the loan was for. 
We provided a loan guarantee to support the construction of a 
physical plant called Fab 2. 

Mr. MURPHY. And when was that approved? 
Mr. SILVER. That is what the loan was for. It was approved in 

September and that plant actually was delivered on time and on 
budget. The way the loan worked—— 
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Mr. MURPHY. On time on budget for a company that staff are 
saying couldn’t function regardless of what they had in terms of a 
building. 

Mr. SILVER. No, that doesn’t actually say, sir, that the company 
can’t function. That says that there will be a liquidity issue in 
2011, several years in—— 

Mr. MURPHY. Meaning they run out of money. 
Mr. SILVER. No, meaning that they will have to address that 

issue. 
Mr. MURPHY. And if they don’t, they run out of money. 
Mr. SILVER. Conceivably, yes. 
Mr. MURPHY. I am just trying to establish your job is you have 

handled loans like this. Would you offer a loan to a company that 
says they are not going to have the money to pay it back unless 
they make some changes? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, again, I wasn’t there when this loan was 
issued, sir, but what I can tell you is—— 

Mr. MURPHY. But in the time you have been there, you became 
aware of this. Did you begin to address these issues with Solyndra 
to say show me the money? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, staff talked with the company on a regular—— 
Mr. MURPHY. Sir, I really want you to stop throwing everybody 

else under the bus. I hear you throwing all your staff under the 
bus. I want to know. You are in charge, you have handled loans 
of this size, and now you are saying it is everybody else’s fault but 
you except you are in charge. You tell me what you as a person 
in charge did with half a billion dollars of taxpayers’ money now 
saying it is all my staff’s fault, I didn’t know, I can’t do anything 
about it. You tell me what you are going to tell the taxpayers when 
we are in the hole for so much money in this country and you are 
dealing with this in a very casual cavalier way. Whose fault is it? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, sir, first let me say that the 200-odd profes-
sionals working in the Loan Guarantee Program are exceptional 
professionals—— 

Mr. SILVER. And you throw them all under the bus it is a pretty 
bumpy ride, but you are the driver, Mr. Silver. You are the driver. 
And now you are saying this is restructured. And going back to the 
slide that says, ‘‘the obligation shall be subject to the condition that 
the obligation is not subordinate to other financing and now it gets 
restructured so the taxpayers don’t get their money back. 

Mr. SILVER. The restructuring—any restructuring, Congressman, 
is based on a binary decision as to what is the better outcome for 
recovery, a liquidation, a sale of assets at a moment in time or a 
restructuring. 

Mr. MURPHY. Who was it that made the decision that this act 
passed into law by the Federal Government was going to not be ad-
hered to? Who made that decision? 

Mr. SILVER. As I said it was reviewed by legal counsel for the 
loan program—— 

Mr. MURPHY. So you have no responsibility in this either. So we 
are throwing him under the bus, too? 

Mr. SILVER. I am not a lawyer, sir. I rely on counsel. 
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Mr. MURPHY. Are we throwing her under the bus, too? Did the 
Secretary of Energy have anything to do with this decision or is he 
under the bus, too? 

Mr. SILVER. Not to my knowledge. 
Mr. MURPHY. So no one is responsible. This is an incredible orga-

nization you work for. No one in the Federal Government is respon-
sible for half a billion dollars of taxpayers’ money. This is phe-
nomenal. What do you do for a living? If you don’t know what is 
happening and everybody else is to blame, what do we go back and 
tell our constituents who have to work hard with so many people 
in this country in poverty, so many people in problems, we are say-
ing this federal agency is saying we don’t take any responsibility. 
It is everybody else’s fault. 

Mr. SILVER. We work to the fullest of our capabilities, Congress-
man, to ensure that these projects are as de-risked as possible—— 

Mr. MURPHY. I understand but now the taxpayers are on the 
hook for this. 

Mr. SILVER. As was pointed out earlier, there are always chal-
lenges in investing in innovation. And I should point out that Con-
gress through the appropriation of $2.4 billion of credit—— 

Mr. MURPHY. When did this company actually get their check? 
Mr. SILVER. It doesn’t work like that, Congressman. They draw 

against a loan—— 
Mr. MURPHY. Exactly. And at any point you could have stopped 

it when you found out the information that they couldn’t exist. And 
that was under your watch, Mr. Silver. 

Mr. SILVER. Our transaction—our loan was for the construction 
of a physical plant. 

Mr. MURPHY. And at some point when you realized they couldn’t 
function anymore in that physical plant, that is when you step in 
and take leadership and stop throwing your staff under the bus. I 
yield back. 

Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman yields back, but the question Mr. 
Murphy is really asking, should someone be fired, Mr. Silver? 
Should anybody be fired? Yes or no? 

Mr. SILVER. The people in the Loan Guarantee Program at the 
Department of Energy, at OMB, our colleagues at OMB and alike 
have worked—— 

Mr. STEARNS. OK. So you are saying no one should be fired. 
Mr. SILVER. I am saying that we are doing the best job we know 

how to do—— 
Mr. STEARNS. All right. All right. I understand what you are say-

ing. The gentleman from Virginia, Mr. Griffith, is recognized for 5 
minutes. 

Mr. GRIFFITH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. If we could have Slide 
1 again. Yes, I am concerned about this ‘‘is’’ situation, but I would 
point out in paragraphs 1 and 2 it references that ‘‘no guarantee 
shall be made unless’’ which gives some flexibility, but in para-
graph 3 of Section 1702 it says, ‘‘the obligation shall be subject to 
condition that the obligation is not subordinate to other financing. 
Have you read the memorandum of law on this? 

Mr. SILVER. I have not read the full memorandum, no, but I have 
been briefed by counsel—— 
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Mr. GRIFFITH. Would it shock you to know that if you read it and 
you pay attention to what is being said—and I have it right here. 
I would be happy to give you a copy with my notes on it if you 
want them. It looks like it is a law school project where you are 
told to come up with an answer. Here is the question, give me the 
right answer, defend it the best you can. That is what it looks like. 

Because under this analysis, what it says is is that if we close 
the loan in the morning and at lunch somebody has an epiphany 
and says you know what? I think that we should see if we can get 
some more money from somebody else and we are going to subordi-
nate that money and we are not going to follow this paragraph. Be-
cause there is no line. And in fact somebody raised that issue the 
memorandum points out. Somebody raised the issue. Should there 
be a line between when the loan is granted and possible default? 
And they said no, that is not necessary because the law doesn’t say 
that. You can change it anytime you want to if the Secretary 
thinks it is appropriate. Does that make good common sense as Mr. 
Green pointed out to you? You don’t have to be a lawyer to know 
good common sense. Does it make common sense that the Congress 
of the United States responsible for setting our legislative policy 
would say that you are not to subordinate but under the interpre-
tation of your lawyers, they could subordinate it after lunch for a 
loan closed in the morning? Does that make good common sense to 
you, sir? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, Congressman, what makes sense to me is to 
ensure that we have the tools available to us to do whatever is nec-
essary in a troubled situation to secure the taxpayers’ interest. 

Mr. GRIFFITH. Even if it is in violation of the law and what com-
mon sense would tell you, the common English always trumps legal 
mumbo-jumbo and the common English makes it clear you are not 
to subordinate. But in January when you were at the helm your 
people subordinated $75 million of this money, American taxpayer 
dollars to private investors. And part of the deal was they were 
going to invest more money in August. Isn’t that true? 

Mr. SILVER. That is true. 
Mr. GRIFFITH. And they did not do so. Isn’t that also true? 
Mr. SILVER. That is true. 
Mr. GRIFFITH. And when did your observer tell you that they 

weren’t going to invest anymore money so that you might have 
been able to anticipate the bankruptcy? When did your observer 
tell you that? 

Mr. SILVER. In late July. 
Mr. GRIFFITH. And weren’t we trying to get information from you 

all at that time or was that the other fellow? 
Mr. SILVER. I don’t know what you are referring to, Congress-

man. 
Mr. GRIFFITH. The documents that we were requesting when we 

had a subpoena. I guess that was in—— 
Mr. SILVER. We sent you, as I said, 35,000 pages of material. 
Mr. GRIFFITH [continuing]. July. All right. Just so we know, you 

have got all these other loans out there, 4 to manufacturers, which 
would be in a similar situation to this one. Have you subordinated 
any of that money? 
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Mr. SILVER. No other transactions have had subordinations. I 
would go further and say that of the 2—there are only 2 deals that 
have actually closed and completed construction and both of those 
are repaying on a timely basis. 

Mr. GRIFFITH. All right. And if you didn’t look at the memo-
randum, attached to the memorandum there are all kinds of charts 
on how Solyndra is going to make money. Did you look at those fi-
nancial charts? 

Mr. SILVER. Sure, I have seen the company’s financials. 
Mr. GRIFFITH. All right. You earlier testified that part of the rea-

son Solyndra went under was the fact that the Chinese were able 
to make their product cheaper and the Europeans stopped buying. 
Now, while it may have gotten worse, wasn’t that also true in Jan-
uary when you restructured this loan? 

Mr. SILVER. It has been true for the last several years. 
Mr. GRIFFITH. OK. In that I would have to ask you, then, when 

you look at these numbers, how in the world if you know that and 
your analysts have told you that, how in the world could you antici-
pate that profits at Solyndra would double next year? Because that 
is in all the models that are attached to the legal memorandum. 

Mr. SILVER. I will leave it to the company’s management team 
to describe their financial projections, but what I will say to 
you—— 

Mr. GRIFFITH. Wait a minute. Wait a minute. You are concerned 
enough you put an observer on the board and you subordinated 
American taxpayer dollars but you are going to leave it to their 
management to determine how they can say that they are going to 
double it? Doesn’t that sound like that is not common sense again? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, with all due respect, revenues are not actually 
the driver of how a loan or loan guarantee would necessarily get 
paid. What we focus on are cash flows and those can be managed 
in a variety of different ways. 

Mr. GRIFFITH. But you would acknowledge that if their model 
was somewhat weak to begin with—and I recognize there is risk 
whenever you are doing something new—but if their model was 
weak to begin with and then market gets worse, doesn’t that mean 
that maybe we should have just not thrown good money after bad 
because now we are in a worse position in the bankruptcy courts 
to get our money back, are we not? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, at the time—— 
Mr. GRIFFITH. Are we in worse position than we would have been 

if we had just let them go into bankruptcy, Chapter 11, last Janu-
ary? We are or are we not? 

Mr. SILVER. That will depend—not necessarily. That will depend 
on the outcome of the bankruptcy. As I tried to indicate before, 
when you are looking at this issue and admitting that there are no 
good choices, one of the issues is liquidation and you have to deter-
mine a liquidation—— 

Mr. GRIFFITH. Is it the administration’s policy that bankruptcy is 
a good thing? 

Mr. SILVER. I can’t speak for the administration but common 
sense would suggest that it is not. 

Mr. GRIFFITH. I would agree with you. I yield back. 
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Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman yields back, time has expired. The 
gentleman from California, Mr. Bilbray, is recognized for 5 min-
utes. 

Mr. BILBRAY. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Chair-
man, before I go on, I would like to just address the ranking mem-
ber of this committee because I hope she recognizes and we all rec-
ognize this is not a Democrat or Republican issue when we are 
talking about this ‘‘is.’’ This is specifically a threat to the legislative 
process when you can have an attorney play this word game and 
does that mean that Democrat or Republican, when they specifi-
cally direct in legislation that we now have to say not only it will 
not happen but we must say it will not and shall never be allowed 
to happen? Do we have to play this word game? Because I don’t 
think it is a Democrat or Republican issue. I think this is an issue 
about the law is the law and I don’t care how convoluted an attor-
ney wants to do it. This doesn’t pass the smell test in any way in 
the world. So I just think this is really an affront on both sides of 
the aisle by this manipulation. And just admit it that it was. We 
tried to get the job done and we crossed over a line to a common-
sense person and anybody rational would say you crossed the line 
of what the law specifically said. 

Now, that aside, there are a lot people talking about solar power 
here, some of us who worked at citing solar factories here. Mr. Sil-
ver, are you comfortable, first of all, with the thin film technology 
that was chosen by this company? Did you have any concerns about 
them using thin film technology? 

Mr. SILVER. Congressman, I am, first of all, not a solar technical 
analyst but I am highly comfortable with the fact that the solar ex-
perts at the Department of Energy, of whom there are many, and 
the independent engineers which were well known and well re-
spected firms were qualified—— 

Mr. BILBRAY. Were you informed that there has been more false 
starts and more failure in thin film than any other form of photo-
voltaic production? 

Mr. SILVER. I don’t know that to be true or not but—— 
Mr. BILBRAY. OK. And were you aware that when we talk about 

China that China has concentrated almost ostensibly in 
polycrystalline technology and avoid thin film? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, China has focused on the market segment you 
are describing in part because it is a very cost-effective way to 
mass produce those panels. The Solyndra technology was designed 
in its time and place to circumvent or to overcome 2 fundamental 
challenges—the very high price of polysilicon and the installation 
costs which they refer to as—— 

Mr. BILBRAY. And they also have in fact the historical problem 
of a lack of durability and the loss of proficiency of thin film as op-
posed to mono- and poly-technologies. But my question to you, you 
are a business man. You are looking at a company. Did you review 
their proposal for the construction of their factory, the technology, 
the siting of it, the planned development of it, and its related costs 
and oversight? 

Mr. SILVER. I am sorry. What is the—— 
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Mr. BILBRAY. Did you look at where they were talking about 
building this factory, how they were building it, and the related 
issues of the cost of just building the factory? 

Mr. SILVER. No, sir, because the loan was issued before I arrived 
at the Department. 

Mr. BILBRAY. OK. When you went and renegotiated it, did you 
take a look at what was being proposed? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, at that point, the plant was largely built, al-
though it was not, as I say, fitted out. 

Mr. BILBRAY. OK. Did anybody down the line raise the issue that 
the proposal was to build the facility in the State of California in 
the Bay area in a nonattainment area, can you think of as a busi-
ness man anywhere in America where you probably have more reg-
ulatory obstructionism to the construction of a manufacturing oper-
ation than you would have in a nonattainment area in the State 
of California? 

Mr. SILVER. I am not qualified to answer that question, but what 
I can say is that the investors that backed this company and the 
management team that originally led it must have concluded that 
this was the right place to do it. 

Mr. BILBRAY. Mr. Silver, are you aware of anybody in your de-
partment that have notified grant applicants that if they want to 
go get the grant that their production should be moved out of the 
State of California to a State that has less regulatory obstruc-
tionism? 

Mr. SILVER. We don’t issue grants in the loan program, sir, but 
I am not aware of that, no. 

Mr. BILBRAY. OK. Well, maybe we ought to talk about the fact— 
let me just point out, this grant application was asking to take 30 
acres of agricultural land in the State of California in a nonattain-
ment area. It was going to be required to be able to go not just 
through the DOD and the U.S. but having to get the Environ-
mental Quality Act under Sequel for California, has to get a permit 
from the city, air quality from the Bay area, air quality which is 
nonattainment area with some of the strictest air pollution regs in 
the entire world. It was going to require a general permit for dis-
charge and storm water, which means that not only did you have 
the California environmental agencies involved, not only did you 
have the State Water Quality Control Board involved, you had the 
local regional water Quality Control Board that you have to get a 
permit from. 

The fact is is that the California Department of Occupational 
Safety, which has some of the most restrictive regulations in the 
world you had to get a permit from, you had the hazardous waste 
generation, which California again under HAZMAT has some of the 
most restricted funds. Then you get into wastewater discharge, and 
these are just some of the permits down the line. 

Nobody in your department or when they reviewed this raised 
the issue that this is not only a terrible place to try to site a facility 
but you are proposing—didn’t anybody raise the issue of why build 
a whole new facility rather than moving into an existing aban-
doned facility in a State that has 12 percent unemployment and 
huge empty resources? Anybody even talk about the question of 
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why would you build a new facility when there are warehouses 
available? 

Mr. Chairman? Would he answer the question? 
Mr. STEARNS. Time has expired but you are welcome, Mr. Silver, 

to answer the question yes or no. 
Mr. SILVER. Sure, I will to the best of my knowledge. At the risk 

of repeating myself since I wasn’t there, I don’t know what the na-
ture of the discussions were, but I can tell you that applicants for 
loan guarantees are required to have all of their siting permits and 
other kinds of permits in place by the time the project is under-
taken. 

Mr. BILBRAY. And all of it was stated down that it will attain it 
before construction when they get in the line? And all I got to say 
is somebody who is siting—we are siting existing warehouses. It is 
absurd with the kind of vacancy we have in the State of California 
for anybody to even talk about or come to you or any government 
agency and say we want to build a whole new area on ag land. I 
yield back. 

Mr. STEARNS. The time of the gentleman has expired. The gen-
tleman from Louisiana, Mr. Scalise, is recognized for 5 minutes. 

Mr. SCALISE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to thank you for 
calling this hearing. You know, we have been pressing on this issue 
and asking a lot of questions about this Solyndra loan program for 
months now on this subcommittee, but I think it is really impor-
tant that we have this hearing now because while Solyndra was 
touted as really one of the poster children by President Obama of 
his first stimulus bill, and clearly there is a lot of evidence that 
shows that this was something that the White House really wanted 
to move through quickly and the emails indicate that. 

But while this was one of the poster children of the first stimulus 
bill, the President right now is touting what I call son of stimulus, 
another bill to come through, spend more taxpayer money, to do 
more things like this. And in fact if you look at some of the issues 
that we have raised about this loan program, some of these projects 
that were funded by stimulus, just Solyndra alone was touted to 
create 3,000 jobs. The President touted that. It is going to be a 
great success story. And of course, we have seen the failure there. 
And a lot of us are questioning this kind of double down son of 
stimulus approach where they are going to come back and do more 
of this kind of same failed policy of just spending money we don’t 
have. 

And, you know, of course the President said in front of our cham-
ber last week, pass the bill now. We hadn’t even seen the bill. The 
President didn’t even give us the text of the bill and he said pass 
the bill now, called on the American people ask us to pass the bill 
now. I hope you understand now why a lot of us are real skeptical 
when the President says pass a bill now because he did that with 
the stimulus bill and we see the failure there. He did that with the 
healthcare bill. We are still unearthing problems there. So when 
the President says pass a bill, you can wonder why some of us say 
let me read the bill first and let us look at the details. 

But now when we get specifically to this issue of what happened 
with Solyndra, Mr. Silver, I know you have testified that you 
weren’t in your position until November of 2009. When you came 
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in, you have acknowledged there was a file on Solyndra. Did you 
read that file? 

Mr. SILVER. I read through all of the materials for the entire pro-
gram when I arrived. 

Mr. SCALISE. Did you see the concerns that were being raised by 
your own agency back then prior to your coming that under what 
they were looking at, Solyndra could go bankrupt by September of 
2011? 

Mr. SILVER. I certainly saw all of the materials that were, you 
know, related to that discussion. I need to reemphasize, Congress-
man, that the loan guarantee was specifically for the construction 
of a physical factory, which was done. And the way that works—— 

Mr. SCALISE. And look, it is your job ultimately to go through 
that loan guarantee and see if there are things that meet the tax-
payer interests—— 

Mr. SILVER. That is correct. 
Mr. SCALISE [continuing]. But also I think you need to also be 

aware of the way that the program is being implemented. After you 
came in, the Government Accountability Office did a report that 
was, I think, pretty scathing about your loan program. They actu-
ally made some recommendations. They pointed out some prob-
lems. They pointed out, again, after you came in, GAO put this re-
port out. They pointed out that the loan program treated applicants 
inconsistently favoring some and disadvantaging others. And they 
gave examples. Did you read this GAO report? 

Mr. SILVER. I did, Congressman, and if you will give me a minute 
to respond to—— 

Mr. SCALISE. I can’t give you that long. I don’t have that much 
time. 

Mr. SILVER [continuing]. The GAO question. First, let me note 
that while the report did come out after I arrived, it covers the 
2008 and 2009 time period, and so I was there for approximately 
1 month—— 

Mr. SCALISE. So did you make any changes based on the prob-
lems that they now know? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, we have actually made substantial changes as 
we have grown the organization. 

Mr. SCALISE. All right. But let me ask you this. You were here 
after you all did the restructuring of Solyndra’s loan. Who made 
the decision to put the taxpayers in the back of the line and subor-
dinate in violation of federal law? Who made that decision? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, first, Congressman, as I have said before, I 
don’t know that it was in violation of any law. There were mul-
tiple—— 

Mr. SCALISE. Someone made the decision. Did you make the deci-
sion to subordinate—— 

Mr. SILVER. There were a variety of legal—— 
Mr. SCALISE. Did you? Did you make it? 
Mr. SILVER. The loan program—— 
Mr. SCALISE. This is a yes or no question. Did you make the deci-

sion to subordinate the taxpayers and put them in the back of the 
line when the decision was made to restructure because you were 
there? 
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Mr. SILVER. The question is not—does not have a yes or no an-
swer, Congressman. 

Mr. SCALISE. So you don’t know? You either made the decision 
or you didn’t. I think—— 

Mr. SILVER. The process—— 
Mr. SCALISE [continuing]. That is a straightforward question. 

And look, we have been asking for months now, in fact, we on this 
subcommittee asked your agency for some of these documents prior 
to the modification of the loan, prior to the restructuring, and you 
all stonewalled us as you are stonewalling right now refusing to 
answer a direct question. And $535 million of taxpayer money is 
at stake. Maybe if you would have given us that information back 
months ago when we asked for it before you restructured, the tax-
payers wouldn’t be in the back of the line today. So you can under-
stand, I would hope, why we are saying who made the decision to 
put the taxpayers in the back of the line? Can you get me that in-
formation if you can’t answer it directly now? 

Mr. SILVER. I am happy to meet with you to describe the—— 
Mr. SCALISE. No, I want in writing—I am going to ask on behalf 

of the committee, Mr. Chairman, if you can get us in writing the 
names of the people in the decision-making process—and it might 
be multiple people—who made the decision to put the taxpayers in 
the back of the line meaning subordinate the taxpayers in what 
many of us think are in violation of the law. I don’t know what 
your counsel thinks and your counsel may be part of this list, but 
I want to know if you are part of the list. I want to know if the 
Secretary is part of the list. I want to know if anyone in the White 
House is part of that decision-making chain that said we are going 
to subordinate the taxpayers of the United States in restructuring 
this Solyndra loan. I think we deserve that answer and I am ask-
ing you to get that information, however many people it is. But 
somebody made that decision or multiple people, but you can’t say 
nobody made it because the decision was made. Would you at least 
agree with that and then get that information to this committee? 

Mr. SILVER. We will work with you to provide you what you 
need. 

Mr. SCALISE. Thank you. And I yield back. 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman’s time has expired. The gentleman 

from Colorado, Mr. Gardner, is recognized for 5 minutes. 
Mr. GARDNER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you to the 

witnesses as well for your time today. And I would yield the 30 sec-
onds to my colleague, Mr. Bilbray, from California. 

Mr. BILBRAY. Mr. Silver, my biggest concern I just want to say 
in closing as somebody who supports solar energy, I think we got 
to keep the science not the blind faith, and it appears to me that 
this entire process was driven more by an assumption that any-
thing solar was good and you could force it through and it was all 
going to work out. And the lack of critical review for this produc-
tion I think is the greatest threat for future solar. It is this kind 
of blind faith that we have got to avoid. This should be driven by 
science and good investment, not by an assumption that whatever 
is renewable obviously is going to be great. And I think this failure 
was driven more by that. I don’t think it was a criminal intent. But 
that criminal intent you can bust one guy. The trouble is with this 
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kind of prejudice for a technology blindly, there is more threat to 
that happening in the future and not just financially but the en-
ergy independence of this country and the competitiveness of this 
country. And that is what I am critical on. 

Mr. SILVER. Congressman, I wholeheartedly agree with you that 
we ought to back the science, which is why a large group of sophis-
ticated private investors who have done their own—had done their 
own due diligence, why the loan program staff from the 2007 to 
2009 time frame using independent engineers, other outside advi-
sors, and the solar experts at Department of Energy came to that 
conclusion. 

Mr. BILBRAY. Well, the record shows that there was political 
interjection, there was PR issues. The preconceived idea that if it 
was solar, it had to be a great package, and frankly there is good 
stuff, there is bad stuff, and the greatest threat to the good stuff 
is allowing garbage to get through the system and being treated as 
if its sacred rather than being critical about it. And it wasn’t crit-
ical enough and history has proven that it wasn’t a critical review 
of this. We got to make sure that doesn’t happen again. I yield back 
to the gentleman. 

Mr. GARDNER. Thank you. And reclaiming my time. 
Mr. Silver, I want to go back to this issue of the emails and the 

dismissal by the Credit Committee of this project. January 9—it is 
a Friday—2009, an email was sent from the Credit Committee re-
manding the Solyndra application calling it premature and citing 
a number of unresolved issues. In your testimony, you have said 
that this was over nothing big, no big details—— 

Mr. SILVER. No, I didn’t. I never said that, Congressman. What 
I said was the Credit Committee remanded it back for additional 
work and due diligence was done on that work. And then it was 
brought forward in the time frame that—I should—if I may—— 

Mr. GARDNER. Well, let me just talk—— 
Mr. SILVER [continuing]. I would like to just point out one 

other—— 
Mr. GARDNER [continuing]. About this due diligence—— 
Mr. SILVER. I would like to just point out one other thing which 

is that—— 
Mr. GARDNER. Reclaiming my time. This is my time. I am sorry 

because I want to talk about these matters of due diligence on Jan-
uary 9, what you said, due diligence took place over. Let me read 
these to you. It is Slide #2 if you could put that on there. ‘‘There 
is presently not an independent market study addressing long-term 
prospects for this specific company beyond the sales agreement al-
ready placed. Since the independent credit assessment raised the 
issue of obsolescence in marketing this project, it is important to 
have an independent analysis of that issue as well as the current 
state of the competitive market.’’ Point 2, ‘‘while the sales agree-
ment is said to have been analyzed by the outside legal advisor as-
signed to this case, the committee did not have access to this docu-
ment.’’ Point 3, ‘‘there are questions regarding the nature and 
strength of the parent guarantee for the completion of the project.’’ 
Point 4, ‘‘while it is encouraging to see the apparent progress in the 
development of the product at the Fab 1 facility, there is concern 
regarding the scale-up of production assumed in the plant for Fab 
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2.’’ That was in an email on January 9. That is the areas of due 
diligence that you are saying that you did and you did it by Janu-
ary 26, a Monday, 2009? 

Mr. SILVER. Congressman, I don’t know where—what dates you 
are referring to. Let me—— 

Mr. GARDNER. These are the emails when the Credit Committee 
said no, we are not going to do this and then all of a sudden an 
email just days later, 10 working days later—— 

Ms. DEGETTE. Will the gentleman yield? 
Mr. GARDNER [continuing]. We are going to go forward. 
Ms. DEGETTE. Does the gentleman have copies of those emails? 

The minority has—— 
Mr. GARDNER. I am happy to provide—— 
Ms. DEGETTE. I would appreciate that. 
Mr. GARDNER. Sure. 
Ms. DEGETTE. We don’t have copies of those emails and I don’t 

think the witness does either and I am getting a little lost here. 
Mr. GARDNER. On January 9, 2009, the Credit Committee sent 

an email, and I think if you go to Slide 4 you can see what I am 
talking about. There we go, 2009, talking about the Credit Com-
mittee remand of Solyndra application calling it premature. Janu-
ary 26, we are approaching the beginning of the approval process. 
So the areas of due diligence that you said took place took place 
in 10 working days? These are pretty significant issues. 

Mr. SILVER. No, that is not accurate, Congressman, and if you 
will give me just a moment to try to answer your question. There 
are actually—there is actually an extended period of due diligence 
that takes place here. The Credit Committee—the first Credit Com-
mittee met; then there was a several-month period before it met 
again and I need to make sure this is clear because I don’t think 
it is because I don’t—— 

Mr. GARDNER. It didn’t meet when they made their decision to 
move forward? 

Mr. SILVER. What gets approved at that juncture, Congressman, 
is a conditional commitment, not the final close of the loan. The 
loan itself didn’t close until September and so additional due dili-
gence takes place from the conditional commitment through the 
close of the loan, as is true in every transaction. 

Mr. GARDNER. What changed, then, between January 9 when 
they needed that information and January 26, 10 days later, when 
they evidently didn’t need that information. 

Mr. SILVER. I don’t know what the January 26 date is that you 
are referring to. 

Mr. GARDNER. The January 26 email was right there. It says, ‘‘a 
DOE staff member states that we are approaching the beginning 
of the approval process for Solyndra again.’’ The Credit Committee 
met and said they didn’t do it because they needed this informa-
tion. 

Mr. SILVER. Why do you assume that language says we are be-
ginning—approaching the beginning of an approval process nec-
essarily means anything about the time frame for which due— 
under which due diligence took place? 

Mr. GARDNER. Well, I am assuming that the Credit Committee, 
their observations were taken into account, were they not? 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 12:35 Jun 10, 2013 Jkt 037690 PO 00000 Frm 00091 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 C:\PROGRA~1\WS_FTP\74404.TXT WAYNE



88 

Mr. SILVER. Absolutely, but the beginning—as I read it as you 
are now showing it to me, we are approaching the beginning of the 
approval process, that suggests a pretty open-ended period of time 
during which due diligence was—— 

Mr. GARDNER. So the Credit Committee then at that point, it 
doesn’t matter what the Credit Committee is concerned—— 

Mr. SILVER. No, the Credit Committee met again in March. 
Mr. GARDNER. Because they said we are going to end this. 
Mr. SILVER. No, they said that we were—they were going to meet 

again in March, which they did. 
Mr. DINGELL. Mr. Chairman, where are all—— 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. DINGELL. Mr. Chairman, where are—— 
Mr. STEARNS. We are on the first round—— 
Mr. DINGELL. I have a unanimous consent request—— 
Mr. STEARNS. Yes, you are recognized. 
Mr. DINGELL. Can we put all of these emails into the record? I 

am sitting here, I am seeing a wee bit of information carefully yel-
low-lined that is supposed to tell me what has happened here. I 
don’t think there is any lawyer that would tell you that that would 
be sufficient evidence of anything. The whole document should be 
placed before us so we know—— 

Mr. STEARNS. Well—— 
Mr. DINGELL. If there is wrongdoing here, by golly, let us dig it 

out. But let us see the whole thing. 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. 
Mr. DINGELL. So far we are getting a lot of assumptions and un-

derstandings and comments from the other side in which they are 
saying oh, this is terrible. What has happened here? But I don’t 
know what has happened and to speak perfectly frank with you, I 
don’t see anything up there which tells me that we have a clear 
picture of the problems to which we are inquiring. So if we are 
going to inquire, let us inquire fairly. Let us let everybody see 
them. Is it possible that my Republican colleagues have seen these 
papers and the rest of us have not? 

Mr. STEARNS. We will take the constructive criticism under ad-
visement. We have unanimous consent in which all the documents 
will be made available and a part. 

Mr. STEARNS. And I ask my side, the counsel, to provide the gen-
tleman and your side all these documents, which we have. And 
they have been produced, I am told, so I guess the question is they 
haven’t got to you. Is that a fair assumption? 

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, if the gentleman will yield? 
Mr. DINGELL. I want them in the record, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. STEARNS. Oh, OK. So you have the same documents we do, 

you just want to make sure they are part of the record? 
Mr. DINGELL. I want—— 
Ms. DEGETTE. If the gentleman will yield? 
Mr. DINGELL [continuing]. To see them—— 
Mr. STEARNS. And we pass the unanimous consent—— 
Mr. DINGELL [continuing]. I want to know what they said—— 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. 
Mr. DINGELL [continuing]. And I want them in the record. 
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Mr. STEARNS. They will be put in the record. We had unanimous 
consent to do so. 

Ms. DEGETTE. Yes, and if the gentleman would yield? 
Mr. STEARNS. Yes. 
Ms. DEGETTE. We were told that the documents were produced 

under an agreement with the majority that they were to be con-
fidential and were not to be copied or in any way disseminated. 
We—— 

Mr. STEARNS. At the request of OMB, right? 
Ms. DEGETTE. OK. But—— 
Mr. STEARNS. Yes. 
Ms. DEGETTE [continuing]. What happened was in between yes-

terday when I found this out at about 7:00 p.m. last night and 
today, it turned out that lo, number one, the majority released a 
number of these documents to the press and, number two, the ma-
jority apparently took some of these documents and excerpted them 
in the way that the chairman emeritus is saying and put them on 
slides, which we have never been provided. I am going to tell you, 
Mr. Chairman, I have been on this subcommittee for 15 years and 
I am just as much concerned about this Solyndra loan as everybody 
else is, but the way that the information has just been parceled 
out, the witnesses don’t have the full copies of the emails in front 
of them, the minority doesn’t have the full copies of the emails in 
front of them until we asked for them, that is not in the grand tra-
dition of this subcommittee. 

Mr. STEARNS. We have heard your argument in your opening 
statement and we made a unanimous consent that you all be part 
of the document. I am told that you were given, your staff was 
given all these documents. OMB—— 

Ms. DEGETTE. We were told we couldn’t copy it. 
Mr. STEARNS. OMB is the one that specified that. We have now 

agreed that we are going to make them all public. 
Ms. DEGETTE. Mr. Chairman, they were subpoenaed from OMB. 

OMB doesn’t have the right to tell us whether we can copy—— 
Mr. STEARNS. I understand that. 
Ms. DEGETTE [continuing]. The documents or not. 
Mr. STEARNS. I understand that but we have all agreed that 

OMB can’t tell us and we are going to make these public. 
Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you. 
Mr. STEARNS. And so I appreciate your concern. We have a unan-

imous consent from a member who is on the committee but not on 
the subcommittee, the gentleman from Kansas, Mr. Pompeo. Is 
there any objection to allowing him in the first round—we are 
going to go for a second round—— 

Mr. WAXMAN. Well—— 
Mr. STEARNS [continuing]. Is there any objection to allow him to 

ask questions? 
Mr. DINGELL. I have no objection but I would like to understand 

if we are going to get those documents and if we are going to have 
a second—— 

Mr. STEARNS. Your point is you have the documents but you 
want to make sure the documents are available to—— 

Mr. DINGELL. No, I want to see them. 
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Mr. STEARNS. OK. Well, as I understand from my counsel, we 
have provided all the documents to you. They were produced to 
both sides. You have them. Now, is it possible your staff has not 
made them available to you? 

Mr. DINGELL. I understand that it is the committee staff to make 
these available to all members of the committee and I understand 
this committee staff works for all of us. 

Mr. STEARNS. Well, I think that—— 
Mr. DINGELL. And if I am in error—— 
Mr. STEARNS. My staff has told me that we have—— 
Mr. DINGELL [continuing]. Tell me so. 
Mr. STEARNS [continuing]. Provided you—— 
Ms. DEGETTE. Mr. Chairman, what happened was we were told 

we could look at the documents but we couldn’t copy them and that 
under some kind of agreement the majority made with the OMB 
that the documents could not be disseminated in any way, which 
is frankly a ridiculous agreement—— 

Mr. STEARNS. Well, no, I think you made that—— 
Ms. DEGETTE [continuing]. If the majority made that, but in ad-

dition, always in the past in this subcommittee, if we questioned 
on documents, we had the full document available for everybody 
and for the witnesses so that they could review those and give their 
answers. Instead, what we have had today is these slides which 
were made taking quotes out of the documents without providing 
the documents to anybody. 

Mr. STEARNS. In conclusion, I think the fact that you and Mr. 
Dingell’s point is that these documents should have been made 
available in a tab so that they can go to the tab. 

Mr. SULLIVAN. Mr. Chairman? Mr. Chairman, if I can ask a 
question? 

Mr. STEARNS. Sure. 
Mr. SULLIVAN. I think from everything I am hearing, the emails 

that are in question are emails from Department of Energy staff. 
Doesn’t Mr. Silver already have access to all of that? 

Mr. STEARNS. He doesn’t necessarily have access—— 
Mr. SULLIVAN. Chairman, those are people that work under him 

in his agency who communicated back and forth that we had to 
subpoena, but I don’t think he has to subpoena to get his own in-
ternal documents from—— 

Mr. DINGELL. Mr. Chairman, we are not complaining about 
whether Mr. Silver has these emails or not. I am complaining that 
we do not have the emails. 

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, and also—— 
Mr. DINGELL. And I find myself affronted that I am reading 

about these things in the newspaper and am not having them pre-
sented to me. That is a most curious way—— 

Mr. STEARNS. OK. All right. 
Mr. DINGELL. —to proceed about a congressional investigation. 
Mr. STEARNS. Well, we have a little disagreement here but out 

of deference to you, I will take your criticism under advisement. 
And let us continue on. 

Mr. DINGELL. That does not comfort—— 
Mr. ZIENTS. May we have a 2-minute break? 
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Mr. DINGELL [continuing]. Me when you take it under advise-
ment. That means I might hear about it—— 

Mr. STEARNS. Well, I think—— 
Mr. DINGELL [continuing]. Sometime before the end of the ses-

sion if I am lucky. 
Mr. STEARNS. All right. 
Mr. DINGELL. I do not view that as being an adequate answer for 

my concerns. I don’t like the precedent which I see being set here 
that I am going to read about these things in the press. And I don’t 
like at all the fact that we are having all manners of inferences 
drawn by the majority while the minority has not seen the docu-
ments. And so I am not comforted by these matters being taken 
under advisement. 

Mr. STEARNS. Well, the gentleman has done this job much more 
than—— 

Mr. DINGELL. They should be addressed now—— 
Mr. STEARNS. Yes. 
Mr. DINGELL [continuing]. Not at some future—— 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. The gentleman—— 
Mr. DINGELL [continuing]. Time. 
Mr. STEARNS [continuing]. Has done this job more years than I 

have ever done it or will do. I respect his opinion. We have a little 
disagreement and the fact is we say we have given you all the doc-
uments. The fact that you don’t have it in front of you is not nec-
essarily our fault because your staff—— 

Mr. DINGELL. Maybe I have to raise the question of whose staff 
we are going to fire. Are we going to fire the majority staff or the 
minority staff? 

Mr. STEARNS. Well, I think there is a—— 
Mr. DINGELL. If the majority staff is making this kind of a deci-

sion, they are going well beyond their powers—— 
Mr. STEARNS. Well—— 
Mr. DINGELL [continuing]. And well beyond their authorities. If 

the minority staff is doing it, we are going to thrash this out inside 
the minority and find out why in the hell they are doing it this 
way. 

Mr. STEARNS. I suggest you do that and then you and I talk. 
Mr. DINGELL. Well, I suggest that we talk now because this is 

the business of the committee and I find the business of the com-
mittee being conducted in a curious way. 

Mr. STEARNS. Well, the curious way is that you don’t recognize 
that you have all the documents when my staff has provided all the 
documents to you. So we are a little puzzled why we are discussing 
why you don’t have all the documents when you do. 

Ms. DEGETTE. No, the problem is—— 
Mr. DINGELL. Where are the documents—— 
Mr. STEARNS. Let Mr. Dingell finish. 
Mr. DINGELL [continuing]. Then—— 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. 
Mr. DINGELL [continuing]. If I have had them presented to me, 

I am anxious to see them. 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. Well, I think what we are going to do is con-

tinue this discussion, but I want to let the gentleman from Kan-
sas—I recognize him for 5 minutes. 
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Mr. POMPEO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And thank you to the 
minority for allowing me to participate in the hearing today. 

You know, Mr. Waxman started this hearing an awful long time 
ago talking about the fact that the Solyndra folks came in his office 
in July, told him everything was great and then filed bankruptcy 
shortly thereafter and he couldn’t understand why. There is a sim-
ple reason. Nobody in that room had any skin in the game. This 
is exactly what we get when the Federal Government tries to put 
money into businesses and try to pick winners and losers. And in 
fact because I have heard Mr. Zients speak, your task is really to 
pick just amongst losers. Every one of these has a credit subsidy, 
right? Is that correct? The Federal Credit Reform Act, you are out 
there looking at every one of these loans and deciding how much 
of a loser this guarantee is going to be. 

Mr. ZIENTS. No, I mean the point is to put a credit allowance—— 
Mr. POMPEO. A score, a cost to the taxpayer. 
Mr. ZIENTS. That is the purpose of the program—— 
Mr. POMPEO. Right. 
Mr. ZIENTS [continuing]. Is the 1705 program—— 
Mr. POMPEO. Right. 
Mr. ZIENTS [continuing]. Does loans with credit subsidies. 
Mr. POMPEO. Right. Look, I am very familiar with FCRA. I actu-

ally, oddly enough, wrote about this when I was in law school and 
was published so I know a fair amount about the process that you 
go through there. And you talked about your score having changed. 
What were the 2 scores that were given both in 2009 and then I 
guess twice in 2011? 

Mr. ZIENTS. Well, the score in 2009, I don’t know the exact per-
cent of the score—— 

Mr. POMPEO. And you got that—— 
Mr. ZIENTS [continuing]. But it increased—— 
Mr. POMPEO. If you can get me the 2 scores, what the original 

scoring was and what the subsequent scoring was? 
Mr. ZIENTS. I am sorry? 
Mr. POMPEO. Can you provide to me and to this committee the 

original score and the subsequent score? 
Mr. ZIENTS. Yes, we can follow up on that request. 
Mr. POMPEO. OK. So you will provide that information to the 

committee? 
Mr. ZIENTS. We will work with staff to make sure that that infor-

mation is provided. 
Mr. POMPEO. Right. And then you will give us also the score in 

2011 during the restructuring? You decided this was how much ad-
ditional subsidy will need to be provided. 

Mr. ZIENTS. Well, in 2011 as part of the restructuring, the deter-
mination was that it was a workout based on the fact that the loan 
was in imminent default and that a workout or a restructuring was 
in the best interest of taxpayers. That would be reflected, the cost 
of that, in the budget. 

Mr. POMPEO. So it was a negative score. It was good for the tax-
payers that this restructuring was taking place? 

Mr. ZIENTS. No. 
Mr. POMPEO. It was going to cost them less? 
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Mr. ZIENTS. No, the restructuring in the budget—in the annual 
budget it will be reflected that the loan—the condition of the 
loan—— 

Mr. POMPEO. This is exactly what happens when folks without 
skin in the game get involved in trying to do credit analysis. Let 
me go back, Mr. Silver, I want to ask you. Mr. Markey spoke about 
Carnac, that no one could have known what was going to happen 
to the price of photovoltaic cells, PV cells, that this was just un-
imaginable that Solyndra’s sales price would fall below its cost of 
production. Do you agree with that? And he said in 2008 who could 
have known? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, I think many, many analysts and observers 
have been surprised by the speed and rate of the decline in cell 
prices, yes. 

Mr. POMPEO. Mr. Chairman, I ask unanimous consent to place 
into the record an article. It is from August 4, 2008. It appeared 
in Xconomy. It is written by a man named Mark Modzelewski, the 
technology commentator. In August of 2008 he wrote, ‘‘the cost of 
PVs, you hear a lot about companies working toward price parity 
and grid parity—and here is the potentially really bad news for in-
vestors. Some big players in the private equity and research side 
have hypothesized that the price of solar cells is about to plummet 
so quickly that manufacturers will enter a netherworld where their 
cost of production exceeds their sales price.’’ So it didn’t take 
Carnac. It just took Mark. Is that correct? 

Mr. DINGELL. What is the status of—— 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman will—does he have a point of infor-

mation? 
Mr. DINGELL. No, I don’t. 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. 
Mr. DINGELL. I have a reservation to a unanimous consent re-

quest just made. 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. The gentleman from Michigan objects and it 

will not be put in the record. 
Mr. DINGELL. I don’t object. I just want to know are the papers, 

the emails and other things that I have been discussing with the 
chair going to be put in the record and are they going to be made 
available to us? 

Mr. STEARNS. Yes, they are. 
Mr. DINGELL. I want to make sure everybody is treated alike. 
Mr. STEARNS. Absolutely. 
Mr. DINGELL. If the gentleman wants to put something in, I 

probably won’t object, but I just want to make sure that I am get-
ting what I—— 

Mr. STEARNS. With that understanding, do you still object? 
Mr. DINGELL. I don’t object. 
Mr. STEARNS. All right. 
Mr. POMPEO. Thank you. 
Mr. STEARNS. With unanimous consent, so ordered. 
[The information follows:] 
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Mr. POMPEO. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you, 
Mr. Dingell. Mr. Silver, was DOE aware of these concerns? I know 
you weren’t there at the time but you said there are files. Were 
they aware of the concerns about the pricing of these cells which 
were central to Solyndra’s ability to repay the government’s 
money? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, Solyndra’s cylindrical thin film cells were al-
ways more expensive than conventional matters, but the issue is 
total cost of ownership and you have to combine the cost of the cell 
with the installation, the balance of systems payments to under-
stand the total cost of ownership. And at that time and in that 
place, that was a very competitive opportunity. 

Mr. POMPEO. I understand. You know, you have said you have 
gone from 35 to 180 folks or so in your organization. 

Mr. SILVER. Approximately. 
Mr. POMPEO. You said that proudly. It troubles me a great deal 

that the Federal Government has an agency that has grown by al-
most 6 times. I hope you hired Mark as one of those folks that you 
brought on board going from 30 to 180. 

Mr. SILVER. Actually, we have hired an enormously large and tal-
ented pool of former private sector, public finance experts and ex-
ecutives, so I think we have built a very good team. And it was de-
signed simply to exist to put out monies—— 

Mr. POMPEO. I appreciate that. You talked about this loss of mar-
ket share, that we have lost this market share because these prices 
have fallen. Isn’t that precisely what these programs are intended 
to do, to develop products so that the cost of production will come 
down and solar can compete with all of the other great energies in 
the world? 

Mr. SILVER. That—— 
Mr. POMPEO. Shouldn’t you be thrilled that the price has come 

down? Instead, you act as if it is sad because we lost half a billion 
dollars of taxpayer money. 

Mr. SILVER. No, it is—you are completely correct. It is our collec-
tive effort to try to find innovative technology to in fact do that. We 
issued—just as an example, we issued a different solar manufac-
turing loan guarantee just recently to a company whose improve-
ment is a process improvement rather than a product improve-
ment—— 

Mr. POMPEO. Right. 
Mr. SILVER [continuing]. And allows it to cut the cost of solar 

panel manufacturing by 50 percent. 
Mr. POMPEO. Right. So the globe succeeded in reducing the price 

but the American taxpayers lost half a billion dollars by us trying 
to pick a particular business that was going to benefit from that 
price reduction. Isn’t that precisely what happened here? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, what is happening is that we are putting to-
gether a portfolio of innovation—— 

Mr. POMPEO. This was a bad outcome. I have listened. I have 
been here for the entire hearing today save for about 2 minutes, 
and I have heard not a single person stand up and take any ac-
countability for a single dollar of taxpayer money that is gone. We 
ask who made decisions, we asked who was responsible, and the 
two of you stand here and point to other people and take no ac-
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countability to the taxpayers in America and in Kansas for having 
lost half a billion of their dollars. And for me, that is unacceptable. 
I yield back my time, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman’s time has expired. The witnesses 
have indicated a request—personal request of 5-minute break, so 
we will recess our subcommittee and come back at 12:30. 

Mr. SILVER. Thank you. 
Mr. STEARNS. And we appreciate your support. I remind all mem-

bers we are going to have a second round. 
[Recess.] 
Mr. STEARNS. The Committee on Oversight and Investigation will 

reconvene and we will start our second round. And if the witnesses 
will have forbearance here, we will try and wrap up very soon. 
There are a couple on my side and just I think one at this side if 
Mr. Dingell doesn’t show up. 

I will start with my questions here and I need someone in coun-
sel here to take care of the clock so that I keep myself on schedule. 

Mr. Silver, I was just going back to when I asked you questions 
in the beginning. In response to my question about Department of 
Energy conducting due diligence back in 2006, you testified under 
oath—we are reading exactly what you said. We got the exact tran-
script. ‘‘Actually, I didn’t say that it was conducted in 2006. I said 
the application was received in 2006 and due diligence began and 
continued from late 2007 through 2008.’’ But this is at odds and 
opposite with the written testimony that you submitted to the com-
mittee where you state, ‘‘extensive due diligence on the transaction 
was conducted between 2006 and the end of 2008.’’ Did the ‘‘exten-
sive due diligence’’ that you referred to beginning at the end of 
2000, as you stated in your verbal testimony, or the 2006, as you 
submitted in your written testimony? I am giving you an oppor-
tunity to correct it. 

Mr. SILVER. Thank you. I don’t think those statements are in-
compatible. The solicitation was issued in 2006 and pre-applica-
tions were received at that time. The Loan Program Office received 
143, began reviews of those—— 

Mr. STEARNS. Do you stand by your written testimony or your 
oral testimony? 

Mr. SILVER. There is due diligence that takes place in order to 
ensure eligibility and then there is further due diligence that takes 
place in order to—— 

Mr. STEARNS. Well, you said to me that due diligence was not 
conducted in 2006 but yet in your written testimony it says it was. 
So which is which? Just yes or no. Is it your written testimony or 
your oral testimony this morning? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, it is both, Congressman. There are certain 
kinds of—— 

Mr. STEARNS. You can’t have due diligence in 2006 because in 
one you said it wasn’t and the other you said it was. 

Mr. SILVER. The due diligence done in 2006 was to ensure the 
eligibility of the project and—— 

Mr. STEARNS. So it was 2 different types of due diligence is what 
you are saying. 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, sir, exactly. 
Mr. STEARNS. And what are these 2 different types? 
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Mr. SILVER. Well, the—— 
Mr. STEARNS. Due diligence to me means due diligence. Are you 

saying due diligence has two different meanings? 
Mr. SILVER. I am. Due diligence here—I am exactly saying that. 

Due diligence here was to decide whether or not an application was 
in fact eligible, and therefore, the due diligence was around tech-
nical and financial issues only. Once it was deemed eligible, it 
was—the company was invited to submit a full application and full 
due diligence began. That would include substantially greater 
kinds of due diligence than what was done to ensure eligibility. 

Mr. STEARNS. OK. I certainly give you an opportunity to correct 
that. 

Mr. Zients, you testified that OMB did ‘‘a thorough examination 
and analysis.’’ And Mr. Silver, you also testified that DOE con-
ducted months of rigorous and comprehensive due diligence and 
documentation. I think both of you have indicated that. Is that cor-
rect? 

Mr. ZIENTS. I assume this is around the credit subsidy? 
Mr. STEARNS. Well—— 
Mr. ZIENTS. It is hard to react to that—— 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. 
Mr. ZIENTS [continuing]. Out of context. If you give me the full 

context—— 
Mr. STEARNS. Yes. Well, the full context is whether Solyndra 

itself would be a viable company and that doing this due diligence 
we are talking about, both of you had performed due diligence in 
that respect. So—— 

Mr. ZIENTS. Just to be clear, OMB’s statutory responsibilities 
around FCRA and the credit subsidy—— 

Mr. STEARNS. OK. 
Mr. ZIENTS [continuing]. And around the credit subsidy score, 

yes, it was a thorough analysis. 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. So when I am alluding to the fact we had 2 

government agencies doing what they are supposed to do under the 
law and both of you testified that you did your thorough analysis, 
examination, rigorous and comprehensive due diligence and docu-
mentation. So the question I think for me on this committee and 
I think for both Democrats and Republicans, this creates some very 
serious questions about each of your abilities to put aside the ad-
ministration’s what appears to be—and I still stand by this—a po-
litical agenda. And you should have protected the taxpayers and 
made some forceful actions here after this analysis because you 
should have seen the problems and you should have said taxpayers 
need to be protected and this has got to stop. And I think what, 
in the larger sense, we are worried about is with this project and 
others that are stimulus projects is the comprehensive analysis 
done by both your agencies sufficient so the taxpayers can feel a 
good deal of comfort that you will protect taxpayers in the future 
and we won’t see these out-of-control stimulus projects like 
Solyndra continue. So that is my basic concern, and I think any-
body that watches this hearing will have the same concern that 
you folks did your due diligence, did the comprehensive, and yet 
this thing not only went into bankruptcy but now we have the FBI 
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investigating. And that is what I would like to move to, Mr. Silver, 
with you. 

You said you are a venture capitalist. This company Solyndra 
raised $1.5 billion. As I understand it, roughly a billion dollars 
from venture capitalists plus the taxpayers at half a billion plus 
the hedge funds came in for $75 million. Is that correct? 

Mr. SILVER. Approximately, yes. 
Mr. STEARNS. OK, approximately. So let us say 1.5 billion, and 

they did a burn rate of 1.5 billion in less than 2 years, is that cor-
rect? 

Mr. SILVER. Not—a burn rate would be the amount of money 
they go through per month—— 

Mr. STEARNS. Well, let us say they went through a significant 
cash burn, is that a correct statement? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, they did. 
Mr. STEARNS. Now, with all your experience on the private sector 

and in hedge funds that you talked about, don’t you think that to 
look at that kind of cash burn rate would send some alarms to you 
and to others at the Department of Energy, something is seriously 
wrong here, and you have got to protect taxpayers? 

Mr. SILVER. I think you have to put this in context, Congress-
man. The company’s revenues actually were—grew very dramati-
cally during this period. They had $6 million of revenue in 2008. 
They had $100 million in revenue of 2009, $140 million in revenue 
in 2010, and so that is what you would expect a burn rate—— 

Mr. STEARNS. But even the emails we have shown you said that 
they are going to run out of money by September 2011. So I guess 
the problem we have is what was Solyndra burning all this money 
on? Do you know? Can you tell me today? Of this 1.5 billion, where 
was it all going? 

Mr. SILVER. In the most general terms—and I can’t give you dol-
lars and cents sitting here today—but they built this brand new 
huge fabrication facility, which was approximately a 700-and- 
change-million-dollar facility equipped with advanced-state robot-
ics. They had a smaller prototype plant if you will called Fab 1, 
and they had hired—which was also part of the set of objectives— 
they had hired hundreds of additional people. There were 3,000 
people who were involved in the construction of the—— 

Mr. STEARNS. OK. I will accept what you are saying. I am just 
saying with your experience as a venture capitalist, I am surprised 
that you didn’t see this cash burn rate as a serious flag—— 

Mr. SILVER. We did, Congressman, and we talked with the com-
pany about it regularly, but I need to underscore something I said 
before. As lenders and particularly with lender liability issues, we 
are not actually in a position to force a company—— 

Mr. STEARNS. OK. 
Mr. SILVER [continuing]. To do anything. So there were reg-

ular—— 
Mr. STEARNS. Let me just close by this question. In your mind’s 

eye, why did the FBI raid Solyndra? 
Mr. SILVER. I have no idea, sir. 
Mr. STEARNS. Was it a surprise to you? 
Mr. SILVER. Yes. 
Mr. STEARNS. Was it a surprise to you? 
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Mr. ZIENTS. Yes. 
Mr. STEARNS. And all your colleagues have no idea why the FBI 

raided it? And you had no advanced warning? 
Mr. SILVER. I can’t speak for all my colleagues but I was not 

aware of any investigation. 
Mr. STEARNS. Do you suspect there is a reason why? 
Mr. SILVER. I wouldn’t even hazard a guess, sir. 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. My time has expired. The ranking member is 

recognized for 5 minutes. 
Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I guess, Mr. Silver, I would ask you what were the main reasons 

DOE concluded Solyndra was worth the government’s investment? 
Mr. SILVER. In 2008 and 2009, as the due diligence was being 

done, the price of polysilicon, which is the fundamental component 
for building out conventional solar panels, was very high and had 
been high for an extended period. It was expected to remain high. 
In addition, the cost of installation, as I have indicated, called bal-
ance-of-systems costs for installing conventional solar paneling is 
very expensive. That is because the panels themselves are flat, 
they need to penetrate the roof, there are air uplift issues and the 
like. The cylindrical thin film technology obviates all of that, and 
while the cylinders themselves are more expensive than the panels, 
the total cost of ownership, particularly absent the price of the ex-
pensive polysilicon was very attractive. 

Ms. DEGETTE. So what happened in the market or with tech-
nology that caused those 2 things to not pan out basically? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, a number of different things. First, the price 
of poly silicon actually came down more dramatically than expected 
as plants came on quickly to ramp up production. China began 
flooding the world market with increasingly inexpensive conven-
tional solar panels because, as we have discussed earlier, the Chi-
nese Government through both the China Development Bank and 
other smaller banks has provided multiple tens of billions of dollars 
of credit and credit subsidies plus other forms of support to their 
solar manufacturing industry. In addition, other countries have be-
come actively involved in supporting those areas as well. So all of 
that drove the price curve down in a very significant fashion. 

Ms. DEGETTE. And here is my question. Why didn’t DOE predict 
those events? 

Mr. SILVER. I think we did understand that there were chal-
lenges in the marketplace. The fundamental responsibility and ob-
jective of this program is to identify innovative technologies that 
can be built out at scale and therefore leapfrog the traditional price 
curves that these technologies are on. But if the slope of the curve 
is more dramatic than anticipated, you will have this kind of event. 

Ms. DEGETTE. So you did predict it in a way but you didn’t think 
it would be this dramatic or what? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, we have—as you know, we have a large num-
ber of solar experts and solar industry experts at the Department. 
In addition, on this particular project, a number of different ana-
lysts and independent advisors were brought on board to analyze 
this as well. 

Ms. DEGETTE. Do you think there are things DOE could have 
done to prevent really this whole debacle with the Solyndra loan? 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 12:35 Jun 10, 2013 Jkt 037690 PO 00000 Frm 00106 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 C:\PROGRA~1\WS_FTP\74404.TXT WAYNE



103 

Was there more due diligence that could have been done? Was it 
rushed too fast to approval? What could have been done? 

Mr. SILVER. It clearly wasn’t rushed too fast because there were 
several years of due diligence that went on. There are always going 
to be changes and shifts in market dynamics. I remind the com-
mittee that the loan which was to build out the plant actually built 
out the plant on time and on budget and at the same time reve-
nues were dramatically increasing. There was a significant—as I— 
again, I—there was a significant customer base as well. But I guess 
the fundamental challenge is to ensure that we are doing every-
thing we can to de-risk these projects, and that is why we build 
in—the terms and conditions of these things are, you know, dozens 
and dozens and dozens of pages long to do everything we can to 
de-risk these projects. 

Ms. DEGETTE. So you don’t think there is anything else that 
could have been done here? Is that your bottom line? 

Mr. SILVER. By the time of the restructuring, the plant was built 
but had not been fitted out, and so one might conceivably, you 
know, have identified a different plant configuration. But again, I 
hesitate to second-guess because it is the private sector that 
brought this project forward. I want to remind the committee—— 

Ms. DEGETTE. Yes. I don’t have much time left. Mr. Zients, what 
is your opinion? Is there anything we could have done to predict 
this or to stop this? 

Mr. ZIENTS. Well, I think it is the nature of backing innovative 
technologies, that there are technology risks in some situations, 
market risks—we are competing in a global market so I think the 
lesson learned here is that marketplaces can change even more 
rapidly than one would have anticipated in terms of the cost curve 
that we talked about before. I don’t think anyone would have 
thought that the cost could decrease and the price could decrease 
so dramatically. Going forward, we need to make sure that we un-
derstand those types of market shifts can occur. 

Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you. 
Mr. Chairman, I just want to reiterate my request for unanimous 

consent that the documents that have been referred to in the hear-
ing today by the members be included in the record. And in addi-
tion, there is a document that I have which I think would help 
complete the record. It is the Credit Committee paper request for 
loan guarantee approval dated March 11, 2009. And I think that 
would help answer some of the follow-up questions about what hap-
pened after this January 9 meeting. My only one concern is at the 
top of this document it does say ‘‘restricted distribution, privileged 
business information,’’ and as I flip through it, it does look like 
there might be business information. So the caveat I would have 
is to look and see if there is privileged business information in here 
before we make the whole thing part of the record. 

Mr. STEARNS. OK. By unanimous consent, so ordered. 
[The information follows:] 
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Mr. STEARNS. And also we want to put our supplemental report 
by unanimous consent also. 

[The information follows:] 
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Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you. 
Mr. STEARNS. With that, we will move to Mr. Griffith. The gen-

tleman from Virginia is recognized for 5 minutes. 
Mr. GRIFFITH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Silver, we talked earlier about other companies in similar 

circumstances, and I am not sure that I asked the question on ob-
servers. I asked others that had been subordinated, whether the 
taxpayers’ money had been subordinated. Are there observers on 
any other boards as a part of this Loan Guarantee Program? 

Mr. SILVER. No, sir. Nor would there typically be. 
Mr. GRIFFITH. And in regard to the observer, I am concerned. 

You indicated to me that they told you that bankruptcy was most 
likely by the end of July. Is that not what you told me earlier? 

Mr. SILVER. That the company was, you know, facing imminent 
troubles. I don’t know that I would describe it as bankruptcy be-
cause, of course—— 

Mr. GRIFFITH. Because I asked bankruptcy before and you said 
end of July. 

Mr. SILVER. Well, they were clearly having financial troubles 
again and we are going to need to figure out what to do or would 
face a bankruptcy. 

Mr. GRIFFITH. All right. Because that raises a real concern for 
me that I think every member of this committee is concerned 
about. Apparently they—not you all—Solyndra was here on Capitol 
Hill speaking to Members of Congress indicating everything was on 
track at the same time that your observer was telling you all that 
there was a problem. Again, I am not saying that you all knew 
they were up here telling fibs, but I am concerned that they were 
up here telling fibs. That being said, what was your observer’s role, 
because clearly they were in trouble, and what recommendations 
did he make to you all and did you all send word through him to 
the board on what they should do to protect the taxpayer dollars? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, first, Congressman, in this particular case, the 
observer is a woman—— 

Mr. GRIFFITH. Thank you. 
Mr. SILVER [continuing]. But what she did—and she is also the 

head of our portfolio management group and a career civil servant 
who ran that express function at the Export Import Bank for 
many, many years. She is a highly—— 

Mr. GRIFFITH. OK. 
Mr. SILVER [continuing]. Highly achieved—— 
Mr. GRIFFITH. She is a great lady. 
Mr. SILVER. Great lady. 
Mr. GRIFFITH. I am not going to dispute that. What did she say 

we should do? Did she give you all advice on what should be done? 
Did she take messages back to the board saying we want to protect 
the taxpayer dollars? I mean they laid off all the employees. Why 
couldn’t they have laid off half—those kind of questions. Was that 
going on? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, on a regular basis. 
Mr. GRIFFITH. And can you provide us some kind of written docu-

mentation as to what was going on and what steps were being 
taken to try to protect the taxpayers’ dollars once you learned that 
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even after the restructuring, this company was going to fail or was 
likely to fail? 

Mr. SILVER. I don’t know if there are any documents specifically 
related to that, but I do know that we have now turned over, as 
I said, close to—— 

Mr. GRIFFITH. I understand. I am asking you if you can—— 
Mr. SILVER. I don’t think there are any other documents. I mean 

I think we have—— 
Mr. GRIFFITH. I am asking you to create a document. Can some-

body give us something in writing as to what was being done from 
July until the announcement that they were going bankrupt to try 
to protect the taxpayers’ dollars? 

Mr. SILVER. We can certainly work with you on that, yes. 
Mr. GRIFFITH. All right. Thank you. And all the problems that 

you cite regarding Solyndra with maybe the exception of the cost 
of the polysilicon—I apologize if I got that wrong—dealing with the 
competition from China and the economic instability in Europe and 
so forth where they buy more of these things, on the other loans 
that you have, are those pressures not also present? 

Mr. SILVER. Well, as I said, the vast majority of our portfolio—— 
Mr. GRIFFITH. Or production. I am talking about the 4 manufac-

turing. 
Mr. SILVER. They are to a certain degree. The project that I made 

reference to earlier actually is a process project rather than a prod-
uct product. So it produces a standard conventional panel, but it 
does it in a much more cost-effective way with about half the use 
of materials and about half the time. So it is a bit of a different 
configuration. 

Mr. GRIFFITH. So how much money do we have—that we have 
guaranteed a loan for that company? 

Mr. SILVER. I think—I will have to check the exact number but 
it is about $135 million. 

Mr. GRIFFITH. OK. So we gave 535 to the company that is riskier 
and 135 to one. And are they doing well? 

Mr. SILVER. So far. Again, these projects are only now just begin-
ning construction most of them. 

Mr. GRIFFITH. Will you tell us if these companies start to have 
problems so that we can anticipate this and try to figure out what 
we need to do as the folks who are ultimately responsible for the 
spending of the taxpayers’ money? 

Mr. SILVER. Happy to work with you on that, sir. 
Mr. GRIFFITH. All right. And then, you know, we act like some-

times—and I know there is no perfect world and maybe one guy 
or one gal got it right, but we act like, you know, we didn’t see this 
coming and yet, you know, there are indications that somebody on 
your team—and I know you weren’t there at the time the loan was 
made, but somebody on your team had it figured out and I am just 
wondering what steps have you taken knowing that someone on 
your team raised a concern that the models wouldn’t work. What 
steps are you taking to make sure that even it is a minority view-
point, when it comes to spending half a billion dollars of the tax-
payers’ money, that maybe you will pay attention to every warning 
sign. 
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Mr. SILVER. Well, as a matter of practice, with every transaction 
we do, we run a series of sensitivity analyses which change vari-
ables in the assumptions and therefore—— 

Mr. GRIFFITH. Is that different now than it was in August of 
2009 when somebody raised the warning flag and nobody seemed 
to pay attention? 

Mr. SILVER. I don’t know for sure but I doubt it. I doubt that it 
was different. I mean it—— 

Mr. GRIFFITH. You are using the same model? 
Mr. SILVER. It is standard practice to run sensitivity analyses. 
Mr. GRIFFITH. And now that we have had this hearing, are you 

going to go back and take a look at it and see if you can come up 
with a better-tuned or finer-tuned model? 

Mr. SILVER. We will continue to work with OMB to improve the 
models, yes. 

Mr. GRIFFITH. All right. I yield back my time. 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman yields back his time and the gen-

tleman emeritus of the Energy and Commerce Committee is recog-
nized for 5 minutes, Mr. Dingell of Michigan. 

Mr. DINGELL. Mr. Chairman, I thank you for your courtesy. 
I got a few little questions here to ask. I have been looking sort 

of at how these events occurred and perhaps, Mr. Silver, you could 
help me with this. On January 9, Solyndra transaction was re-
viewed by a DOE Credit Committee and remanded for further 
analysis, right? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DINGELL. It was not rejected. 
Mr. SILVER. I am sorry? 
Mr. DINGELL. It was not rejected. It just—— 
Mr. SILVER. It was not formally rejected. It was remanded back. 
Mr. DINGELL. OK. Then, on the 15th of January, loan program 

staff notified DOE Credit Review Board that it had developed a 
schedule to complete Solyndra due diligence that would bring the 
project to approval in early March 2009 and final closing by early 
to mid-April 2009, is that right? 

Mr. SILVER. I think that was the original projection. 
Mr. DINGELL. OK. Then, Obama came into office on January 20, 

2009, 5 days later. So then, if I look here I see on February, March 
2009, DOE continues to negotiate terms and conditions with 
Solyndra, is that right? 

Mr. SILVER. I believe so, yes, sir. 
Mr. DINGELL. OK. And then on March 12, DOE Credit Com-

mittee considers and approves Solyndra transaction. Is that right? 
Mr. SILVER. Yes, a recommendation for—— 
Mr. DINGELL. Who was on that Credit Committee? 
Mr. SILVER. I would have to get you the specific names but it is 

the same group—— 
Mr. DINGELL. Please. 
Mr. SILVER [continuing]. Of career professionals that were on the 

first committee. 
Mr. DINGELL. No political appointees? 
Mr. SILVER. No political appointees, no, sir. 
Mr. DINGELL. All right. So then, on the 20th of March, DOE 

issued a conditional commitment to Solyndra, is that right? 
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Mr. SILVER. That is correct. 
Mr. DINGELL. Now, what were the conditions in that conditional 

commitment? 
Mr. SILVER. Well, there were a number of them. Conditions 

precedent are simply things that company, the applicant, needs to 
do in order to complete its responsibilities before we can close. 

Mr. DINGELL. And what you say is if you do those things, we will 
make—— 

Mr. SILVER. Right. Among them, for example, was the raise of an 
additional several hundred million dollars of capital, which they 
did. And during the time they were doing their CP work, we were 
continuing to do additional due diligence. It is important to remem-
ber that due diligence continues post-conditional commitment all 
the way to final close. 

Mr. DINGELL. OK. Now, then, on the 27th of April, independent 
market consultant report was submitted, is that right? 

Mr. SILVER. I believe so, yes. 
Mr. DINGELL. Now, what did that report contain? 
Mr. SILVER. Well, the market—and independent market report 

generally describes the market for the product, examines the com-
petitive landscape, looks at relative cost attributes, and the kind of 
classic documentation you would describe around that. 

Mr. DINGELL. OK. Now, my colleagues on the other side of the 
aisle appear to be of the view that at some point, the Department 
of Energy denied the loan to Solyndra on January 9 of 2009. Now, 
isn’t it true that at that time the Department’s Credit Review 
Board simply asked for further information and did not reject the 
request? 

Mr. SILVER. The Credit Committee, sir, not the Credit Review 
Board. But yes, the Credit Committee. 

Mr. DINGELL. OK. And then in your comments you have indi-
cated shortly after the request for more information, the Loan Pro-
gram Office outlined a timeline to complete the due diligence on 
the Solyndra request. Is that right? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DINGELL. When did that occur? What date or approximately 

what time? 
Mr. SILVER. I don’t know the exact date but they came back rath-

er quickly and said we will be in a position to bring this back some 
time in the March time frame. 

Mr. DINGELL. OK. Now, when was that timeline developed? Be-
fore or after President Obama came into office? 

Mr. SILVER. Before the Obama administration took office. 
Mr. DINGELL. It was, OK. So what I am seeing here, then, this 

was followed up by the bankruptcy of Solyndra. When was that 
bankruptcy filed? 

Mr. SILVER. I don’t know the specific date but sometime in early 
September. 

Mr. DINGELL. All right. Now—— 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman—it is September 6 of this year is 

the bankruptcy. 
Mr. DINGELL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would note that the 

bankruptcy, though, is not complete. It is going to throw Solyndra 
into reorganization. Is that right? 
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Mr. SILVER. I believe so. 
Mr. DINGELL. So the end result of that will be that the United 

States will be a creditor, right? 
Mr. SILVER. I am sorry, will be what? 
Mr. DINGELL. The United States will be a creditor? 
Mr. SILVER. A creditor, yes. I am sorry. Um-hum. 
Mr. DINGELL. And now, the practical result of that is that, first 

of all, we have done things to get ourselves in a position where we 
see that Solyndra had a chance, at least during this, to provide 
jobs, put forward a new technology in the United States. Is that 
right? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, sir. The value—the analysis that produced the 
going concern valuation suggested that it was a 2 to 4x greater re-
covery likely to the taxpayer than a liquidation analysis. 

Mr. DINGELL. OK. And during that time, the buildings and so 
forth were completed? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes. 
Mr. DINGELL. Is that right? And I want to thank you, Mr. Chair-

man, for your courtesy here, but I just got just a couple more small 
questions. 

I would note that the government’s chance of recovery from that 
reorganization are better both in amount and certainty than if we 
had seen Solyndra go into bankruptcy earlier, is that right? 

Mr. SILVER. We expect so. We will have to see what happens ac-
tually in the bankruptcy process, but we have a completed and op-
erating plant fully fitted out, inventory and all kinds of things that 
did not exist during the first restructuring. 

Mr. DINGELL. Very good. 
Mr. Chairman, you are very kind. Thank you for your courtesy. 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman’s time has expired. Then we recog-

nize the gentleman from Texas, Dr. Burgess, for 5 minutes. 
Mr. BURGESS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Gentlemen, I appreciate your perseverance and endurance in the 

hearing today. 
This morning’s Washington Post references an email exchange 

between an assistant to Rahm Emanuel, then the White House 
Chief of Staff, August 31 of 2009, to the Office of Management and 
Budget about the upcoming announcement where we talked about 
this before. This was the groundbreaking where Secretary Chu was 
going to be at the company on September 4 and Vice President 
Biden was going to appear by satellite. And this staffer was con-
cerned about the upcoming Biden announcement on Solyndra and 
asked whether there is anything we can do to help speed along the 
OMB side? And an OMB staffer responded, ‘‘I would prefer this an-
nouncement be postponed. This is the first loan guarantee that we 
should have full review with all hands on deck and make sure we 
get it right.’’ I mean that seems pretty reasonable from OMB. 

Now, when the OMB staff briefed committee staff last spring, 
well, there was, as you know, quite a lot of difficulty in getting any 
of these documents to the committee staff from OMB. It took 4 
months to get any emails or communications in reviewing 
Solyndra’s loan guarantee. And in fact this committee in July had 
a business meeting to subpoena those documents because we were 
having no success in acquiring those. And now we have them and 
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we see that the White House scheduled announcement date before 
the OMB even began reviewing the deal in August 2009, we also 
see that OMB was aware that the groundbreaking event and it felt 
time pressures to do their work possibly resulting in the use of a 
wrong financial model. Is this why the committee had to subpoena 
the documents? Was there something here that you didn’t want us 
to see? 

Mr. ZIENTS. Can I see the email that you are referring to? 
Mr. BURGESS. Well, actually, it is a Washington Post article from 

this morning, but I am sure we have the same emails in the docu-
ment binder that can be provided. 

Ms. DEGETTE. Mr. Chairman, give him the email. 
Mr. STEARNS. Gentlemen, continue. The gentleman has the time. 
Mr. BURGESS. Well, they are looking for the emails and we will 

come back to that. Let me just ask for both of you, would you be 
able to provide to this committee, not today but get back to us and 
provide the names to the committee of every career and political 
appointee at both Department of Energy and Office of Management 
and Budget and the West Wing who worked on the project or in-
quired about the project and provide access to committee staff to 
any of those individuals that the committee believes is necessary 
to question for this investigation. 

Mr. ZIENTS. OMB has been cooperating with the committee—— 
Mr. BURGESS. Sir, we subpoenaed the documents in July. You 

can’t characterize that as cooperation. 
Mr. ZIENTS. A few days before the subpoena, which we thought 

was unnecessary, we turned over—— 
Mr. BURGESS. Unnecessary? We had this hearing—— 
Mr. ZIENTS [continuing]. 1,000 pages—— 
Mr. BURGESS [continuing]. And your chair was empty in July. 

Your chair was empty. There was no one there. No one responded. 
Mr. ZIENTS. Well, as to that, I was given less than 4 days’ notice. 

I had a personal reason why I could not be here. I expressed to 
Chairman Stearns directly on the telephone that I was willing to 
come if there could have been an alternative time. The decision 
was made there was no alternative time but I want to be clear that 
I was willing to come to the committee as long as I had either suffi-
cient notice—— 

Mr. BURGESS. In the sense of time, I mean this has been going 
on for a long time. 

Mr. ZIENTS. So in—— 
Mr. BURGESS. And here is the thing that is really concerning a 

lot of us. Had you responded to the committee staff, had you re-
sponded to the committee’s request, could we perhaps have pre-
served some of those taxpayer dollars that have now been lost in 
a bankruptcy proceeding and subordinated to a venture capital 
firm? 

Mr. ZIENTS. Prior to—— 
Mr. BURGESS. Had there been cooperation from your office, would 

this loss to the taxpayer have been as great? 
Mr. ZIENTS. Prior to the subpoena, which I believe was mid-July, 

OMB worked with committee staff, turned over 1,000 pages of doc-
uments, did numerous meetings. Since mid-July OMB has turned 
over over 9,000 pages of documents. There have been—— 
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Mr. BURGESS. Yes, sir, I have got to interrupt you because I am 
going to run out of time. That letter was in March and it took a 
long time to get anything back. 

Mr. ZIENTS. I am sorry? 
Mr. BURGESS. I have a couple of things—and you have gotten 

now the emails. I am going to ask you to take those and we will 
get you the question in writing, and I would appreciate a response 
to that question—— 

Mr. ZIENTS. I am sorry, can you repeat the question? 
Mr. BURGESS. Well, I am going to submit the question to you in 

writing regarding those emails so we are all clear about what we 
are asking and what we are answering. And then I also have a 
memo from October 25 of 2010 to the President from Carol Brown-
er, Ron Klain, and Larry Summers. And I have a series of ques-
tions that I want to ask you about this memo as well, and because 
of time constraints, obviously, I can’t get to them. We will provide 
you this memo and we will provide you the questions. And I would 
appreciate a timely response to those interrogatories. Thank you. 

Mr. ZIENTS. Thank you. 
Mr. BURGESS. And I will yield back, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman yields back. 
Mr. Scalise is recognized for 5 minutes. 
Mr. SCALISE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I want to ask Mr. Zients—is that the proper way to say it? I 

want to get that right. 
Mr. ZIENTS. Thank you. 
Mr. SCALISE. Sure. You were at OMB throughout this whole 

process with Solyndra from when they got the original loan? 
Mr. ZIENTS. No. 
Mr. SCALISE. When did you come into OMB? 
Mr. ZIENTS. When I came into OMB I was confirmed by the Sen-

ate in late June of 2009. So the conditional commitment period, the 
earlier administration period I was not at OMB. 

Mr. SCALISE. And when was the loan to Solyndra finalized? 
Mr. ZIENTS. In September so I was there—— 
Mr. SCALISE. So you were there at OMB—— 
Mr. ZIENTS. I was at OMB at the time. I was not—— 
Mr. SCALISE. At the time that Solyndra first got the loan, first 

was approved—— 
Mr. ZIENTS. When it closed, yes. 
Mr. SCALISE [continuing]. For and got the loan. 
Mr. ZIENTS. When it closed. 
Mr. SCALISE. Following up on some of the questions that Dr. Bur-

gess had—— 
Mr. ZIENTS. Just to clarify, I was not personally involved in—— 
Mr. SCALISE. Well, and these are the questions that I am going 

to ask you about because there is involvement between OMB and 
the Department of Energy and the White House, and what we have 
been trying to establish is just exactly what was that relationship 
between OMB, the Department of Energy, and the White House re-
lating to the Solyndra loan? And of course, we did start asking for 
this information months ago. Prior to the restructuring—and your 
office was not complying and getting us some of the information we 
were requesting to the point we did have to subpoena. And there 
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is a timeline issue that a lot of us have concerns with, too, because 
if we were able to stop the restructuring from happening, for exam-
ple, then the taxpayers would not have been pushed in the back 
of the line to where now they are subordinated in bankruptcy—— 

Mr. ZIENTS. Just so we have our timelines correct, I believe that 
the restructuring was completed in February. 

Mr. SCALISE. And our staff started asking for some of this docu-
mentation prior to that time. 

Mr. ZIENTS. Is that—that is not my understanding. 
Mr. SCALISE. That is the timeline I have. But regardless of that, 

I want to get to some of these specific emails because these emails 
span throughout the entire length of the Solyndra loan and restruc-
turing, and it seems to indicate a pattern. Starting going back in 
Slide 7 if we can put that up and that way you can see it—and by 
the way, these emails were all provided to the minority as soon as 
we got them. So everybody had access to these emails on this com-
mittee and subcommittee. 

Ms. DEGETTE. Does the witness have these emails that Mr. 
Scalise is referring to? 

Mr. SCALISE. I think they just gave him these emails. Some of 
these came from—— 

Mr. ZIENTS. I don’t think that—— 
Mr. SCALISE [continuing]. His own agency, of course. Some of 

these are from OMB. 
Mr. ZIENTS. Talking about specific emails, I agree with the Con-

gresswoman—— 
Mr. SCALISE. Well, and I want to ask you a question about this 

email. I think it does show though—what I want to do is show that 
there was a pattern of expediency, of rushing—— 

Ms. DEGETTE. Does the witness have this email? 
Mr. STEARNS. Point of order? What is your point of order? 
Mr. ZIENTS. I do—if I am going to respond to an email, I need 

to make sure I have it. 
Mr. STEARNS. Does Mr. Zients have that? 
Mr. SCALISE. Mr. Chairman, is the clock still running? If we can 

just get the clock to stop while—— 
Mr. STEARNS. Well, we gave you about 2 minutes before you even 

started the clock, so you are well into it. But now the witness has 
the emails, is that correct? 

Mr. ZIENTS. I am going to need to absorb this. What he has just 
handed me is not what is on the screen. I can look through and 
see—— 

Mr. SCALISE. Page 7, I will read the quote. ‘‘In congressional tes-
timony’’—and by the way this is congressional testimony. This isn’t 
some email that we just got. This was testimony going back to 
March of 2009, a senior Department of Energy official said that 
Secretary Chu ‘‘has directed us to accelerate the process signifi-
cantly’’ talking about the loan process. And I will go to some OMB 
emails. Of course, on page 9 on Slide 9—— 

Mr. ZIENTS. The email I have in front of me to the best of my 
knowledge—and again, I wasn’t actually in seat on March 17, 2009, 
but to the best of my knowledge doesn’t have any OMB people on 
it, so it is very difficult—— 
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Mr. SCALISE. Right, but there is a March of 2009 email on Slide 
9, ‘‘this deal is not ready for prime time.’’ Go to the next slide. 
‘‘Given the time pressure we are under to sign off on Solyndra, we 
don’t have time to change the model’’—that is an OMB staff email 
from August of 2009 after you came on board. Another quote from 
that same email, ‘‘but we also need to make sure they don’t jam 
us on later deals so there is a time to negotiate those, too.’’ Next 
page—— 

Mr. ZIENTS. So—— 
Mr. SCALISE [continuing]. More OMB emails. And I will ask if I 

want to get all of these into record. Again, they are available to 
both committee staffs. ‘‘If there is anything we can help speed 
along on the OMB side’’—— 

Mr. ZIENTS. If I am going to respond, then I need to—we need 
to as we go case by case, I need to understand what email you are 
referring to, I need to have that email in front of me—— 

Mr. SCALISE. Sure. There is a communication on Slide 11, for ex-
ample, August 31, 2009, the special assistant noted the Vice Presi-
dent’s announcement at Solyndra on September 4 and whether 
‘‘there is anything we can help speed along on OMB side.’’ So were 
you involved? And forget about the emails. Were you involved in 
any communications with the White House to push the Department 
of Energy to speed this thing along? 

Mr. ZIENTS. No. 
Mr. SCALISE. You were not? 
Mr. ZIENTS. No. 
Mr. SCALISE. Were you aware that anyone else at OMB was in-

volved—— 
Mr. ZIENTS. I am now aware in my preparation for the hearing 

that there was a request from the Vice President’s office about 
scheduling logistics for a potential event. This again has nothing to 
do with the decision to give the loan or not give the loan to the 
company. This process has to do with OMB’s statutory responsi-
bility to determine the right credit subsidy. The right—the credit 
subsidy was actually increased during—— 

Mr. SCALISE. Well, then I don’t know if that was credit subsidies. 
I will go to Slide 12 because this is specifically an OMB email and 
I will read it and you can look at it. 

Mr. ZIENTS. Well, OMB—— 
Mr. SCALISE. This is an OMB email that specifically talks about 

the approval. ‘‘We have ended up with a situation of having to do 
rushed approvals on a couple of occasions, and we are worried 
about Solyndra at the end of the week. We would prefer to have 
sufficient time to do our due diligence reviews and have the ap-
proval set the date for the announcement rather than the other 
way around.’’ This was a communication between OMB and Terrell 
McSweeny at the office of the Vice President. 

Mr. ZIENTS. This does have to do with the credit subsidy score. 
This does not have to do with the yes/no on the loan. This has to 
do with the credit subsidy score. As I mentioned before, the credit 
subsidy score was actually increased—— 

Mr. SCALISE. Right. And so the question, then—and I am almost 
out of time—— 

Mr. ZIENTS. Let me just say one thing. 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 12:35 Jun 10, 2013 Jkt 037690 PO 00000 Frm 00147 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 C:\PROGRA~1\WS_FTP\74404.TXT WAYNE



144 

Mr. SCALISE. There is clear—— 
Mr. ZIENTS. In my preparation for this hearing—— 
Mr. SCALISE [continuing]. Communication between OMB and the 

White House and Department of Energy regarding all this, wheth-
er it was just about a ribbon cutting, but I think it shows that 
crony capitalism is running amok relating to this program. And I 
think this is a classic example. And there was a 
PricewaterhouseCoopers study that was done back in 2010. USA 
Today writes about it in an article, in an editorial today when they 
talk about PricewaterhouseCoopers saying there is substantial 
doubt about its ability to continue going as a concern, Solyndra. 
And so this was over a year ago they reported a serious concern 
about Solyndra going forward and obviously—— 

Mr. ZIENTS. That is—— 
Mr. SCALISE [continuing]. That was pushed back from the admin-

istration somewhere to push this thing along. 
Mr. ZIENTS. I am sorry. The chronology of events is not con-

sistent. You are asking about a period of time in August/September 
of 2009. You are now referencing—— 

Mr. SCALISE. I am going throughout the whole process. I am not 
just focusing—— 

Mr. ZIENTS. You are now referencing—— 
Mr. SCALISE [continuing]. On one area because there was a loan, 

there was a restructuring. There has continued to be—— 
Mr. ZIENTS. To respond to your question about—— 
Mr. SCALISE [continuing]. Advancements of plenty and yet there 

were warning signs at every level, and yet it seems like crony cap-
italism was trumping the smart decision-making process and due 
diligence that should have been going on and a lot of these emails 
show that out to be the case. And yet $535 million of taxpayer 
money are now at risk. And so I hope you can understand and 
maybe you weren’t directly involved but somebody at your agency 
was—— 

Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. SCALISE [continuing]. In that chain. I yield back. 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman from—Mr. Griffith is recognized for 

5 minutes. Oh, Mr. Markey. Mr. Markey, do you wish to ask ques-
tions in the second round? Yes, I mean you are up if you want to 
go right now. 

Mr. MARKEY. May I reserve this time? 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. You can reserve, yes. Mr. Griffith from Vir-

ginia is recognized for 5 minutes. 
Mr. GRIFFITH. Mr. Chairman, I already had a second round. I am 

glad to take a third round. 
Mr. STEARNS. OK. Then we can go to the gentleman who is not 

on the subcommittee but he is on the full committee, the gen-
tleman from Kansas is recognized for 5 minutes. 

Mr. POMPEO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Zients, following up on Representative Scalise, were you not 

aware that the staff was being jammed, that they were being 
rushed? Were you at any time aware that they were being hurried 
and that they felt hurried or were you just oblivious to that? 

Mr. ZIENTS. What period of time are we talking about? 
Mr. POMPEO. At any. How about we will start at any—— 
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Mr. ZIENTS. No. 
Mr. POMPEO [continuing]. Period of time. 
Mr. ZIENTS. So I was not involved so I would not have been 

aware at the time. In my preparation for this hearing—— 
Mr. POMPEO. Um-hum. 
Mr. ZIENTS [continuing]. I talked to OMB staff, and again, what 

we are talking about here is the credit subsidy. 
Mr. POMPEO. I understand. 
Mr. ZIENTS. And on the credit subsidy, the OMB staff has pre-

sented to me that they had no hesitation as to the final decision, 
and the final decision of the credit subsidy actually increased the 
credit subsidy—— 

Mr. POMPEO. Right. 
Mr. ZIENTS [continuing]. Which made it more conservative. 
Mr. POMPEO. Right, they could still have been wrong because 

they were hurried. Do you think these emails, they were just 
wrong, they were making this stuff, they weren’t hurried? When 
they—— 

Mr. ZIENTS. At the end of the day, the OMB career staff, which 
has deep expertise in credit scoring, felt comfortable—— 

Mr. POMPEO. Yes. 
Mr. ZIENTS [continuing]. With the credit subsidy score. 
Mr. POMPEO. That expertise is very apparent in a half a billion 

dollars being lost by the American taxpayer. It is readily apparent 
to us. 

Mr. Zients, there is a January 4 memorandum I want to just 
read to you. It is an OMB memorandum prepared by the OMB 
staff. It says, ‘‘even under DOE’s proposed restructuring, we are 
skeptical about the long-term viability of the company. Bankruptcy 
or default are real possibilities and Solyndra’s product is priced at 
a premium in the market with rapidly declining prices and the 
company’s cost structure does not cover operating margins. It is not 
clear that Solyndra would be able to achieve the scale and effi-
ciency improvements necessary to improve margins.’’ This was dur-
ing the restructuring time. Why did OMB not stop the restruc-
turing from going forward? 

Mr. ZIENTS. OMB—— 
Mr. POMPEO. Or recommend that? 
Mr. ZIENTS. OMB pressure-tested DOE’s analysis. OMB deter-

mined that the company was in imminent default, and then OMB 
determined that DOE’s recommendation that the company be re-
structured was preferable to liquidation, that that was a reason-
able outcome that DOE had reached. 

Mr. POMPEO. Would you please provide the witness, there is a se-
ries of emails in and around that same time, January 4, 2011, one 
of them at 2:08 p.m.? Can you just make sure he has got a copy 
of that? Thank you. 

I will summarize but this is an email chain where it is very clear 
that the data are suggesting to staff at this moment in time that 
liquidation will cost the taxpayers a lower loss than will restruc-
turing. Do you see, it says liquidation—it is underlined, it has got 
some analysis for expected recovery, and then it shows ‘‘restruc-
tured, expected loss.’’ The difference under bankruptcy at the time 
they expected losses estimated by this person on your staff to be 
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$141 million, and it says if we do the restructuring, your staff says 
it will be about $385 million loss. Do you see what I am referring 
to there? 

Mr. ZIENTS. Yes. I am not on this email chain but—— 
Mr. POMPEO. No, sir, you are not, but they work for you. 
Mr. ZIENTS. I am sorry? 
Mr. POMPEO. You are not on the chain but they work for you. 
Mr. ZIENTS. Right. So, you know, our staff is obviously pressure- 

testing and understanding an evolving situation, the restructuring 
was actually done in February—— 

Mr. POMPEO. Right. 
Mr. ZIENTS [continuing]. Off of DOE’s recommendation. OMB de-

cided that that was reasonable. At this point in time, there was in-
formation that the staff was looking at. The information obviously 
evolved across that period of time. As OMB got more information, 
the DOE made its final recommendation. OMB determined that 
DOE’s recommendation was reasonable to restructure the loan. 

Mr. POMPEO. Can you show me that evolution because there is 
no evidence in the documents I have reviewed of any evolution. 
This is what your agency though on January 4 of 2011, and I have 
seen no data that would suggest there was an evolution other than 
your testimony here this morning. 

Mr. ZIENTS. Well, first of all, this is an email from one ana-
lyst—— 

Mr. POMPEO. Multiple emails. 
Mr. ZIENTS. I would not represent—— 
Mr. POMPEO. Read the whole—— 
Mr. ZIENTS [continuing]. That that is to what the agency—— 
Mr. POMPEO. Read the whole chain, sir. These folks think this is 

a horrible idea to go forward with this restructuring. They think 
the taxpayers will lose. And these are the only government officials 
in the entire process that seem to me to have demonstrated to have 
concern for taxpayer finances. 

Mr. ZIENTS. OMB’s role here is to make sure that this budgeted 
for correctly. Ultimately, DOE has—is ultimately responsible for 
the decision as to whether or not to restructure or liquidate. 

Mr. POMPEO. Yes. 
Mr. ZIENTS. OMB determined that that was a reasonable conclu-

sion. 
Mr. POMPEO. Do you think it was a reasonable conclusion today, 

sitting here today? Do you think it was a reasonable conclusion? 
Mr. ZIENTS. It is unclear—— 
Mr. POMPEO. Well, what is your opinion, sir? Do you think it was 

a reasonable conclusion? 
Mr. ZIENTS. To restructure the loan when it does? 
Mr. POMPEO. Um-hum. 
Mr. ZIENTS. I think that there is reason to believe that that was 

reasonable at that point in time. 
Mr. POMPEO. Reason to believe it was reasonable and you are not 

a lawyer? I mean an answer like that—— 
Mr. ZIENTS. It was a reasonable conclusion at that point in time. 
Mr. POMPEO. Mr. Silver, do you think it was a reasonable conclu-

sion to do the restructuring at this time? 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 12:35 Jun 10, 2013 Jkt 037690 PO 00000 Frm 00150 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 C:\PROGRA~1\WS_FTP\74404.TXT WAYNE



147 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, I do, Congressman. We did a detailed liquida-
tion analysis, which suggested that the returns would be 2 to 4x 
below what they would be as a going concern. And to do that, we 
evaluated the price of the buildings and the land. We also evalu-
ated the value of inventory on a going concern basis. What you do 
on a going concern basis, just to be clear, is you match it with what 
are called IBA—— 

Mr. POMPEO. I am very familiar with that—— 
Mr. SILVER. So you use—and since you are, you will know that 

we scour the market for comparables. We took the low end of the 
comparables, and then we measured that against the liquidation. 

Mr. POMPEO. So you were just wrong? But you still believe you 
might be right because—— 

Mr. SILVER. Well, you don’t know what will happen—— 
Mr. POMPEO. Right. So what do you think? Do you think we did 

a good deal? 
Mr. SILVER. I think that when you are called on to make a judg-

ment at the time with the best available information you have, you 
go with the probabilistic return. 

Mr. POMPEO. Right. And so you think it was realistic to subordi-
nate the taxpayer at that time as well as part of that restruc-
turing? 

Mr. SILVER. Every piece of data that we had from independent 
analysts about the technology at that time—which we re- 
underwrote the technology and the market space. We had another 
market report done—all seemed to suggest that that could happen. 

Mr. POMPEO. I appreciate it. I just want to ask one more ques-
tion. My time is up. I have listened to you for several hours now, 
just yes or no, do you both just treat this as just the normal cost 
of doing business? Is that how you think this failure at Solyndra— 
you just think this was the normal cost of doing business? You talk 
about portfolio theory, this stuff happens, bad things happen. 
Would you both just say yes or no? This is just the way things go? 
Yes or no. 

Mr. SILVER. I think that while it is very regrettable, the loss was 
anticipated and when Congress set out the credit—appropriated 
credit subsidy—— 

Mr. POMPEO. You think it is very normal. Mr. Zients? 
Mr. ZIENTS. It is not normal. It is a very disappointing outcome, 

but it comes with the terrain of backing innovative technologies. 
Mr. POMPEO. Yes, it is part of what happens when the govern-

ment gets involved in things like this. I agree. 
Mr. SILVER. Well, it is also what is required in order to compete 

successfully with what is happening around the world, particularly 
in China. 

Mr. POMPEO. Solyndra certainly wasn’t capable of competing 
even in spite of all of this government assistance, were they? 

Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. POMPEO. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. STEARNS. I think we are ready to close—— 
Mr. MARKEY. Mr. Chairman? 
Mr. STEARNS. —end the committee unless the gentleman from 

Massachusetts wishes to participate in the second round. 
Mr. MARKEY. Mr. Chairman? Mr. Chairman. 
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Mr. STEARNS. Oh, Mr. Bilbray, too. So Mr. Bilbray, you will be 
after the gentleman from Massachusetts. We have recognized Mr. 
Markey for 5 minutes. 

Mr. MARKEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I have to compliment my Republican colleagues on their dis-

cipline, but after weighing these relentless and very serious allega-
tions of lawbreaking and inappropriate politicization of the loan 
guarantee process, I am unconvinced. Three years of due diligence 
was exercised in considering this application. OMB completed their 
review process, albeit in expedited manner due to the nature of a 
Recovery Act that needed to get money out the door as quickly as 
possible. I would add that the chairman of the subcommittee and 
the full committee expressed a need to get Recovery Act money out 
the door quickly after that law was passed. 

Mr. Silver, do you believe that the Department cut corners in 
considering this loan guarantee in the months and years leading up 
to its finalization in September of 2009? 

Mr. SILVER. Again, with a review of the record—I wasn’t there, 
but with a review of the record, no, I don’t believe so. 

Mr. MARKEY. Mr. Zients, was OMB able to do and exercise their 
oversight role to complete a comprehensive review of the Depart-
ment of Energy’s loan package to Solyndra? 

Mr. ZIENTS. Yes. My belief is yes. 
Mr. MARKEY. When you pulled thousands of pages of emails, can 

you tell whatever story you would like when you look back retro-
spectively? You know, we live life forwards but we understand it 
backwards. Is it possible to—— 

Mr. SILVER. I believe that—— 
Mr. MARKEY [continuing]. Create any storyline? 
Mr. SILVER. I believe that can happen, yes, sir. 
Mr. MARKEY. The majority has chosen to politicize this program 

and it is attempting to discredit clean energy the same way they 
have tried to do to climate science. It is that simple. That simple. 

What this really reminds me of, to be honest with you, is the late 
1990s after this committee had passed the Telecommunications Act 
of 1990 and there was a boom on broadband. And many companies 
failed. Pets.com., the list is long. On the other hand, there were 
companies that, in the new environment that we had created, were 
successful. EBay, Amazon, Google, YouTube, the list goes on. There 
were many successes, many failures because we created a para-
noia-inducing Darwinian marketplace. What is different here, of 
course, and what no one anticipated in 2009—although we were in 
a competition with the Chinese—and by the way, when we passed 
the Telecommunications Act, we were trying to make sure we 
branded it Made in the USA, which we did. That is how people 
view that internet revolution in Egypt and Tunisia and countries 
around the world. But here, the Chinese have now decided to dump 
$20 billion into 4 companies. Can you talk about that, Mr. Silver? 
Can you talk about this environment now within which American 
solar companies, wind companies are now competing against a 
state-run set of corporations against our private-sector companies? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes, Congressman, I would be happy to. Not only, 
as you pointed out, has China underwritten its solar manufac-
turing industry with tens and tens of billions of dollars, they have, 
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as I indicated earlier, produced and provided a wide array of addi-
tional support facilities including free land and other kinds of 
things. There are also mechanisms in place for the purchase of 
those panels in the domestic market that don’t exist here. 

But I don’t think we should limit our focus to China alone. Coun-
tries around the world understand the importance and the viability 
of this space, and it is important that we take this as a global chal-
lenge. There will only be one opportunity for us to become a winner 
here and if we miss that window, we will have missed a multitril-
lion-dollar market. 

Mr. MARKEY. I thank you. I think if we keep China here as the 
headline and we understand what we were trying to do in putting 
together a plan, we had a plan for telecom. China and the United 
States are pretty much starting at the same point in solar and 
wind. We were trying to put together a plan, batteries as well. 

Let me also say this. You can look back and I can right now say 
there is an NRC senior scientist who has a memo to all the NRC 
commissioners saying that the AP1000, which is the reactor the 
Southern Company wants to build, will crack like a glass cup if 
there is an earthquake. Now, you can keep that memo and you can 
say that is the reason we should give no loan guarantees to the 
Southern Company or other companies. We can just say we waited 
in the totality of all the evidence. 

I am hearing my Republican colleagues expressing a great deal 
of angst about whether or not a $535 million loan guarantee should 
have been given to Solyndra when there is no evidence that they 
have expressed any concerns about far larger guarantees that have 
been given to the Southern Company, to other companies that 
could in fact wind up with billions of dollars ultimately being put 
on the shoulders of the taxpayers in our country. And I am talking 
specifically about the nuclear sector. There is a fundamental crisis 
happening in Japan and Germany and other countries. We are part 
of a global story and it is impacting the domestic nuclear industry. 
Those loan guarantees could come back to haunt the taxpayers in 
our country and I hope that we see a similar interest in that sub-
ject, because that is happening right now. And now is the time for 
this committee to exercise the due diligence to protect the taxpayer. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman’s time has expired and the gen-

tleman from California, Mr. Bilbray, is recognized. 
Mr. BILBRAY. Yes, Mr. Chairman. Let me join with my colleague 

from Massachusetts and call for a hearing on the nuclear issue be-
cause I think, you know, the gentleman from Massachusetts has to 
remember that like just last week in San Diego, the plants shut 
down exactly as planned during a blackout exactly as posed to get 
the facts from Japan. And as somebody who has a nuclear facility 
in his county, I am more confident now of the safety of our tech-
nology than I was beforehand and remind the gentleman from Mas-
sachusetts that the beautiful bay of San Diego Bay is full of nu-
clear reactors being run by 20-something-year-old kids. And it is 
safer and cleaner because we have those reactors in San Diego Bay. 
But getting back to the issue here is that the technology was not 
keeping up with the hype. And as somebody that still feels strongly 
about the opportunity of clean technology, I think the inappropriate 
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application of political influence or perception—and I don’t think 
this was an intentional misdeed. I think it is a much deeper prob-
lem that this was a prejudiced for a broad definition of technology 
as if somehow this was going to be the answer for everything. 

First of all, let me clarify the gentleman from Massachusetts 
pointed out that China has been aggressive on this, I will remind 
you that this plant was cited where the electricity was 22 cents a 
kilowatt, twice of what it is in Ohio and where China is producing 
them in an area where there is 6 cents a kilowatt is what they are 
charging. So, Mr. Silver, all of this does relate to the productivity 
and the ability to compete in a world market, doesn’t it? 

Mr. SILVER. Yes. Certainly, citing issues are relevant. 
Mr. BILBRAY. And shouldn’t these things be considered along 

with the specific technology that is being proposed to provide a cer-
tain product by asking for the grant? 

Mr. SILVER. Once again, Congressman, we don’t provide grants, 
but I think what you mean is—— 

Mr. BILBRAY. The loan guarantee. 
Mr. SILVER. The technologies that we underwrite are those that 

are spelled out in the legislation. We don’t search out those that 
aren’t. 

Mr. BILBRAY. OK. I have a question for you specifically. This part 
of the stimulus bill, San Diego we are siting a French facility to 
build solar panels specifically because we have a stationary source. 
First thing we do is not try to build a new facility. California, as 
everyone knows, has had businesses fleeing. We have huge open 
warehouses, and the logic our mayor is making and we are making 
working with him is why don’t we go ahead and retrofit existing 
structures rather than building one? The fact that this was pro-
posing to take virgin farmland and go from the ground up and 
build all the construction of a whole new building with all the re-
lated so-called stimulus of building on virgin land on the ground 
up, did that have any influence in the fact that this was included 
in the stimulus bill, not just the green part of it, of the hope that 
all solar was going to be good, but the fact that you had a whole 
new factory being build in California, probably the only one even 
being considered? Do you think that had any influence on the ap-
proval of this process that the fact that they were capitalizing a 
whole new facility rather than retrofitting an existing one? 

Mr. SILVER. I don’t know how to answer that. The applications 
that we receive come in from the sponsors themselves, so the pro-
posal, the project has already been put together by private sector 
actors, including the investors in whatever project it is. 

Mr. BILBRAY. But that is in the prospectus. 
Mr. SILVER. No, they are making—they are actually filing an ap-

plication for a specific—funding for a specific project. 
Mr. BILBRAY. But the technical review had that in consideration. 
Mr. SILVER. Well, the technical review—— 
Mr. BILBRAY. That was part of the documentation they gave the 

Technical Review Board. 
Mr. SILVER. The technical review is intended to ensure that the 

technology works, which clearly it did—they sold hundreds of mil-
lions of dollars worth of product—and to ensure that the plant will 
be built in such a way as to produce them appropriately. 
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Mr. BILBRAY. OK. So in other words, do you or do you not feel 
that the fact that they had a major capital improvement proposed 
in this package helped sell it as part of the stimulus package? 

Mr. SILVER. I don’t know the answer to that. We don’t evaluate 
projects on the basis of their impact for non-project-specific activi-
ties. We manage them against a criteria and objectives of the pro-
gram. 

Mr. BILBRAY. OK. I am going to ask you again because you had 
time to talk to your staff about it. Are you aware or has anybody 
made you aware of your agency actually intervening about the 
siting of where production sites should be placed as a condition of 
getting the loan guarantee? 

Mr. SILVER. I am not aware of that, no. 
Mr. BILBRAY. OK. I would ask you to specifically ask that ques-

tion and investigate that question. 
Mr. SILVER. I am happy to do so. 
Mr. BILBRAY. Because I have good information that that specifi-

cally has been made a condition of some grants, at least one, that 
the production line needs to built in a certain area and not in an-
other area and that is something that has been documented to me 
very strongly. And I think it is real critical. 

My biggest problem here, again, is that the perception that solar 
is good means all solar proposals are good and why don’t we move 
it? 

Mr. SILVER. Congressman, if I may, we received literally hun-
dreds and hundreds of applications, dozens and dozens of solar—— 

Mr. BILBRAY. Let me just say that this was a half-a-billion-dollar 
mistake and I would ask that we point out that there was an ac-
tion taken by your body under a justification of a legal definition 
that I think is a threat to both Democrats and Republicans that 
the word ‘‘is’’ is, and that for somebody to sit there and ignore the 
law and redefine the word ‘‘is’’ I think the American people are out-
raged that a half-a-billion-dollar issue was raised while legal jargon 
was ignoring the fact that the law is in there. And I don’t think 
Democrat or Republican wants to have to add in every law that it 
will never happen. 

I yield back to the gentleman. 
Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman’s time has expired. I think we have 

finished and we have had a very good discussion. I want to thank 
the witnesses. 

Does the ranking gentlelady have any concluding comments be-
fore I wrap up? 

Ms. DEGETTE. I want to thank the witnesses for coming today. 
I think we had a very spirited and interesting discussion about 
both the specifics of this deal and also the future of Federal Gov-
ernment’s role in solar energy. I am very much looking forward to 
the testimony of the executives of Solyndra next week and I would 
hope, Mr. Chairman, that we can have a more orderly way of pre-
senting documents. 

Mr. MARKEY. Would the gentlelady yield? 
Ms. DEGETTE. I yield, sure. 
Mr. STEARNS. Well, we are just trying to conclude this—— 
Mr. MARKEY. Through the gentlelady I would like to urge that 

we have a hearing on the risk premium which DOE and OMB are 
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charging to the nuclear industry for loan guarantees post- 
Fukushima and post the Wall Street reassessment. This is hap-
pening right now. We should get ahead of this issue and hold these 
hearings. 

Mr. STEARNS. I will take that under advisement. 
Let me conclude by just saying to both of you that I think you 

should, based upon what I hear today, go back and look at all solar 
panel projects of stimulus package. I think when you realize that 
the solar industry is truly dependent on subsidies and the govern-
ment pays about 30 percent of the cost of businesses to invest, con-
sumers get a federal tax credit of $2,000 for their renewables, 
States are throwing in a hefty portion of additional incentives, and 
they are offering a subsidy of residential solar as much as $2.50 
per installed watt, and you look at all of this and you do the anal-
ysis, even at $140 a barrel, the idea that solar panels are going to 
break even is questionable. So I think with that, particularly in 
light of what is happening in China, I think your office would be 
well to look at all the other stimulus package dealing with photo-
voltaic cells. 

And with that, the subcommittee is adjourned. 
Mr. BURGESS. Mr. Chairman? 
Mr. STEARNS. Yes? 
Mr. BURGESS. May I just ask a question before adjourning? Our 

written questions will be permitted and they will be responded to 
and included in the record? 

Mr. STEARNS. They will. They will be. And the witnesses will be 
responsible for answering these questions under the order of the 
House. 

Mr. BURGESS. And further, Mr. Chairman, I am grateful we have 
the CEO and CFO of Solyndra coming in. I think it is very impor-
tant that we have the Secretary of Energy and the chairman—— 

Mr. STEARNS. I think Secretary Chu should be invited, I think 
he should attend, and because the questions both sides have 
brought up, I think his credibility on this project should be part of 
the witness process. And so I think—— 

Mr. BURGESS. Secretary Lew as well? 
Mr. STEARNS. Secretary Lew as well, yes. 
Mr. BURGESS. All right. Thank you. 
Mr. STEARNS. Thank you. Subcommittee is adjourned. 
[Whereupon, at 1:38 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.] 
[Material submitted for inclusion in the record follows:] 
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